
Please ask for  Julie Britton e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only 

 
 
 

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - Thursday, 28th July, 2022 at 10.00 am 

Venue - The Breckland Conference Centre, 
Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole 
Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE 

 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 
ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 

Members 
  
Cllr Bill Borrett (Chairman) 
Cllr Robert Kybird (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
 

Cllr Kay Grey 
Cllr Robert Hambidge 
Cllr Linda Monument 
 

 
 

Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Tuesday, 19 July 2022  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


Governance and Audit Committee 
28 July 2022 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  4 - 12 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2022. 
 

 

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM)   

3. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting. 
 

 

7. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM)   

 To note if there are any training issues/ requests. 
 

 

8. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN - YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022  13 - 59 

 Report by Mark Hodgson, External Audit Ernst & Young LLP. 
 

 

9. THE PLANNING REGISTER AND PLANNING WEBSITE AND THE 
GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION (GDPR)  

60 - 64 

 Report of Cllr Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Strategic & Operational 
Planning and Cllr Paul Hewett, Executive Member for Property, Projects & 
Procurement. 
 

 

10. ANNUAL REPORT ON WRITE OFF'S OVER £10,000  65 - 66 

 Report of Alison Chubbock, Section 151 Officer. 
 

 

11. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 2022-23  67 - 128 

 Report of Cllr Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenues and 
Benefits. 
 

 



Governance and Audit Committee 
28 July 2022 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

12. UN-AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021-22  129 - 
239 

 Report of Alison Chubbock, Section 151 Officer. 
 

 

13. WORK PROGRAMME  240 - 
241 

 A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required. 
 

 

14. NEXT MEETING   

 To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday, 29 
September 2022 at 10am in the Anglia Room. 
 
Following a request from the Head of Internal Audit, Members are asked to 
consider changing the date of the February 2023 meeting to a date in early 
March 2023 (if possible). 
 

 

 



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Thursday, 23 June 2022 at 10.00 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

 
PRESENT  
Cllr Bill Borrett (Chairman) 
Cllr Robert Kybird (Vice-
Chairman) 
 

Cllr Kay Grey 
Cllr Terry Jermy (Substitute Member) 
 

 
Also Present  
Mr D. Fowler 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Jane James 
 

Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Philip Morton 
 

 
In Attendance  
Alison Chubbock - Section 151 Officer & Assistant Director 

Finance 
Matthew Fernandez-Graham - Accountancy Manager 
Faye Haywood - Head of Internal Audit 
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 Action By 
17/22 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2022 were agreed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

 

18/22 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2)  

 

  
 None. 

 
 

19/22 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3)   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Clarke, Hambidge 

and Monument. 
 
Councillor Jermy was in attendance as substitute for Councillor Clarke. 
 

 

20/22 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 None. 

 
 

21/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5)   
  
 None declared. 

 
 

4

Agenda Item 1



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

22/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6)  

 

  
 Councillors Cowen, James, Suggitt, Birt and Morton were in attendance. 

 
 

23/22 Q1 RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 Councillor James, the Executive Member for Customer & Corporate 

Services whose Portfolio included performance and risk management 
introduced the report. 
 
She was pleased to announce that the number of strategic risks had been 
reduced from 13 to 11 (see section 1.8 of the report).  She then referred 
to the cyber security risk on page 26 of the agenda pack and reminded 
Members of the importance of completing the cyber security training if 
they had not already done so. 
 
Ryan Pack, the Innovation & Change Business Partner then provided 
Members with a detailed overview of the report.  
 
David Fowler, the Independent Lay Advisor for the Governance & Audit 
Committee then asked a number of questions. 
 
Under paragraph 1.2, he asked the meaning of GOLD.  Members were 
informed that this was a response team that had been set up during the 
Covid pandemic but had continued.  
 
The date of June 2022 would be added to the table under section 1.8 of 
the report. 
 
On page 20 of the agenda pack, under the increased demand for housing 
services risk, Mr Fowler felt that the cost of living increase should be 
included as a potential trigger and questioned the target date. 
 
The Innovation & Change Business Partner explained that this risk was 
about volumes and in terms of target dates there was an action plan to 
reach this target but agreed that the risk should be re-shaped. 
 
Mr Fowler then referred to Nutrient Neutrality on page 21 of the agenda 
pack which he felt would have an impact on the Local Plan.  He also 
commented on the leisure re-opening on page 23 of the agenda pack 
which again he felt would be affected by the increase in the cost of living.  
Referring to the Local Plan risk on page 25 of the agenda pack he had 
noticed that the dates did not accord with the Local Development Scheme 
and should be checked accordingly.   
 
He had also noticed a typo on page 30 of the agenda pack, the word 
recovery should be replaced with regeneration, and on page 31, he asked 
if the target date had been met for the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) in respect of 3rd party comments not being displayed 
on the Breckland website in relation to planning applications. 
 
In terms of the Local Plan queries, the Innovation & Business Partner said 
that he would look into this further and in terms of leisure, he was pleased 
to report that the level of attendance had not dropped pre-covid levels. As 
far as GDPR was concerned, Members were informed that a report was 

 

5



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

due to be presented to the next committee meeting. 
 
The Chairman pointed out that there was nothing about GDPR on the 
Work Programme and asked for this to be confirmed.    
 
The Vice-Chairman, Councillor Kybird felt that inflation and interest rates 
should be monitored as a major risk.  Members were informed that such 
risks would be captured under the Medium-Term Financial Plan.  The 
Assistant Director of Finance, Alison Chubbock confirmed that as this 
would be key risk, it would be reported through Cabinet under the said 
Financial Plan. 
Referring to the housing risk, Councillor Jermy stated that he was aware 
of an issue in his Ward where over the last few weeks a housing 
association had sold a property on the open market, local members used 
to be consulted on such matters and as this had not happened, he 
assumed that this safeguard had been removed. This he felt would have 
an impact on the Council as there would be no control on where these 
proceeds went.   
 
The Innovation & Business Partner did not have the answer to this 
concern but would check with housing and respond to Councillor Jermy 
accordingly. 
 
Referring to leisure and in the case of Thetford Leisure Centre, Councillor 
Jermy was aware that over the last 3 months the ticket barrier at the front 
of the leisure centre had not been working and therefore the number of 
people using this facility had not been monitored which was a concern.  
Additionally, the services that Thetford provided differed from those 
provided at the Dereham Leisure Centre and asked how the figures were 
calculated as they were clearly not the same. 
 
In response, the Innovation & Business Partner had not been aware of 
the ticket barrier not working and would follow that up and in terms of the 
services offered he would pass those comments on and investigate 
accordingly. 
 
Councillor Jermy then mentioned sickness levels that Serco had been 
experiencing in respect of refuse collections and asked if the Council 
monitored covid related illnesses or ‘normal’ sickness levels and if there 
was a breakdown of illnesses available. 
 
Members were informed that there was a breakdown for such illnesses in 
respect of Council staff, but he did not know if Serco did the same and 
would follow this up. 
 
Councillor Birt agreed with the Vice-Chairman’s comments about inflation 
measures which he felt should be addressed as a separate risk.  He also 
mentioned the previous discussions in respect of grid numbers and drew 
attention to page 36 of the agenda pack in the key definitions grid which 
he felt was incorrect as all were the wrong way round and just added to 
the confusion.  
 
He then referred back to page 17 of the agenda pack under section 1.11 
of the report and asked if it was too early to remove the covid risk as it 
was likely that we were about to enter another wave of Covid and as 
hospital admissions were rising, he asked for some reassurance that this 

6



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

risk had not been removed too soon. 
 
Referring to Councillor Birt’s first question (page 36 of the agenda pack), 
the Innovation & Business Partner explained that this was an error and 
would be changed.  As far as the Covid sickness levels were concerned, 
this would continue to be monitored in respect of staff and if it became an 
issue the risk would be re-instated. 
 
Councillor Birt still felt that this should be the same for the Council’s 
external providers such as Serco.  
 
Councillor Birt then drew attention to page 24 of the agenda pack and 
was slightly worried that the Council seemed to be stuck on a ‘copy and 
paste’ mode in respect of the sustainability strategy at a continued score 
of 3 x 3 on the risk register.  He also mentioned the ‘pump prime action’ 
that continued to be added to the list and felt that the Council must now 
be getting to the point where it should be drawing more funding in or 
objectively trying to increase its carbon reduction, rather than continually 
coming back with the same information on the risk register.  He also 
questioned technology, the first vulnerability factor under this risk and was 
not convinced that this was correct.  He believed that the technology did 
exist to achieve net zero but was very expensive and therefore felt that it 
was not so much the technology it was the cost.  
 
The Innovation & Business Partner said that he would be happy to look at 
this again and seek for a more substantial update on this matter but 
ultimately the target for the sustainability strategy to achieve net zero was 
not until 2035 which explained the lack of movement on this risk.  
 
The final question from Councillor Birt related to page 26 of the agenda 
pack under critical breach of ICT security and felt that the rationale of the 
current score of 4 x 3 highlighted a weakness in the Council’s risk 
assessment scheme and asked how the Council differentiated its risks 
against different scenarios. 
 
Members were informed that the score had been broadly based on the 
Council’s insurance but agreed that the impact could vary based on the 
type of cyber-attack, but this would be looked at again to establish 
whether a better scoring mechanism could be put in place, although this 
would probably be captured under the GDPR risk.  
 
The Chairman felt that the word ‘critical’ should be used to distinguish the 
various breaches. He also mentioned the fact that he was happy that 
Covid had now been changed to an operational risk but if it escalated it 
would come back to this Committee as a strategic risk. 
 
The report was otherwise noted. 
   

24/22 INTERNAL AUDIT YEAR END PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22 
(AGENDA ITEM 8)  

 

  
 Faye Haywood, the Head of Internal Audit presented the report. 

 
This was the first of two reports from Internal Audit and the intention of the 
Internal Audit Year End progress report was to provide all the executive 
summaries of the work that the internal auditors had been able to finalise 

 

7



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

for the last period of the year. 
 
Attention was drawn to section 2.1 on page 40 of the agenda pack where 
it had been highlighted that the Office 365 email and calendar 
management audit schedule had been deferred and the results of this 
audit would be reported to this Committee from September onwards. 
 
The final position in relation to the completion of the 2021/22 Internal 
Audit Plan could be seen at Appendix 1 of the report.  Six reports that had 
been included in this paper highlighted at section 4.4 of the report where 
the majority of them had received a positive assurance grading, only one 
audit, the Private Sector Housing Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) had 
been given a limited assurance grading.  
 
Within this period, two position statements had been issued to 
management for consideration, the Digital Strategy and the Legal 
Services and were advisory in nature with practical actions suggested. 
 
Section 4.10 covered the ARP audits and Appendix 1 on page 44 of the 
agenda pack provided Members with the entire agreed audit work from 
2021/22 including the results and the recommendations against each one. 
 
The Executive Summary could be found on page 46 of the agenda pack 
(Appendix 2) which provided a high-level summary of all areas that had 
been concluded except for Private Sector Housing.  Some progress had 
been made to improve this service, including a new team structure, 
allocation of resources and new management but there were still some 
improvements to be made hence why 9 important recommendations had 
been given but these were due to be completed by September this year.   
 
A follow up report would be provided in due course to highlight any 
outstanding recommendations. 
 
The report was otherwise noted. 
 

25/22 ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 2021/22 (AGENDA ITEM 9)   
  
 The Head of Internal Audit presented Members with the Annual Report 

and Opinion for 2021/22, that drew upon the outcomes of Internal Audit 
work performed over the course of the year.  The report also provided a 
conclusion on the effectiveness of Internal Audit as well as a follow up 
section of management action. 
 
As it was quite a lengthy report just the main points were highlighted as 
follows: 
 
Section 2.2 of the report on page 72 of the agenda pack outlined the 
opinion itself and the reasons why a ‘reasonable’ opinion had been given. 
It also highlighted the substantial assurances that had been given but had 
also recommended that the findings from the Disabled Facilities Grant be 
highlighted within the Council’s Annual Governance Statement until 
completed.  
 
Section 3.3 of the report on page 73 of the agenda pack provided 
Members with a summary of the internal audit work and at section 3.4 on 
page 74 of the agenda pack, the Head of Internal Audit pointed out that 

 

8



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

due to the hard work of the Executive and Operational Management and 
also with the help of this Committee, 3 low priority recommendations were 
being reported across the consortium in Norfolk.   
 
The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit highlighted the 
internal assessment process and the KPIs for the contract.  
 
The appendices to the report were also explained. 
 
Mr Fowler asked how Members would be able to understand the progress 
being made against the recommendations and referred to Appendix 1 on 
page 79 of the Agenda pack and highlighted the Environmental Services, 
Waste Management area as an example.  There were 5 
recommendations of which 3 were important and 2 needed attention in a 
3-month timeframe but as it stated they were not yet due he asked when 
they would be due.  
 
Members were informed that the 3 month and 6-month timeframes were 
there as a guide and could take longer so the auditors needed to factor in 
when management could practically get on top of these issues.  In terms 
of the assurances a deadline had been given in the final report but if not 
met it would come back to the Committee on the follow up report.  
 
The meaning of ‘not yet due’ was explained. 
 
Referring to page 85 of the agenda pack, Mr Fowler queried the response 
under the Housing Needs area as it sounded a little vague – ‘the Housing 
Manager would put something in place to review this’.  He felt that the 
wording should be more specific and similarly on the Cyber Security.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit said that she would feed those comments back 
to the Managers concerned but reminded Members that these were lower 
priority recommendations.    
 
Councillor Jermy mentioned the Disabled Facilities Grants as it had not 
been long ago when there had been significant delays in people receiving 
such support primarily due to shortages of Occupational Therapists.  His 
experience of late was that it was a much quicker process, a real 
improvement, and the idea of a client satisfaction survey was an excellent 
idea but felt it should be split between the assessment process and the 
actual physical work being undertaken as a check and balance against 
the contractors that the Council used. The Council did not get a chance to 
view the work undertaken and was not aware of the health & safety 
issues and the workmanship and although he himself had not received 
any complaints from anyone he felt that the satisfaction survey would be a 
useful tool for monitoring the contractors used. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit agreed and felt it was a very good suggestion 
and would take Councillor Jermy’s comments back to the responsible 
officers. 
 
The Vice-Chairman asked what was meant by Legal Services Position 
Statement on page 82 of the agenda pack. 
 
Members were informed that in the earlier Progress report it mentioned 
the advisory pieces of work and this was called the Position Statement 

9



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

and rather than including the assurance level in the table, assurances had 
been provided but in an advisory nature. 
 
It was RESOLVED that: 
 

1. the contents of the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head of 
Internal Audit be approved; 

2. a reasonable audit opinion that had been given in relation to 
governance, risk management and control for the year ended 31 
March 2022 be noted. 

3. the opinions expressed together with significant matters arising 
from internal audit work and contained within this report should be 
given due consideration, when developing and reviewing the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement for 2021/22 be noted; 
and 

4. the conclusions of the Review of the Effectiveness of Internal 
Audit be noted. 

 
It was agreed that a further recommendation should be added, as follows: 
 

5. the Committee noted the substantial progress in dealing with the 
backlog of audit recommendations. 
 

26/22 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE 
AND ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22 (AGENDA ITEM 
10)  

 

  
 Councillor Cowen, the Executive Member for Finance, Revenue & 

Benefits introduced the report and also introduced the author of the 
report, Matthew Fernandez-Graham.  Matthew had recently been 
appointed as the Accountancy Manager and this was his first time at this 
Committee, but his knowledge base and his skills set were particularly 
well suited to the work being done at this Council.  
 
The two recommendations to Full Council for Members to consider were 
highlighted. 
 
The Accountancy Manager thanked Councillor Cowen for his kind 
comments.   
 
Three main points were highlighted.  Firstly, the cash balances at the end 
of March 2022 stood at £40m, this was quite exceptional due to the 
energy rebate totalling £8m that the Council received which had now 
been passed onto residents and was a one-off impact to the Council with 
the cash balances now standing at £32m.  
 
Secondly, the Capital Funding Requirement (CFR) had now turned 
positive that meant that the Council would have an underlying need to 
borrow for any capital works.  However, notwithstanding that, there had 
not been a need for the Council to borrow in the last financial year, but as 
this was a significant change to the Council’s financial circumstances it 
needed to be brought to Members attention. 
 
Finally, the Council had received a return of 2.9% on its cash investments 
in the last financial year and this was expected to increase in the new 
financial year as interest rates were now rising on a monthly basis.   

 

10



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

 
Referring to page 106 of the agenda pack, Mr Fowler asked for an 
explanation in respect of the final bullet point at section 6.4 of the report. 
 
Members were informed that this referred to Breckland Bridge where the 
Council was providing loans to the joint venture company at market rates.  
 
The Vice-Chairman drew attention to page 92 of the agenda pack, under 
the heading, the Link Group Updated Interest Rate Forecast and asked 
how often the Council received these updates and how long did it take to 
redo the calculations.  
 
The Accountancy Manager stated that Link Group were very prompt, any 
updates were provided immediately after the Bank of England 
announcements. 
 
Councillor Jermy queried section 2.3 of the report on page 88 of the 
agenda pack as it had been previously mentioned that the Council Tax 
rebate of £150 per household was £8m and wondered what the difference 
would be in the current investments at the end of March, and he 
presumed that although a significant amount of that £8m had now been 
spent he asked what the deadline was for spending the remainder of that 
money, and what would happen if it was not spent.  
 
In terms of the reasons why the other investments were so high, the 
Accountancy Manager explained that the Capital Programme had been 
slightly below budget and remained in the Council’s investment balances. 
There were also a few other grants that had not been banked until the 
end of March 2022 which would have been added to the balances.  The 
deadline for spending the remainder of the rebate money was October 
2022 and the Council was well on track for this deadline to be achieved.  
 
Councillor Cowen pointed out that the vast majority of that money had 
been spent and payments had already been made to those people who 
fell into that rebate scheme and paid by direct debit; those who did not 
have a direct debit set up would follow but as the Government required 
Councils to have spent this grant by September 2022, if details had not 
been provided such payments would be dealt with via a credit to their 
Council Tax accounts.   
 
Councillor Birt felt that it was understandable that the Council did not 
spend its full capital expenditure during Covid and was now carrying it 
forward but with inflation to hit 11%, the real value of that money being 
carrying forward would be less and asked what the impact would be on 
capital projects, particularly if the Council was now in a position of having 
to borrow money. 
 
The Accountancy Manager explained that in terms of borrowing, Councils 
were not allowed to borrow until required.  In terms of inflation, this would 
be reported to Cabinet in the regular reports that it received. 
 
Referring to page 92 of the agenda pack, and in terms of interest rates, 
Councillor Birt had noticed that there seemed to be a mismatch between 
the Link Group updates in comparison to the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB).  He appreciated the summary provided on page 94 of the 
agenda pack and asked how confident the Council was with the forecast 

11



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

being presented. 
 
Members were informed that the PWLB rates were set by Government.  
Link always provided the Council with an alternative view to interest rates, 
and this would be provided in future reports. 
 
The Chairman stated that these predictions could only be classed as 
opinions, they were not facts, and it was reasonable for their paid 
opinions to be considered given their expertise in the market and only 
time would tell how accurate they were. 
 
Councillor Birt said that he would look forward to receiving the 
aforementioned information. 
 
The recommendations were proposed and seconded, and it was: 
 
RECOMMENDED to Full Council that: 
 

1. the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators within the report be 
approved; and 
 

2. the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2021/22 at Appendix 
B and Appendix C of the report be noted. 

  
27/22 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 11)   
  
 The Vice-Chairman mentioned Councillor Hambidge, a new Member of 

the Council and this Committee and felt that specific trainings sessions 
should be arranged, and a refresher course could be useful for all G&A 
Members. 
 
The Chairman agreed and was keen that such training should be offered 
to all Members not just Member of this Committee and such training 
should be commissioned and asked the Assistant Director of Finance & 
S151 Officer to recommend some relevant training accordingly. 
 

 

28/22 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 12)   
  
 The Chairman had noted reference made to a possible GDPR report for 

the next meeting and asked for this to be followed up.  
 
The Vice-Chairman asked for dates to be provided for the last two items 
on the Work Programme – the Planning Register & General Data 
Protection Regulations and the Standards Review, Code of Conduct.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

29/22 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 13)   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 28 July 2022 at 

10am in the Anglia Room were noted. 
 
A request to change the February 2023 meeting to March 2023 was 
agreed.  A new date would be issued in due course. 

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.00 am 

CHAIRMAN 

12



Breckland Council

Initial Audit Plan

Year ended 31 March 2022 

12 July 2022

13

A
genda Item

 8



2

12 July 2022

Dear Governance and Audit Committee Members

We are pleased to attach our Initial Audit Plan which sets out how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as auditor. Its purpose is 
to provide the Governance and Audit Committee with a basis to review our proposed audit approach and scope for the 2021/22 
audit in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2020 Code of 
Audit Practice, the Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and 
other professional requirements. It is also to ensure that our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service expectations.

This plan summarises our initial assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective audit for Breckland Council, and 
outlines our planned audit strategy in response to those risks. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governance and Audit Committee and management, and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you on 28 July 2022 as well as understand whether there are other matters 
which you consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully 

Mark Hodgson

Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Enc

Governance and Audit Committee
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
NR19 1EE

14



3

Contents

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-
quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It
summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated July 2021)” issued by the PSAA (https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/terms-of-appointment/terms-of-appointment-and-further-
guidance-1-july-2021/) sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and 
covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Governance and Audit Committee and management of Breckland Council for this report or for the opinions we have 
formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

Overview of our 
2021/22 audit strategy01 Audit risks02 Audit 

materiality
04 Scope of our 

audit
05

Appendices09Audit team06 Audit 
timeline07 Independence08

Value for 
Money risks

03

V
F
M

15

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/)
https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/terms-of-appointment/terms-of-appointment-and-further-guidance-1-july-2021/


4

Overview of our 2021/22
audit strategy

01 01

16



5

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

Audit risks and areas of focus

Risk / area of focus
Risk 

identified 
Change from 

PY
Details

Misstatements due to fraud 
or error

Fraud risk No change in 
risk or focus

As identified in ISA 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud 
because of its ability to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and 
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that would otherwise 
appear to be operating effectively (Management Override). 

Inappropriate capitalisation 
of revenue expenditure 
including Revenue 
Expenditure Funded from 
Capital Under Statute 
(REFCUS)

Fraud risk
No change in 
risk or focus

Linking to our fraud risk identified above, we have determined that a way in which 
management could override controls is through the inappropriate capitalisation of 
revenue expenditure to understate revenue expenditure reported in the financial 
statements, given the extent of the Council’s capital programme and Revenue 
Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute.

Valuation of Land and 
Buildings and Investment 
Property

Inherent Risk
No change in 
risk or focus

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and Investment Property 
represents a significant balance in the Council’s accounts and is subject to valuation 
changes, impairment reviews and depreciation charges. Management is required to 
make material judgemental inputs and apply estimation techniques to calculate the 
year-end Land & Buildings balances recorded in the Balance Sheet. 

As a result of our work last year we did not identify any material issues with the work of 
the external valuer. We are also not aware of any other trigger events that would give 
rise to a significant risk, and therefore this remains an inherent risk.

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the 
Governance and Audit Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in 
the current year 

17



6

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

Risk / area of focus
Risk 

identified 
Change from 

PY
Details

Pension Valuation and 
Other Disclosures

Inherent Risk
No change in 
risk or focus

The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and IAS19 require the Council to 
make extensive disclosures within its financial statements regarding the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) in which it is an admitted body.
The Authority’s current pension fund deficit is a material and sensitive item and the 
Code requires that this liability be disclosed on the Authority’s Balance Sheet. 
The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued to the Authority by the 
Pension Fund Actuary. Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and 
judgement and due to the nature, volume and size of the transactions we consider this 
to be a higher inherent risk.

National Non-Domestic 
Rates (NNDR) Appeals 
Provision 

Inherent Risk
No change in 
risk or focus

Due to the impact of COVID-19, there is a possibility that businesses are likely to seek 
reductions based on a decrease in rental prices on which rateable values are based. The 
Council’s NNDR Appeals Provision is a material estimate, totalling £2.27 million for the 
Collection Fund as a whole. In light of this, we consider there to be a higher inherent 
risk of misstatement of the Council’s NNDR appeals provision.

Recoverability of 
Receivables (Debtors)

Inherent Risk
No change in 
risk or focus

As a result of the long term impact of COVID-19 and other market uncertainties there 
may be increased uncertainty around the recoverability of Receivables. The provision 
for these bad debts is an estimate, and calculation requires management judgement. 
We would expect the Council to revisit their provision for bad debt calculation in light of 
ongoing uncertainty and assess the appropriateness of this estimation technique.

Change in Management 
Structure

Area of 
Audit Focus

New Area of 
Focus

As of 1 May 2021, the Council fully separated its Management team from the shared 
arrangements with South Holland District Council. This has resulted in changes to the  
Directorates and a hence the need for a restatement of the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis.  We have included an area of focus for this, as we will need to review the 
restatement to ensure the appropriate disclosure of prior year figures under the 
revised format.

This separation also creates additional complexity in Related Party reporting to ensure 
the appropriate disclosure of balances between the two Councils under the new 
arrangement (area of focus).

18



7

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

Risk / area of focus
Risk 

identified 
Change from 

PY
Details

Infrastructure Assets
Area of 

Audit Focus
New Area of 
Audit Focus

An issue has been raised via the NAO’s Local Government Technical Group that some 
local authorities are not writing out the gross cost and accumulated depreciation on 
highways infrastructure assets when a major part/component has been replaced or 
decommissioned. This matter is currently under consideration by CIPFA and the Council 
hold Infrastructure Assets, with a Gross and Net book value of £1.377 million at 31 
March 2022. 

We have raised an area of audit focus in this area to ensure the correct accounting 
treatment is applied that takes into account any updated guidance from CIPFA and that 
the Council has appropriate evidence to support that treatment.

Group Accounts
Area of 

Audit Focus
New Area of 
Audit Focus

The Council consolidates Breckland Bridge Ltd under the equity method which applies a 
non-standard calculation to determine amounts carried from the joint venture within 
the group accounts. There is also an additional entity in the consolidation to be 
considered. We will need to review the equity pick up calculation to assess 
appropriateness of amounts included in the group accounts.

19



8

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy

Materiality

Audit
differences

£72,800

Materiality has been set at £1.456 million, for the audit of the Council, which represents 2% of the draft current year’s gross 
expenditure on provision of services. Note: for the Group audit, this materiality has been calculated on the Group’s draft current 
year gross expenditure as £1.466 million (rounded). 

Performance materiality has been set at £1.092 million, which represents 75% of materiality. Note: for the 
Group entities (Breckland Bridge) we have allocated a performance materiality of £0.219 million.

We will report all uncorrected misstatements relating to the primary statements including the 
group (Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, Movement in 
Reserves Statement, Cash Flow Statement and Collection Fund) greater than £0.072 million.  
Other misstatements identified will be communicated to the extent that they merit the 
attention of the Governance and Audit Committee.

Planning
materiality

£1.456m
Performance 

materiality

£1.092m

We also identify areas where misstatement at a lower level than our overall materiality level might influence the reader and develop an audit strategy 
specific to these areas, including:

• Remuneration disclosures including Member allowances: we will agree all disclosures back to source data, and Member allowances to the agreed 
and approved amounts; and

• Related party transactions we will test the completeness of related party disclosures and the accuracy of all disclosures by checking back to 
supporting evidence.

20



9

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy 

Audit scope

This Initial Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:

• Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Breckland Council and Group give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2022 and of 
the income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

• Our commentary on your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of resources for the relevant period. We include further details on VFM in Section 
03. 

We will also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO), to the extent and in the form required by them, on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 
return.

Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards. When planning the audit 
we take into account several key inputs:

• Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;

• Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;

• The quality of systems and processes;

• Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and,

• Management’s views on all of the above.

By considering these inputs, our audit is focused on the areas that matter and our feedback is more likely to be relevant to the Council. 

Taking the above into account, and as articulated in this audit plan, our professional responsibilities require us to independently assess the risks associated with 
providing an audit opinion and undertake appropriate procedures in response to that. Our Terms of Appointment with PSAA allow them to vary the fee dependent on 
“the auditors assessment of risk and the work needed to meet their professional responsibilities”. PSAA are aware that the setting of scale fees has not kept pace with 
the changing requirements of external audit with increased focus on, for example, the valuations of land and buildings, the auditing of groups, the valuation of pension 
obligations, the introduction of new accounting standards such as IFRS 9 and 15 in recent years as well as the expansion of factors impacting the ISA 540 (revised) and 
the value for money conclusion. Therefore to the extent any of these or any other risks are relevant in the context of Breckland Council’s audit, we will discuss these with 
management as to the impact on the scale fee.

Effects of climate-related matters on financial statements and Value for Money arrangements

Public interest in climate change is increasing. We are mindful that climate-related risks may have a long timeframe and therefore while risks exist, the impact on the 
current period financial statements may not be immediately material to an entity. It is nevertheless important to understand the relevant risks to make this evaluation. In 
addition, understanding climate-related risks may be relevant in the context of qualitative disclosures in the notes to the financial statements and value for money 
arrangements. We make inquiries regarding climate-related risks on every audit as part of understanding the entity and its environment. As we re-evaluate our risk 
assessments throughout the audit, we continually consider the information that we have obtained to help us assess the level of inherent risk. 

21



10

Overview of our 2021/22 audit strategy 

Value for money conclusion

We include details in Section 03 but in summary:

• We are required to consider whether the Council has made ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of 
resources.

• Planning on value for money and the associated risk assessment is focused on gathering sufficient evidence to enable us to document our 
evaluation of the Council’s arrangements, to enable us to draft a commentary under three reporting criteria (see below). This includes identifying 
and reporting on any significant weaknesses in those arrangements and making appropriate recommendations. 

• We will provide a commentary on the Council’s arrangements against three reporting criteria:

• Financial sustainability – How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services;

• Governance – How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – How the Council uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way 
it manages and delivers its services.

• The commentary on VFM arrangements will be included in the Auditor’s Annual Report.

Timeline

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government established regulations to extend the target date for publishing audited local authority 
accounts from 31 July to 30 September, for a period of two years (i.e. covering the audit of the 2020/21 and 2021/22 accounting years). In December 
2021, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) announced proposals to extend the deadline for the publication of audited 
accounts to 30 November 2022 for 2021/22.

In Section 07 we include a provisional timeline for the audit. We will work with the Council to ensure that appropriate publication wording is published by 
the date set out above.

22



11

Audit risks02 01

23



12

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks 

What will we do?

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures including:

• Inquire of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those risks.

• Understand the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes over 
fraud.

• Consider of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk of fraud.

• Perform mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified fraud risks, including:

• Testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other 
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements

• Assessing accounting estimates for evidence of management bias, and

• Evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

We will utilise our data analytics capabilities to assist with our work.

Having evaluated this risk we have considered whether we need to perform other audit procedures not 
referred to above. We concluded that only those procedures included under ‘Inappropriate capitalisation 
of revenue expenditure (including REFCUS)’ are required, as set out on the following page.

We have set out the significant risks (including fraud risks denoted by*) identified for the current year audit along with the rationale and expected
audit approach. The risks identified below may change to reflect any significant findings or subsequent issues we identify during the audit.

What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not 
free of material misstatements whether 
caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, 
management is in a unique position to 
perpetrate fraud because of its ability to 
manipulate accounting records directly or 
indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial 
statements by overriding controls that 
otherwise appear to be operating 
effectively. 

We identify and respond to this fraud risk on 
every audit engagement.

Misstatements due to fraud 
or error *

24



13

Audit risks

Our response to significant risks (continued) 
What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to improper revenue 
recognition. In the public sector, this requirement is 
modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council, which states that auditors should 
also consider the risk that material misstatements 
may occur by the manipulation of expenditure 
recognition. 

We have identified an opportunity and incentive to 
capitalise expenditure under the accounting 
framework, to remove it from the general fund. In 
arriving at this conclusion we have considered the 
continuing pressure on the revenue budget and the 
financial value of its annual capital programme 
which is many times out materiality level.

This could then result in funding of that expenditure, 
that should properly be defined as revenue, through 
inappropriate sources such as capital receipts, 
capital grants, or borrowing.

g

What will we do?

In order to address this risk we will carry out a 
range of procedures including:

• Obtaining an analysis of capital additions in 
the year, reconciling to the Fixed Assets 
Register (FAR), and reviewing the 
descriptions to identify whether there are 
any potential items that could be revenue 
in nature; and

• Sample Test Property, Plant and 
Equipment additions, and REFCUS 
additions, if material, to ensure that the 
expenditure incurred and capitalised is 
clearly capital in nature or appropriate to 
be treated as REFCUS.

We will utilise our data analytics capabilities 
to assist with our work, including journal entry 
testing.  We will assess journal entries more 
generally for evidence of management bias 
and evaluate for business rationale.

Financial statement impact

We have assessed that the risk of misreporting 
revenue outturn in the financial statements is 
most likely to be achieved through:

• Revenue expenditure being inappropriately 
recognised as capital expenditure at the 
point it is posted to the general ledger.

• Expenditure being inappropriately 
transferred by journal from revenue to 
capital codes on the general ledger at the 
end of the year.

If this were to happen it would have the impact 
of understating revenue expenditure and 
overstating property, plant and equipment 
additions and/or Revenue Expenditure 
Financed as Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) in 
the financial statements.

Inappropriate capitalisation of revenue 
expenditure including Revenue 
Expenditure Funded from Capital Under 
Statute (REFCUS)*

25



14

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus 

What is the risk/area of focus? What will we do?

Valuation of Land and Buildings and Investment Property

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and 
Investment Properties (IP) represents a significant balance in the 
Council’s accounts and is subject to valuation changes, impairment 
reviews and depreciation charges. 

At 31 March 2022 the net book value of PPE was £42.8 million, and 
the fair value of Investment Properties (including Group) was £34.1 
million. We note that within PPE, our focus is on Land and Buildings 
and Surplus Assets.

Management is required to make material judgemental inputs and 
apply estimation techniques to calculate the year-end balances 
recorded in the Balance Sheet.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures (which 
include the group balances) including:

• Consider the work performed by the valuer, including the adequacy of the 
scope of the work performed, their professional capabilities and the results 
of their work;

• Sample test key asset information used by the valuer in performing their 
valuation (e.g. floor plans to support valuations based on price per square 
metre);

• Consider the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets have been 
valued within a 5 year rolling programme as required by the Code for PPE. 
We have also considered if there are any specific changes to assets that 
have occurred and that these have been communicated to the valuer;

• Review assets not subject to valuation in 2021/22 to confirm that the 
remaining asset base is not materially misstated;

• Consider changes to useful economic lives as a result of the most recent 
valuation; and

• Test accounting entries have been correctly processed in the financial 
statements.

We have identified other areas of the audit, that have not been classified as significant risks, but are still important when considering the risks of
material misstatement to the financial statements and disclosures.

26



15

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus (continued) 

What is the area of focus? What will we do?

Pension Liability Valuation & other pension disclosures

The Authority makes extensive disclosures within its financial statements 
regarding its membership of Norfolk Pension Fund Scheme administered by 
Norfolk County Council. At 31 March 2022 the liability totalled £47.8 million.

The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report issued to the Authority 
by the actuary to the Norfolk Pension Fund. 

Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and judgement and 
therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the calculations on their 
behalf.

We undertake procedures on the use of management experts and the 
assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures 
including:

• Liaise with the auditors of Norfolk Pension Fund, to obtain 
assurances over the information supplied to the actuary in relation 
to Breckland Council;

• Assess the work of the Pension Fund actuary (Hyman Robertson) 
including the assumptions they have used, by relying on the work of 
PWC - Consulting Actuaries commissioned by the National Audit 
Office for all local government sector auditors, and by considering 
any relevant reviews by the EY actuarial team; and 

• Review and test the accounting entries and disclosures made within 
the Authority’s financial statements in relation to IAS19 considering
fund assets and the Authority’s liability.

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) Appeals Provision 

The calculation of the NNDR Appeals Provision is estimate based. Given the 
impact of COVID-19 on businesses seeking reductions in rateable values, there is 
a risk of material misstatement of the appeals provision due to the nature of the 
provision and the uncertainty around the full impact of COVID-19. 

In light of this we consider there to be an inherent risk of misstatement of the 
Council’s NNDR appeals provision.

We will consider the Council’s estimation of the NNDR appeals provision 
by performing the following:

• Review the assumptions made by the Council’s NNDR appeals 
provision specialist; and

• Assess the reasonableness of any local adjustments made by the 
Council on the NNDR appeals provision.

Bad debt provision and recoverability of debtors

As a result of the long term impact of COVID-19 and other market uncertainties 
there may be increased uncertainty around the recoverability of receivables. This 
includes large value debtors with subsidiary companies. The provision for these 
bad debts is an estimate, and calculation requires management judgement. We 
would expect the Council to revisit their provision for bad debt calculation in light 
of COVID-19 and assess the appropriateness of this estimation technique. Given 
that there might be some subjectivity to the recoverability of debtors the Council 
will need to consider the level of any provision for bad debts. We have therefore 
raised as an inherent risk in our audit strategy.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of procedures 
including:

• Review the calculation of the Bad Debt Provision for reasonableness 
and accuracy; and 

• Consider the recoverability of debts in testing a sample of trade 
receivables.

27



16

Audit risks

Other areas of audit focus (continued) 

What is the area of focus? What will we do?

Change in Management Structure

As of 1 May 2021, the Council fully separated its management team from South 
Holland District Council. This has resulted in changes to the Directorates and the 
need for a restatement of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis. An area of focus 
has been raised on as we will need to review the restatement to ensure the 
appropriate disclosure of prior year figures.

This separation also creates additional complexity in related party reporting to 
ensure the appropriate disclosure of balances between the two councils under the 
new arrangement.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of 
procedures including:

• Inspection of updated directory mapping and re-performance 
of calculation to assess appropriateness of updated prior 
year comparators.

• Review of the impact of the re-statement on the accounts as 
a whole

• Inspection of transactions between South Holland District 
Council and Breckland Council to assess the approprtiateness
of disclosure in the Related Party note

Accounting for Infrastructure Assets

An issue has been raised via the NAO’s Local Government Technical Group that 
some local authorities are not writing out the gross cost and accumulated 
depreciation on highways infrastructure assets when a major part/component has 
been replaced or decommissioned. This matter is currently under consideration by 
CIPFA and the Council hold Infrastructure Assets, with a Gross and Net book value 
of £1.377 million at 31 March 2022.

As a result of not writing out gross cost and accumulated depreciation where 
components are replaced, there is a risk that, if this is the case for elements not 
fully depreciated, assets in the Balance Sheet could be overstated. As a result, we 
have raised an Inherent risk in this area.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of 
procedures including:

• Continue to discuss the matter with the Council as guidance 
on accounting for Infrastructure Assets is updated;

• Understand the Infrastructure Assets balance and the 
individual assets comprising this balance; and

• Understand the Council’s process for writing out gross cost 
and accumulated depreciation on the Infrastructure Assets 
balance to determine whether this is materially correct at the 
Balance Sheet date.

Group Accounts

The Council consolidates Breckland Bridge Ltd under the equity method which 
applies a non-standard calculation to determine amounts carried from the joint 
venture within the Group accounts. There is also an additional entity in the 
consolidation to be considered for 2021/22. We will need to review the equity pick 
up calculation to assess appropriateness of amounts included in the Group 
accounts.

In order to address this risk we will carry out a range of 
procedures including:

• Review of underlying financial statements for all entities 
include in the joint venture to vouch amounts include in the 
consolidation calculation

• Re-performance of the consolidation calculation at expected 
equity rates.

28



17

Value for Money Risks03 01V
F
M

29



18

Value for Money

Council’s responsibilities for value for money

The Council is required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives while 
safeguarding and securing value for money from the public funds and other resources at its disposal. 

As part of the material published with the financial statements, the Council is required to bring together commentary on the governance framework and 
how this has operated during the period in a governance statement. In preparing the governance statement, the Council tailors the content to reflect its 
own individual circumstances, consistent with the requirements of the relevant accounting and reporting framework and having regard to any guidance 
issued in support of that framework. This includes a requirement to provide commentary on arrangements for securing value for money from the use of 
resources.

V
F
M

Auditor responsibilities

Under the NAO Code of Audit Practice we are required to consider whether the Council has put in 
place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of 
resources. The Code requires the auditor to design their work to provide them with sufficient 
assurance to enable them to report to the Council a commentary against specified reporting 
criteria (see below) on the arrangements the Council has in place to secure value for money 
through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for the relevant period.

The specified reporting criteria are:

• Financial sustainability – How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services.

• Governance – How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages 
its risks.

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – How the Council uses information about its 
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

Arrangements for 
securing value for money

Financial 
Sustainability

Improving 
Economy, 

Efficiency & 
Effectiveness 

Governance 

30



19

Value for Money

Planning and identifying risks of significant weakness in VFM arrangements

The NAO’s guidance notes requires us to carry out a risk assessment which gathers sufficient evidence to enable us to document our evaluation of the Council’s 
arrangements, in order to enable us  to draft a commentary under the three reporting criteria. This includes identifying and reporting on any significant 
weaknesses in those arrangements and making appropriate recommendations. 

In considering the Council’s arrangements, we are required to consider: 

• The Council’s governance statement; 

• Evidence that the Council’s arrangements were in place during the reporting period; 

• Evidence obtained from our work on the accounts; 

• The work of inspectorates and other bodies; and 

• Any other evidence source that we regards as necessary to facilitate the performance of our statutory duties. 

We then consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. The NAO’s guidance is clear that the assessment 
of what constitutes a significant weakness and the amount of additional audit work required to adequately respond to the risk of a significant weakness in 
arrangements is a matter of professional judgement. However, the NAO states that a weakness may be said to be significant if it:

• Exposes – or could reasonably be expected to expose – the Council to significant financial loss or risk; 

• Leads to – or could reasonably be expected to lead to – significant impact on the quality or effectiveness of service or on the Council’s reputation; 

• Leads to – or could reasonably be expected to lead to – unlawful actions; or 

• Identifies a failure to take action to address a previously identified significant weakness, such as failure to implement or achieve planned progress on 
action/improvement plans. 

We should also be informed by a consideration of: 

• The magnitude of the issue in relation to the size of the Council;  

• Financial consequences in comparison to, for example, levels of income or expenditure, levels of reserves (where applicable), or impact on budgets or 
cashflow forecasts; 

• The impact of the weakness on the Council’s reported performance; 

• Whether the issue has been identified by the Council’s own internal arrangements and what corrective action has been taken or planned; 

• Whether any legal judgements have been made including judicial review; 

• Whether there has been any intervention by a regulator or Secretary of State; 

• Whether the weakness could be considered significant when assessed against the nature, visibility or sensitivity of the issue; 

• The impact on delivery of services to local taxpayers; and 

• The length of time the Council has had to respond to the issue. 

V
F
M

31



20

Value for Money

Responding to identified risks of significant weakness 

Where our planning work has identified a risk of significant weakness, the NAO’s guidance requires us to consider what additional evidence is needed to 
determine whether there is a significant weakness in arrangements and undertake additional procedures as necessary, including where appropriate, 
challenge of management’s assumptions. We are required to report our planned procedures to the Governance and Audit Committee. 

V
F
M

Reporting on VFM 

Where we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
the Code requires that we should refer to this by exception in the audit report on the financial statements.

In addition, the Code requires us to include the commentary on arrangements in the Auditor’s Annual Report. The Code states that the commentary 
should be clear, readily understandable and highlight any issues we wish to draw to the Council’s attention or the wider publ ic. This should include details 
of any recommendations arising from the audit and follow-up of recommendations issued previously, along with our view as to whether they have been 
implemented satisfactorily.

Status of our 2021/22 VFM planning 

We have yet to complete our detailed VFM risk planning. However, one area of focus will be on the arrangements that the Council has in place 
subsequent to the separation of the management team from South Holland District Council.

This change in corporate management will be a focus of our 2021/22 Value for Money procedures as we seek to understand the impact of any capacity 
pressures that may arise as a result of the separation

We will provide an update on the outcome of our VFM planning and our planned response to any additional identified risks of significant weaknesses in 
arrangements at a future Governance and Audit Committee meeting.

32



21

Audit materiality04 01

33



22

Materiality

For planning purposes, materiality for 2021/22 has been set at £1.466 million for the
Group, and £1.456 million for the Council. This represents 2% of the Council and the
Group’s prior year gross expenditure on provision of services. It will be reassessed
throughout the audit process. We consider that gross expenditure on the provision of
services is the area of biggest interest to the users of the Council’s accounts. We have
provided supplemental information about audit materiality in Appendix C.

Audit materiality

Group
Gross expenditure

on provision of services

£73.3m Group Planning
materiality

£1.466m

Group 
performance 

materiality

£1.099m
Audit

differences

£73,300

Materiality

Planning materiality – the amount over which we anticipate misstatements 
would influence the economic decisions of a user of the financial 
statements.

Performance materiality – the amount we use to determine the extent of 
our audit procedures. We have set performance materiality at £1.099 
million for the group and £1.092 million for the Council which represents 
75% of planning materiality, This reflects the relatively lower level 
expectation of misstatements in our 2021/22 financial statement audit.

Component performance materiality range – we determine component 
performance materiality as a percentage of Group performance materiality 
based on risk and relative size to the Group. 

Audit difference threshold – we propose that misstatements identified 
below these thresholds (Group and Council) are deemed clearly trivial. The 
same threshold for misstatements is used for component reporting. We will 
report to you all uncorrected misstatements over this amount relating to 
the comprehensive income and expenditure statement, balance sheet, 
housing revenue account and collection fund that have an effect on income 
or that relate to other comprehensive income.

Other uncorrected misstatements, such as reclassifications and 
misstatements in the cashflow statement and movement in reserves 
statement or disclosures, and corrected misstatements will be 
communicated to the extent that they merit the attention of the 
Governance and Audit Committee, or are important from a qualitative 
perspective. 

Specific materiality – We have set a materiality threshold of £5,000 for 
related party transactions and members’ allowances. For officers 
remuneration including exit packages we will apply materiality of £1,000 in 
line with bandings. This reflects our understanding that an amount less than 
our materiality would not influence the economic decisions of users of the 
financial statements in relation to these disclosures.

.

Key definitions

We request that the Governance and Audit Committee confirm its understanding of, 
and agreement to, these materiality and reporting levels.

Council
performance
materiality

£1.092m

Council
Gross expenditure

on provision of services

£72.8m
Council

Planning
materiality

£1.456m

Audit
differences

£72,800

34



23

Audit materiality

Materiality
The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate 
all the circumstances that might ultimately influence our judgement. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all matters that 
could be significant to users of the financial statements, including the total effect of any audit misstatements, and our evaluation of materiality at that 
date.

We also identify areas where misstatement at a lower level than our overall materiality level might influence the reader and develop an audit strategy 
specific to these areas, including:

• Remuneration disclosures including councillor allowances: we will agree all disclosures back to source data, and councillor allowances to the agreed 
and approved amounts.

• Related party transactions: we will test the completeness of related party disclosures and the accuracy of all disclosures by checking back to 
supporting evidence.35



24

Scope of our audit05 01

36



25

Objective and Scope of our Audit scoping

Under the Code of Audit Practice, our principal objectives are to undertake work to support the provision of our audit report to the audited body and to 
satisfy ourselves that the audited body has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources to the 
extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.

We issue an audit report that covers:

1. Financial statement audit

Our opinion on the financial statements: 

• whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the audited body and its expenditure and income for the period 
in question; and 

• whether the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the relevant accounting and reporting framework as set out in 
legislation, applicable accounting standards or other direction. 

Our opinion on other matters:
• whether other information published together with the audited financial statements is consistent with the financial statements; and 
• where required, whether the part of the remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting 

and reporting framework.

Other procedures required by the Code:
• Examine and report on the consistency of the Whole of Government Accounts schedules or returns with the body’s audited financial statements for 

the relevant reporting period in line with the instructions issued by the NAO.

2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money)

As outlined in Section 03, we are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness on its use of resources and report a commentary on those arrangements. 

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy

37



26

Audit Process Overview

Our audit involves: 
• Identifying and understanding the key processes and internal controls; and

• Substantive tests of detail of transactions and amounts.

For 2021/22 we plan to follow a substantive approach to the audit as we have concluded this is the most efficient way to obtain the level of audit 
assurance required to conclude that the financial statements are not materially misstated. 

Analytics:
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of your financial data, in particular journal entries. These 
tools:
• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more traditional substantive audit tests; and 

• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques.

We will report the findings from our process and analytics work, including any significant weaknesses or inefficiencies identified and recommendations 
for improvement, to management and the Governance and Audit Committee. 

Internal audit:
We will review internal audit plans and the results of their work. We will reflect on these when designing our overall audit approach and when 
developing our detailed testing strategy. We may also reflect relevant findings from their work in our reporting, where it raises issues that could have 
a material impact on the financial statements.

Scope of our audit

Our Audit Process and Strategy (continued)

38



27

Group scoping

Our audit strategy for performing an audit of an entity with multiple locations is risk based. We identify components as:
1. Significant components: A component is significant when it is likely to include risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements, 

either because of its relative financial size to the group (quantitative criteria), or because of its specific nature or circumstances (qualitative criteria). 
We generally assign significant components a full or specific scope given their importance to the financial statements.

2. Not significant components: The number of additional components and extent of procedures performed depended primarily on: evidence from 
significant components, the effectiveness of group wide controls and the results of analytical procedures. 

For all other components we perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of material misstatement within those entity’s. These procedures 
are detailed below.

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit 

Scoping by Entity

Our preliminary audit scopes by number of locations we have 
adopted are set out below. We provide scope details for each 
component within Appendix A. 

Full Scope: Breckland Council

Specific scope audit

Review scope audits: Breckland
Bridge

Specified procedures

1 A

0 B

1 C

0 D

0 E Other procedures

Scope definitions

Full scope: Entities where a full audit is performed to the materiality levels 
assigned by the Group audit team for purposes of the consolidated audit. 

Specific scope: Entities where the audit is limited to specific accounts or 
disclosures identified by the Group audit team based on the size and/or risk 
profile of those accounts. 

Review scope: Entities where procedures primarily consist of analytical 
procedures and inquiries of management. On-site or desk top reviews may be 
performed, according to our assessment of risk and the availability of 
information centrally.

Specified Procedures: Entities where the component team performs 
procedures specified by the Group audit team in order to respond to a risk 
identified.

Other procedures: For those component entities that we do not consider 
material to the Group financial statements in terms of size relative to the Group 
and risk, we perform other procedures to confirm that there is no risk of 
material misstatement within those locations. 

39



28

Scope of our audit

Scoping the group audit (continued) 
Coverage of Expenditure

We set audit scopes for each reporting unit which, when taken together, 
enable us to form an opinion on the group accounts. We take into account 
the size, risk profile, changes in the business environment, and other 
factors when assessing the level of work to be performed at each 
reporting unit.

Based on the group’s draft current year results, our scoping is expected to 
achieve the following coverage of the group’s net cost of service 
expenditure.

Our audit approach is risk based and therefore the data above on 
coverage is provided for your information only.

of the Group’s expenditure will 
be covered by the audit of the 
Council (Single entity), with 
review scope providing the 
remaining coverage (0.7%).

99.3%Expenditure

Details of review procedures

Our approach to review procedures is as follows:

• Obtain management’s review of actual performance compared to 
budget, prior year, and KPIs;

• Review of group wide entity level controls;

• Perform analytics review procedures;

• Test consolidation procedures and journals;

• Enquiry of management about unusual transactions;

• Review of management’s reconciliation of local statutory accounts to 
the group accounts.

Key changes in scope from last year

There is no change in the scope from the previous year. Breckland Bridge 
Ltd remains a ‘not significant component’ as determined by its size and 
risk.

40



29

Audit team06 01

41



30

Audit team

Audit team 

Audit team structure:

Mark Hodgson

Audit Partner

Sappho Powell

Senior Audit Manager

Sherald Ang
Senior

We are working together with officers to 
identify continuing improvements in 
communication and processes for the 
2021/22 audit. 

We will continue to keep our audit approach 
under review to streamline it where possible.

Working together with the Council

EY Real 
Estates (EYRE)

PwC (consulting 
actuary) and EY 

Actuaries

Andrew Paylor

Audit Manager42



31

Audit team

Use of specialists
When auditing key judgements, we are often required to use the input and advice provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not 
possessed by the core audit team. The areas where specialists are expected to provide input for the current year audit are:

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, 
experience and available resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.

We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the Council’s business and processes and our assessment of audit risk 
in the particular area. For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:

• Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the specialist to establish whether the source data is relevant and reliable;

• Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used; 

• Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work; and

• Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the financial statements.

Area Specialists

Pensions disclosure
EY Pension Team

Hyman Robertson – Actuary to Norfolk Pension Fund

Valuation of Land and Buildings & 
Investment Properties

Valuation Office Agency (Council’s PPE valuer)

EY Real Estates (in relation to assessing the Council’s valuers and otherwise required)

NDR Appeals Provision Wilkes Head & Eve (management specialist)

Financial Instruments Link Assets Services (management specialist)

43



32

Developing the right Audit Culture

“A series of company collapses linked 
to unhealthy cultures…..have 

demonstrated why cultivating a 
healthy culture, underpinned by the 

right tone from the top, is 
fundamental to business success.”

Sir John Thompson
Chief Executive of the FRC

Our audit culture is the cement that binds together the
building blocks and foundation of our audit strategy. We have
been thoughtful in articulating a culture that is right for us:
one that recognises we are part of a wider, global firm and is
clear about whose interests our audits serve.

There are three elements underpinning our culture:

1. Our people are focused on a common purpose. It is vital
we foster and nurture the values, attitudes and
behaviours that lead our people to do the right thing.

2. The essential attributes of our audit business are: 

• Right resources — We team with competent people,
investing in audit technology, methodology and support

• Right first time — Our teams execute and review their 
work, consulting where required to meet the required 
standard

• Right reward — We align our reward and recognition to 
reinforce the right behaviours 

3. The six pillars of Sustainable Audit Quality are implemented.  

Tone at the top

The internal and external messages sent by EY
leadership, including audit partners, set a clear tone at
the top - they establish and encourage a commitment to
audit quality

Exceptional talent

Specific initiatives support EY auditors in devoting time to 
perform quality work, including recruitment, retention, 
development and workload management

Accountability

The systems and processes in place help EY people take 
responsibility for carrying out high-quality work at all times, 
including their reward and recognition

01

02

03

Audit technology and digital

The EY Digital Audit is evolving to set the standard for the 
digital-first way of approaching audit, combining leading-edge 
digital tools, stakeholder focus and a commitment to quality

Simplification and innovation

We are simplifying and standardising the approach used by EY 
auditors and embracing emerging technologies to improve the 
quality, consistency and efficiency of the audit

04

05

Enablement and quality support

How EY teams are internally supported to manage their 
responsibility to provide high audit quality

06

A critical part of this culture is that our people are encouraged and
empowered to challenge and exercise professional scepticism
across all our audits. However, we recognise that creating a culture
requires more than just words from leaders. It has to be reflected in
the lived experience of all our people each and every day enabling
them to challenge themselves and the companies we audit.

Each year we complete an audit quality culture assessment to obtain
feedback from our people on the values and behaviours they
experience, and those they consider to be fundamental to our audit
quality culture of the future. We action points that arise to ensure
our culture continues to evolve appropriately.

In July 2021, EY established a UK Audit Board (UKAB) with a
majority of independent Audit Non-Executives (ANEs). The
UKAB will support our focus on delivering high-quality audits
by strengthening governance and oversight over the culture
of the audit business. This focus is critical given that audit
quality starts with having the right culture embedded in the
business.

We bring our culture alive by investing in  
three priority workstreams:
• Audit Culture with a focus on 

professional scepticism 
• Adopting the digital audit
• Standardisation

This investment has led to a number of 
successful outputs covering training, tools, 
techniques and additional sources. Specific 
highlights include:
• Audit Purpose Barometer
• Active Scepticism Framework
• Increased access to external sector 

forecasts
• Forensic risk assessment pilots
• Refreshed PLOT training and support 

materials, including embedding in new 
hire and trainee courses

• Digital audit training for all ranks
• Increased hot file reviews and improved 

escalation processes
• New work programmes issued on auditing 

going concern, climate, impairment, 
expected credit losses, cashflow 
statements and conducting effective 
group oversight

• Development of bite size, available on 
demand, task specific tutorial videos

2021 Audit Culture Survey result
A cultural health score of 78%  (73%) was 

achieved for our UK Audit Business

44



33

Audit timeline07 01

45



34

Audit timeline

Below is a timetable showing the key stages of the audit and the deliverables we have agreed to provide to you through the audit cycle in 2021/22.

From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the Governance and Audit Committee and we will discuss them with 
the Governance and Audit Committee Chair as appropriate. We will also provide updates on corporate governance and regulatory matters as 
necessary.

Timeline

Timetable of communication and deliverables

Audit phase Timetable
Governance and Audit 
Committee timetable

Deliverables

Planning:

Risk assessment and setting of scopes.

June – July 2022

Walkthrough of key systems and 
processes

July – August 2022 Governance and Audit Committee Audit Plan

Early testing procedures July – August 2022

Year end audit October - November 
2022

Governance and Audit Committee Audit Plan Update – VFM Risk Assessment

Audit Completion procedures December 2022 Governance and Audit Committee 
(February 2023)

Audit Results Report

Audit opinion and completion certificates

January 2022 Auditor’s Annual Report

46



35

Independence08 01

47



36

Introduction

The FRC Ethical Standard and ISA (UK) 260 “Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance”, requires us to communicate with you 
on a timely basis on all significant facts and matters that bear upon our integrity, objectivity and independence. The Ethical Standard, as revised in 
December 2019, requires that we communicate formally both at the planning stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the course of the 
audit if appropriate.  The aim of these communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your governance on matters in which 
you have an interest.

In addition, during the course of the audit, we are required to communicate with you whenever any significant judgements are made about threats to 
objectivity and independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place, for example, when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit 
services.

We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you and your affiliates for the provision of services during the 
reporting period, analysed in appropriate categories, are disclosed.

Required communications

Planning stage Final stage

► The principal threats, if any, to objectivity 
and independence identified by Ernst & 
Young (EY) including consideration of all 
relationships between you, your affiliates 
and directors and us;

► The safeguards adopted and the reasons 
why they are considered to be effective, 
including any Engagement Quality review;

► The overall assessment of threats and 
safeguards;

► Information about the general policies 
and process within EY to maintain 
objectivity and independence.

► In order for you to assess the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm and each covered 
person, we are required to provide a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-
audit services) that may bear on our integrity, objectivity and independence. This is required to have 
regard to relationships with the entity, its directors and senior management, its affiliates, and its 
connected parties and the threats to integrity or objectivity, including those that could compromise 
independence that these create.  We are also required to disclose any safeguards that we have put in 
place and why they address such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable our 
objectivity and independence to be assessed;

► Details of non-audit/additional services provided and the fees charged in relation thereto;

► Written confirmation that the firm and each covered person is  independent and, if applicable, that any 
non-EY firms used in the group audit or external experts used have confirmed their independence to us;

► Details of any non-audit/additional services to a UK PIE audit client where there are differences of 
professional opinion concerning the engagement between the Ethics Partner and Engagement Partner 
and where the final conclusion differs from the professional opinion of the Ethics Partner

► Details of any inconsistencies between FRC Ethical Standard and your  policy for the supply of non-audit 
services by EY and any apparent breach of that policy; 

► Details of all breaches of the IESBA Code of Ethics, the FRC Ethical Standard and professional standards, 
and of any safeguards applied and actions taken by EY to address any threats to independence; and

► An opportunity to discuss auditor independence issues.

48



37

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence, including the principal threats, 
if any.  We have adopted the safeguards noted below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they are considered to be effective. However we will only 
perform non –audit services if the service has been pre-approved in accordance with your policy.

Self interest threats

A self interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in the Council.  Examples include where we have an investment in the Council; where we receive 
significant fees in respect of non-audit services; where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we enter into a business relationship with you.  At the time of 
writing, there are no long outstanding fees. 

We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake those permitted non-audit/additional services set out in Section 5.40 of the FRC Ethical Standard 2019 (FRC ES), 
and we will comply with the policies that you have approved.  

When the ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees exceeds 1:1, we are required to discuss this with our Ethics Partner, as set out by the FRC ES, and if necessary agree 
additional safeguards or not accept the non-audit engagement.  We will also discuss this with you. We do not plan to perform any non-audit work. No additional 
safeguards are required. 

A self interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to you.  We 
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service lines, has objectives or is rewarded in relation to sales to you, in compliance 
with Ethical Standard part 4.

There are no other self interest threats at the date of this report. 

Overall Assessment

Overall, we consider that the safeguards that have been adopted appropriately mitigate the principal threats identified and we therefore confirm that EY is independent 
and the objectivity and independence of Mark Hodgson, your audit Engagement Partner and the audit engagement team have not been compromised.

Self review threats

Self review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in 
the financial statements.

There are no self review threats at the date of this report. 

Management threats

Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management of the Council.  Management threats may also arise during the provision of 
a non-audit service in relation to which management is required to make judgements or decision based on that work.

There are no management threats at the date of this report. 

Other threats

Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.

There are no other threats at the date of this report. 

49



38

Other communications

EY Transparency Report 2021

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, 
independence and integrity are maintained. Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be 
found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year end 30 June 2021: 
https://www.ey.com/en_uk/about-us/transparency-report-2021

50

https://www.ey.com/en_uk/about-us/transparency-report-2021


39

Appendices09 01

51



40

Appendix A

Fees

Planned fee 
2021/22

Final Fee
2020/21

£’s £’s

Scale Fee – Code work 34,293 34,293

Estimated Scale Fee Variation (Note 1) - 40,958

Baseline increase in Scale Fee from 2019/20 
(Note 2)

40,958
(Note 2)

Additional Audit Procedures (Note 3) TBC -

Total audit TBC TBD

The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government.  

This is defined as the fee required by auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code of Audit Practice and supporting guidance published by the National Audit Office, the financial reporting requirements set out in 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting published by CIPFA/LASAAC, and the professional standards applicable to auditors’ work.

All fees exclude VAT

In addition, we are driving greater innovation in the audit through the 
use of technology. The significant investment costs in this global 
technology continue to rise as we seek to provide enhanced assurance 
and insight in the audit. 

The agreed fee presented is based on the following assumptions:

➢ Officers meeting the agreed timetable of deliverables;

➢ Our accounts opinion and value for money conclusion being 
unqualified;

➢ Appropriate quality of documentation is provided by the Council; and

➢ The Council has an effective control environment.

If any of the above assumptions prove to be unfounded, we will seek a 
variation to the agreed fee. This will be discussed with the Council in 
advance.

Fees for the auditor’s consideration of correspondence from the public 
and formal objections will be charged in addition to the scale fee.

Note 1 – Submission to PSAA Ltd for Scale Fee Variation to be submitted taking 
into considering recurring scale fee from 2019/20 and additional risks identified 
during course of the audit.

Note 2 - For 2021/22 the scale fee has again been re-assessed to take into 
account the same recurring risk factors as in 2019/20 and 2020/21 and is 
subject to determination by PSAA Ltd – subject to annual price uplifts.

Note 3 - For 2021/22, the scale fee will be impacted by a range of factors 
which will result in additional work, including some of those that were 
present in the prior year – such as the impact of Covid-19. See Section 2 of 
this report for further risk areas that are likely to lead to additional fees –
such as the Re-Statement of the Expenditure Funding Analysis and 
Infrastructure Assets.
.

52



41

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Governance and Audit Committee of acceptance of terms of 
engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies. 

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter The statement of responsibilities serves as the 
formal terms of engagement between the 
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.

Planning and audit 
approach 

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the 
significant risks identified.

When communicating key audit matters this includes the most significant risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) including those that have the greatest effect on 
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team 

Audit Plan - July 2022 - Governance and Audit 
Committee

Significant findings from 
the audit 

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit

• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management

• Written representations that we are seeking

• Expected modifications to the audit report

• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee; and

Auditor’s Annual Report - February 2023 –
Governance and Audit Committee

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee
We have detailed the communications that we must provide to the Governance and Audit Committee.

53



42

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued)

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, including:

• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty

• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements

• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless prohibited by 
law or regulation 

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods 

• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected 

• Material misstatements corrected by management 

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Subsequent events • Enquiries of the Governance and Audit Committee where appropriate regarding whether 
any subsequent events have occurred that might affect the financial statements

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Fraud • Enquiries of the Governance and Audit Committee to determine whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a 
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity, any 
identified or suspected fraud involving:

a. Management; 

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when 
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to Governance and Audit Committee 
responsibility

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

54



43

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued) Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Related parties • Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties 
including, when applicable:

• Non-disclosure by management 

• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions 

• Disagreement over disclosures 

• Non-compliance with laws and regulations 

• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity 

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals 
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence

Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of 
independence and objectivity such as:

• The principal threats

• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness

• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards

• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity 
and independence

Communication whenever significant judgements are made about threats to objectivity and 
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.

Audit Plan - July 2022 - Governance and Audit 
Committee; and

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations 

• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Consideration of laws and 
regulations 

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly 
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance 
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur 
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the Governance and Audit Committee into possible instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial 
statements and that the Governance and Audit Committee may be aware of

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

55



44

Appendix B

Required communications with the Governance and Audit Committee 
(continued) Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Internal controls • Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Group audits • An overview of the type of work to be performed on the financial information of the 
components

• An overview of the nature of the group audit team’s planned involvement in the work to 
be performed by the component auditors on the financial information of significant 
components

• Instances where the group audit team’s evaluation of the work of a component auditor 
gave rise to a concern about the quality of that auditor’s work

• Any limitations on the group audit, for example, where the group engagement team’s 
access to information may have been restricted

• Fraud or suspected fraud involving group management, component management, 
employees who have significant roles in group-wide controls or others where the fraud 
resulted in a material misstatement of the group financial statements

Audit Plan - July 2022 - Governance and Audit 
Committee; and

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Representations Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with 
governance

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Material inconsistencies 
and misstatements

Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which 
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Auditors Annual Report - February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit plan is agreed

• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

• Any non-audit work 

Audit Plan - July 2022 - Governance and Audit 
Committee; and

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Value for Money • Risks of significant weakness identified in planning work

• Commentary against specified reporting criteria on the VFM arrangements, including 
any exception report on significant weaknesses. 

Audit Plan - July 2022 - Governance and Audit 
Committee;

Audit Results Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

Auditor’s Annual Report – February 2023 -
Governance and Audit Committee

56



45

Appendix C

Additional audit information

Our responsibilities  required 
by auditing standards

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and Council’s internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Reading other information contained in the financial 
statements, the Governance and Audit Committee reporting appropriately addresses matters communicated by us to the 
Governance and Audit Committee and reporting whether it is materially inconsistent with our understanding and the financial 
statements; and

• Maintaining auditor independence.

Other required procedures during the course of the audit

In addition to the key areas of audit focus outlined in section 2, we have to perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence standards and 
other regulations. We outline the procedures below that we will undertake during the course of our audit.

Objective of our audit

Our objective is to form an opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial statements under International Standards on Auditing (UK) as prepared by you in accordance 
with with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and as interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

Our responsibilities in relation to the financial statement audit are set out in the formal terms of engagement between the PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies. 
We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of the Governance and 
Audit Committee. The audit does not relieve management or the Governance and Audit Committee of their responsibilities.

57



46

Appendix C

Additional audit information (continued)

Purpose and evaluation of materiality 

For the purposes of determining whether the accounts are free from material error, we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, 
individually or in the aggregate, in light of the surrounding circumstances, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial 
statements. Our evaluation of it requires professional judgement and necessarily takes into account qualitative as well as quantitative considerations implicit in the 
definition. We would be happy to discuss with you your expectations regarding our detection of misstatements in the financial statements. 

Materiality determines the level of work performed on individual account balances and financial statement disclosures.

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all of the 
circumstances that may ultimately influence our judgement about materiality. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all matters that could 
be significant to users of the accounts, including the total effect of the audit misstatements we identify, and our evaluation of materiality at that date.

Procedures required by the 
Audit Code 

• Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

• Examining and reporting on the consistency of consolidation schedules or returns with the Council’s audited financial statements
for the relevant reporting period (WGA Return).

Other procedures • We are required to discharge our statutory duties and responsibilities as established by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and Code of Audit Practice.

We have included in Appendix B a list of matters that we are required to communicate to you under professional standards.

Other required procedures during the course of the audit (continued)

58



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit 
ey.com.

© 2019 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not 
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer 
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

59



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Sarah Suggitt: Executive Member for Strategic & Operational Planning and, 

Paul Hewitt: Executive Member for Property, Projects and Procurement. 
 
To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28th July 2022 
 
Author: Simon Wood – Director of Planning and Building Control 
 
Subject:  The Planning Register and The Planning Website as it relates to General 

Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 
 
Purpose: To advise Members of the need to cease publication of third party 

representations on planning applications on the Council website in order to 
comply with GDPR. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the Council, as Local Planning Authority, does not publish third party representations 

to planning applications on the Breckland Council website.   
 
2) That all third party comments are removed from the Council’s back office system when 

they are no longer needed for the purpose for which they were required.  
 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended) [Part 9, Article 40] sets out the requirements with regard 
to the responsibilities on the Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to 
maintain a ‘Local Planning Register’. 

 
1.2 The Local Planning Register should reflect every application for planning permission 

relating to the LPA’s area and be kept in 2 parts. 
 
1.3 Part 1 of the register must contain the following details in respect of each 

application, made or sent to the local planning register authority and not finally 
disposed of [i.e. this is the list of live planning applications] 

 
• a copy of the application   form (redacted to remove contact details including 

telephone numbers, email addresses, signatures), and any plans or drawings, 
(application forms include details of applicants and planning agents as well as 
addresses of applicants which may be different to the application site) 

• a design and access statement, where relevant 
• details of any planning obligations and 
• modifications 

 
1.4   In the case of applications for EIA development and subsequent applications Part 1 

of the register must also include a copy of any relevant— 
 

a) screening opinion 
b) screening direction 
c) scoping opinion 

60

Agenda Item 9



d) scoping direction 
e) notification given under regulation 11(2), 12(5), 13(5) or 14(6) 
f) direction under regulation 63 
g) environmental statement, including any further information and any other 

information; and 
h) statement of reasons accompanying any of the above (Regulation 28(1) EIA 

Regulations 2017) 
 
1.5   Part 2 of the register must contain, in respect of every application for planning 

permission relating to the local planning register authority’s area [this is the list of 
determined planning applications] 

 
• any directions 
• decision of the local authority, including details of any conditions 
• reference number and effect19 of any appeal (including any conditions 

attached to the appeal) 
• date of subsequent approval following reserved matters 
• particulars of any modifications 

 
1.6  There are additional requirements for publishing on the register documentation 

relating to applications for EIA development and documentation relating to decisions 
on EIA applications.   

 
1.7  In each case the copy of the required information may be photographic or in 

electronic form. Where the register kept by a LPA under this article is kept using 
electronic storage, the authority may make the register available for inspection by 
the public on a website maintained by the authority for that purpose. 

 
1.8  The Council is required to keep in its register details of all the planning applications 

in its area together with associated plans and drawings, details of any decision once 
it’s been made, and information on any associated legal obligations or associated 
agreements. 

 
1.9  This list of requirements does not include third party or consultee comments. There 

is also no explicit requirement for a report explaining how the Council reached the 
decision. 

 
1.10   A copy of the application together with any accompanying plans and drawings can 

be interpreted in a tight fashion. The accompanying plans and drawings can be 
construed (in the context of the Part 2 Register) as just those detailed on the 
decision notice. Superseded plans and documents no longer form part of the 
submission supporting the application made and therefore there is no requirement to 
keep these within the register. 

 
  Publishing applicant and objector details 
 
1.11  The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 are designed to 

promote the transparency and accountability of local authorities to their local 
communities. They require that when a decision to grant planning permission is 
made by an officer rather than a planning committee, the LPA must make available 
for public inspection the written record of the decision and background papers for 
public inspection. 

 

61



1.12  The regulations are clear that they do not require the LPA to disclose to the public 
confidential information (i.e. information the disclosure of which is prohibited under 
an enactment, such as data protection legislation). 

 
1.13  There is no requirement to publish consultation responses.  However, best practice 

as recommended by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS)suggests that:  
 

• All information that enables the public to participate effectively in the  
 decision-making process should be published online – where that is 
consistent with the GDPR 

• Information should be organised and presented in a way that makes it easy 
for the public to find what they need 

• The need for access to information changes once decisions are made, or the 
opportunity for appeal has lapsed, and in the long term the public will only 
need to see the statutory register,  

 
  The requirement to retain that information ceases once the 6 month appeal window 

closes. 
 
1.14  The more that the consultation process is carried out in plain view, the more 

resource it will require to ensure that risks around data protection are managed. This 
means that only consultation responses that are likely to have significant impact on 
a rational decision-making process should be published. This will include those from 
statutory consultees (including Town and Parish Councils) and possibly amenity 
groups and recognised residents’ associations, not the general public. 

 
1.15  Many people responding to a planning application will be engaging with the planning 

system for the first time and they won’t necessarily have grasped the finer points of 
what is (and is not) a material planning consideration.  Consultee comments are 
therefore often detailed in nature and are summarised in the officer’s report. 

 
1.16  It is acknowledged that there will be concerns over the transparency of decision 

making and third parties being confident that there valid planning concerns in 
respect of a proposed development are properly taken into account when a 
recommendation/decision is made. As set out above all relevant comments received 
will be summarised and addressed as part of the officers report, whether that is a 
delegated or committee decision.     

 
1.17  Applicants/agents also access third party comments to understand any potential 

issues raised in relation to their objection and there will be more onus on planning 
officers to convey any legitimate planning concerns to agents/applicants to seek to 
resolve any potential issues that arise from those comments.  

 
1.18   Having regard to the advice from PAS and the provisions of the GDPR the following 

actions need to be implemented to reduce the risk to the Council: 
 

1. Only Statutory Consultee responses (includes Parish and Town Councils, 
 amenity groups and recognised residents associations) to be published 
online.  

2. Third party comments to be kept within the back-office system and 
summarised as part of the officers report (both delegated and committee 
reports) 

3. Subject to discussions with our software provider, to remove third party 
comments once they are no longer required. 

 

62



2.0 OPTIONS 
 
  Option 1 
 
2.1 Do nothing. This could bring the Council into conflict with Data Protection legislation 

through not properly redacting information and keeping information in the public domain 
when there is no justifiable reason to do so.  

 
Option 2 

 
2.2  Agree with the recommendation.    
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

3.1 Reduction of risk of Council being guilty of any offence under Data Protection legislation through 
either: 

a. Not properly redacting information, or 
b. Keeping information in the public domain when there is no justification to do so 

3.2        A reduction in officer time in removing an immediate requirement to redact third party comments.  
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 Reduced exposure to potential challenge and associated expenditure.  
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

 
5.2  Constitution & Legal 

 
5.2.1 As set out in the report. 
  
5.3       Contracts 

 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.4  Corporate Priorities 

 
5.4.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

 
 

63



5.6 Data Protection 
 

5.6.1 As set out in the report. 
 
5.7  Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

 
5.7.1 As set out in the report.  

 
5.8  Financial  

 

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.9 Health & Wellbeing 

 
5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.10  Reputation  

 
5.10.1 As set out in the report.  
 
5.11     Risk Management  

 
5.11.1 As set out in the report.  
 
5.12     Safeguarding 

 
5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.13  Staffing 

 
5.13.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  GDPR – General Data Protection Regulations  
 
 

Background papers:- None 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Simon Wood – Director of Planning and Building Control 
Telephone Number: 01603 656805 
Email: simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

64



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Alison Chubbock, Section 151 Officer 

  
To: Governance and Audit Committee 28 July 2022 
 
Author: Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
 
Subject:  Annual report on write off’s over £10,000 during 2021-22 
 
Purpose: To inform Member on the level of bad debts over £10,000 that had to be 

written off during 2021-22 
 

 
Recommendation:  
 
1) That Members review and note the report 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 2nd December 2021, this Committee requested an annual report on the 

level of bad debts over £10,000 that have had to be written off. This will help Members in 
their governance role, to ensure that proper processes are followed for the write-off of 
these significant debts. 

 
1.2 The table below sets out the type, number and value of debts over £10,000 that were 

written off during 2021/22. This is in the context of total business rates receivable of £29.2 
million for 2021/22 and the Council receiving £19.67 million in income from fees, charges 
and other sundry debtors. 

 
  

Nature of debt Number of write-offs Total Value of Write-offs 

Business Rates 5 £129,984.64 

Sundry Debts 2 £91,578.76 

Council Tax 0 0 

Housing Benefit 0 0 
 
1.3 These debts were from businesses or individuals. In all cases, these debts were 

authorised for write-off by the Section 151 Officer following an officer assessment of the 
possibilities for recovery. Recovery was not possible due to the debtor not being in a 
position to pay, e.g. the firm had gone into liquidation or the individual had no assets. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 That the level of bad debts over £10,000 written off be reviewed and noted. 

 
2.2 Do nothing.  
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 This report is for information and review. 
 
 

65

Agenda Item 10



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 To enable Members to perform their governance role in strategic oversight of the 

management of the authority’s finances. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.1  Financial  
5.1.1 This report concerns the Council’s finances. 
 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N.a. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 None 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
Telephone Number: 07425 618457 
Email: Matthew.Fernandez-Graham@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services 
 

66



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Cllr Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenues and Benefits  
 
To: Governance and Audit Committee 28 July 2022 
 
Author: Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
 
Subject:  Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23 (Updated) 
 
Purpose: This report outlines the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2022-23 to   

2024-25 and sets out the expected treasury operations for this period and 
requests approval for the Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators for 2022-23 to 2024-25. This is an updated report 
reflecting revised guidance from CIPFA released since the original report 
was approved by Full Council. 

 

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 
 

1) That the updated Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 to 2024-25 at Appendix A is 
approved 

2) That the updated Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A 
(Tables 1-11) are approved 

3) That the updated Investment Strategy 2022-23 (Appendix B) and the detailed criteria 
included in Appendix B1 is approved 

4) That the updated Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2 is approved 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This is an updated report to the one approved reviewed by this Committee in December 

2021 and approved by Full Council in January 2022. It reflects new guidance from CIPFA 
which has published an updated Treasury Management Code of Practice and Prudential 
Code for capital finance.  
 
Key Changes in the Treasury Management Code of Practice are: 

 The Code makes it clear that reporting should set out Service and Commercial investment 
risks, especially where this is supported by borrowing, which is the key concern for CIPFA. 
Establishing a proportionate level of any borrowing is a decision for the Authority, advised 
by the Section 151 Officer.  

 Emphasis is placed on the requirement that “Local authorities must not borrow to invest for 
the primary purpose of financial return.”  

 Authorities should develop a Liability Benchmark that sets a figure for total indebtedness 
over time that will help to guide its borrowing plans. The benchmark is not prescriptive, so 
long as an Authority can justify that it is prudent to maintain a position above or below 
benchmark. 

 Authorities should assess the risks and rewards of significant investments over the long term, 
as opposed to the usual three to five years that most local authority financial planning has 
been conducted over, to ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the authority. (CIPFA 
has not defined what longer term means but it is likely to infer 20-30 years in line with the 
financing time horizon and the expected life of the assets, while medium term financial 
planning, at a higher level of detail, is probably aimed at around a 10-year time frame and to 
focus on affordability in particular.)  

67

Agenda Item 11



Key Changes in the Prudential Code are: 

 CIPFA’s key concern continues to be regarding leverage and borrowing to invest 
particularly for Commercial and Service Investment -with a clear statement regarding it not 
being prudent to make any investment or spending decision that will increase the Capital 
Financing Requirement, and so lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related 
to the functions of the authority and where any financial returns are either related to the 
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose. 

 The principle that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return applies 
with immediate effect. 

 There is further strengthening on matters to be taken into account when setting and 
revising prudential indicators, particularly decision making on capital investment, 
determining a capital strategy, prudence and affordability. 

 The guidance on Environmental, Social and Governance issues in Capital Strategy is 
broadened to make clear that the strategy should address environmental sustainability in a 
manner which is consistent with the Authority’s own corporate policies on the issue. 

 Authorities that have an expected need to borrow should review options for exiting their 
financial investments for commercial purposes and summarise the review in their annual 
treasury management or investment strategies. There is no requirement for authorities with 
existing commercial investments (including property) to sell these investments. 

 Definition of Investment – there are now separate categories for Treasury Investment, 
Service Investment and Commercial Investment. 

 Reporting against the prudential indicators is to be done at least quarterly as part of normal 
financial monitoring. 

 Authorities may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 2023/24 financial 
year (these include changes in capital strategy, prudential indicators and investment 
reporting). 

1.2 Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operation is 
to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations.   
 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as the 
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending 
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The 
treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income 
arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally 
result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums 
invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 
 
Treasury management is defined by CIPFA as: “The management of the local authority’s 
borrowing, investments and cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”. 

 

68



Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activity (arising usually from 
capital expenditure) and are separate from day-to-day treasury management activity.   
 
The Capital Strategy provides a longer-term focus to the capital plans of the authority and is 
reported on separately through the budget setting. 

 
1.3 Reporting Requirements 

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main Treasury reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. 
 
Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) – the first and 
most important report covers: 

 The capital plans (including prudential indicators) 

 A minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time) 

 The treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 
organised) including treasury indicators and 

 An investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 
 

A mid-year treasury management report – (separate report to this meeting) - This 
updates Members with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators 
as necessary, and whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or whether any 
policies require revision. 
 
An annual treasury report - (separate report to this meeting) This provides details of a 
selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations 
compared to the estimates within the strategy. 
 
Scrutiny – The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised and this role is 
undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 

1.4 Treasury Management Strategy for 2022-23 
The strategy for 2022-23 covers two main areas: 

Capital issues 

 The capital plans and the associated prudential indicators 

 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 
Treasury management issues 

 The current treasury position 

 Treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council 

 Prospects for interest rates 

 The borrowing strategy 

 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

 The investment strategy 

 Creditworthiness policy and 

 Policy on use of external service providers 
 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the updated 
CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the updated CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 
 

1.5 Training 
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  This 

69



especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny.  Treasury training for Members last 
took place in October 2021.  The training needs of treasury management officers are  
reviewed on an ongoing basis.   

 
1.6 Treasury management consultants 

The Council’s external treasury management advisors are Link Asset Services. Following a 
procurement exercise earlier this year, the Council contracted with them until 31 March 
2025.  The Council recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council 
will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the 
services of our external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all 
available information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisers. 
 
The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required. 
 

1.7 Summary of key issues and changes 
Text in red in appendices B, B1 and B2 denotes a change from previous policy and strategy 
otherwise all information remains unchanged from the current approved policy and strategy. 
Changes to the policy and strategy reflect the changes in the revised Treasury Management 
Code of Practice and Prudential Code as outlined above in 1.1. In addition, officers have taken 
the opportunity to make some other changes. 
 
Group, Maturity and Sector limits 
This report recommends an increase in the maximum amount that can be invested in those 
counterparties where Link have recommended that investments can be made for up to 1 
year or more, from £5 million to £7.5 million. These are the most secure counterparties and 
the increased investment limits will allow more flexibility in managing the Council’s 
cashflows.  
 
Reporting lines and segregation of duties 
The TMPs in Appendix B2 have been updated to reflect the appointment of the new 
Accountancy Manager following the restructure in Finance approved at Council in October 
2021. 
 
SONIA 
With the phasing out of LIBID, the Council is now using the SONIA (Sterling Overnight 
Index Average) rate as the Council’s performance benchmark for returns on investments. 
 
IFRS 16 Leasing 
In April 2022, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code Board announced the deferral of 
the implementation of IFRS 16 Leases in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom (the Code) until the 2024-25 financial year.  This change will have 
minimal impact to Breckland as we do not have any significant leases affected by this change.  
 
Borrowing 
The Council has a borrowing need from 2022 for its capital programme.  This can be 
managed currently through internal borrowing and to help manage this, Table 10 of Appendix 
A suggests a continued overdraft limit of £2m to be actioned if necessary. The bank has 

70



agreed in principle to enable an up to figure and this will only be actioned if necessary to 
avoid unnecessary bank fees.   
 
Returns 
Investment earnings will be heavily dependent on economic and political developments, and 
interest rates are expected to continue to increase during 2022/23 from their historic low 
levels.   
 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Recommend to Full Council: 

1) That the updated Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 to 2024-25 at Appendix A is 
approved 

2) That the updated Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A 
(Tables 1-11) are approved 

3) That the updated Investment Strategy 2022-23 (Appendix B) and the detailed criteria 
included in Appendix B1 is approved 

4) That the updated Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2 is approved 
 

2.2 Make amendments to the recommendations before recommending to Full Council to 
approve. 
 

2.3 Do nothing. 
 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To comply with the Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA guidance and to safeguard 

the Council’s financial assets whilst maximising returns. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly on the Treasury Management service so that 

they can adequately scrutinise treasury management activity. 
 

4.2 To set the policy, strategy and parameters for operating the Treasury Management 
function in the remainder of this financial year. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below. 

 
5.1      Financial  
5.1.1     The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included in the report       

 and appendices.  
 
5.2    Risk Management  
5.2.1     I can confirm that risk has been given careful consideration and it is addressed in TMP1    

71



 within the Treasury Policy Statement 2022-23. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N.a. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CFR - Capital Financing Requirement 
7.2 CDS - Credit Default Swap 
7.3 CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.4 CNAV - Constant Net Asset Value 
7.5 DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
7.6 DMADF - Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.7 HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
7.8 LIBID - London Inter-bank Bid rate 
7.9 LIBOR – London Inter-bank Offered Rate 
7.10 MPC – Monetary Policy Committee 
7.11 MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision 
7.12 PFI - Private Finance Initiative 
7.13 PWLB - Public Works Loans Board 
7.14 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 
7.15 TMP - Treasury Management Practice 
7.16 VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
Telephone Number: 07425 618457 
Email: Matthew.Fernandez-Graham@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
 
Appendix A Updated Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 to 

2024-25 
Appendix B Updated Investment Strategy 2022-23 
Appendix B1 Updated Treasury Management Practice (TMP 1) 
Appendix B2 Updated Treasury Management Policy 2022-23 
Appendix C Updated Economic Background (Link Asset Services) 
Appendix D Updated Approved Countries for Investment 

 

 

72



Appendix A 

Updated Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 to 2024-25 and Prudential Indicators 
 
Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

CIPFA published the revised codes on 20th December 2021 and has stated that implementation of 
the Prudential Code is not required until the 2023/24 financial year. There is no implementation 
date specified for the Treasury Management Code. This Council has to have regard to these codes 
of practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy, and also related reports during the financial year, which are taken to Full Council for 
approval. 

The revised Treasury Management Code requires all investments and investment income to 
be attributed to one of the following three purposes: - 
 

Treasury management 
Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity, this type of 
investment represents balances which are only held until the cash is required for use.  
Treasury investments may also arise from other treasury risk management activity which seeks 
to prudently manage the risks, costs or income relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury 
investments. 

 
Service delivery 
Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services including housing, 
regeneration and local infrastructure. Returns on this category of investment which are funded 
by borrowing are permitted only in cases where the income is “either related to the financial 
viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”. 

 
Commercial return 
Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or direct service 
provision purpose.  Risks on such investments should be proportionate to a council’s financial 
capacity – i.e., that ‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without 
unmanageable detriment to local services. An authority must not borrow to invest primarily for 
financial return. 

 

The revised Treasury Management code will require an authority to implement the 
following:  

 adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury indicator to support the financing risk 
management of the capital financing requirement; this is to be shown in chart form for a 
minimum of ten years, with material differences between the liability benchmark and actual 
loans to be explained. As this Council is not expecting to borrow externally this year, this 
has not yet been developed, but will be considered when developing plans for next year; 

 long term treasury investments, (including pooled funds), are to be classed as commercial 
investments unless justified by a cash flow business case; 

 pooled funds are to be included in the indicator for principal sums maturing in years beyond 
the initial budget year; 

 amendment to the knowledge and skills register for officers and members involved in the 
treasury management function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity of the 
treasury management conducted by each council;  

73



 reporting to members is to be done quarterly, to include prudential indicators. 

 enviromental, social and governance (ESG) issues to be addressed within an authority’s 
treasury management policies and practices (TMP1). (This area is under further 
development by CIPFA.) 

The main requirements of the Prudential Code relating to service and commercial 
investments are:  

 The risks associated with service and commercial investments should be proportionate to 
their financial capacity – i.e. that plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or reserves 
without unmanageable detriment to local services. 

 An authority must not borrow to invest for the primary purpose of commercial return. 

 It is not prudent for local authorities to make any investment or spending decision that will 
increase the CFR, and so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related 
to the functions of the authority, and where any commercial returns are either related to the 
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose. 

 An annual review should be conducted to evaluate whether commercial investments should be 
sold to release funds to finance new capital expenditure or refinance maturing debt. 

 A prudential indicator is required for the net income from commercial and service 
investments as a proportion of the net revenue stream. 

 Create new Investment Management Practices to manage risks associated with non-
treasury investments, (similar to the current Treasury Management Practices). 

The authority’s capital strategy or investment strategy should include:  

Investments for service or commercial purposes:  

– the authority’s approach to investments for service or commercial purposes (together 
referred to as non-treasury investments), including defining the authority’s objectives, risk 
appetite and risk management in respect of these investments, and processes ensuring 
effective due diligence  

– an assessment of affordability, prudence and proportionality in respect of the authority’s 
overall financial capacity (ie whether plausible losses could be absorbed in budgets or 
reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services)  

– details of financial and other risks of undertaking investments for service or commercial 
purposes and how these are managed  

– limits on total investments for service purposes and for commercial purposes respectively 
(consistent with any limits required by other statutory guidance on investments) 

– requirements for independent and expert advice and scrutiny arrangements (while 
business cases may provide some of this material, the information contained in them will 
need to be periodically re-evaluated to inform the authority’s overall strategy)  

74



– state compliance with paragraph 51 of the Prudential Code in relation to investments for 
commercial purposes, in particular the requirement that an authority must not borrow to 
invest primarily for financial return. 

As this Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy deals 
principally with treasury management investments, the categories of service delivery and 
commercial investments will be dealt with primarily as part of the Capital Strategy report, which will 
be updated for 2023/24 in accordance with CIPFA’s implementation timescale. 

75



Clauses to be Formally adopted  
 
CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations adopt the following four clauses. 
 
1 This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury and investment 
management: 
– a treasury management policy statement stating the policies, objectives and approach to risk 
management of its treasury management activities 
– suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in which the organisation 
will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control 
those activities 
– investment management practices (IMPs) for investments that are not for treasury management 
purposes. 
The content of the policy statement, TMPs and IMPs will follow the recommendations contained in 
Sections 6, 7 and 8 of the TM Code, subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the 
particular circumstances of this organisation. Such amendments will not result in the organisation 
materially deviating from the TM Code’s key principles. 
 
2 This Council will receive reports on its treasury and investment management policies, practices 
and activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-
year review and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in its TMPs and IMPs. 
 
3 This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring 
of its treasury management policies and practices to Governance and Audit Committee, and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the Assistant Director Finance 
(Section 151 Officer), who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement, TMPs 
and IMPs, and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on treasury management. 
 
4 This Council nominates Governance and Audit Committee to be responsible for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 
 
In approving this Strategy, the Council formally adopts the above clauses. 

76



The Capital Prudential Indicators 2022-23 to 2024-25 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.  The 
output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed 
to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. Regulations require the Full 
Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least annually. 
 
Prudential Indicator 1: Capital Expenditure and financing 
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.   
 
Table 1 

Capital Expenditure 
£ 

2020-21 
Actual 

2021-22 
Actual 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Service Investments 6,882,718    6,530,133 11,044,786 1,939,925 1,725,637 

Capital Loans    362,993 83,324 73,864 0 0 

Commercial 
Investments * 

0 0 0 0 0 

Total 7,245,711 6,613,457 11,118,651 1,939,925 1,725,637 

This table is in line with the capital outturn report to Cabinet May 2022 
 
*Capital expenditure on commercial investments, i.e. on projects undertaken primarily for yield, 
would mean that there would be no access to PWLB borrowing, and the revised Codes prohibit 
any other form of borrowing to make commercial investments.  
 
Other long term liabilities: The above financing need excludes other long term liabilities, such as 
PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments.  
 
The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are being 
financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in a funding borrowing 
need. 
 
Table 2  

Capital 
Expenditure £’000 

2020-21 
Actual 

2021-22 
Actual 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Total 7,246 6,613 11,119 1,940 1,726 

Financed by:      

Capital grants and 
S106 Funds 

2,794 2,917 4,566 1,172 1,172 

Capital receipts and 
reserves 

3,242 1,590 2,626 211 197 

Revenue and MRP 847 1,328 964 76 76 

Capital Loans 363 83 74 - - 

Net financing need 
for the year 
(borrowing req’d) 

Nil 695 2,889 481 281 

 
This table is in line with the capital outturn report to Cabinet May 2022 
 
 
Prudential Indicator 2: The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is 
simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either 
revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing 

77



need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the 
CFR.  Whilst the CFR is negative, no borrowing is required. 
 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a statutory 
annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each asset’s life and 
so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used. 
 
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes and finance leases).  Whilst 
these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
schemes include a borrowing facility by the PFI or Lease provider and so the Council is not 
required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has £7,511k of such 
schemes within the CFR.  The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 
 
Table 3:  

£’000 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

Opening CFR   (223) 202 2,182 1,740 

Movement in CFR 425 1,980   (442)      (659) 

Closing CFR  202 2,182 1,740 1,081 

 

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing need for the year 695 2,889 
 

481 281 

Less MRP and other financing 
movements 

(270) (909) (923) (940) 

Movement in CFR 425 1,980 (442) (659) 

 
This table indicates that the Council has a borrowing need within this reporting period.  This 
position will be reviewed during 2022-23 to ensure internal balances are sufficient to cover these 
amounts from internal borrowing.  The CFR and available cash will need to be monitored closely to 
ensure future capital expenditure remains affordable.  As per the Capital strategy, any Government 
funding available for specific initiatives will be sought to enable projects to be self-financing.   
Any decision to borrow externally for capital projects will only be supported if the business case for 
the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the taxpayer through the council tax 
charge.  The council would not undertake any un-supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable 
capital receipt resources available. 
 
Through the use of cash balances, the Council is currently expecting to avoid the need to borrow 
externally and the forecast for external borrowing is nil as shown in the table below. 
 
Table 4 

External borrowing 
£m 

2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

Service spend 0 0 0 0 0 
Housing 0 0 0 0 0 
Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0 
Preventative action 0 0 0 0 0 
Treasury Management 0 0 0 0 0 
Projects for yield 0 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Core funds and expected investment balances 
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or 
other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments 

78



unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed 
below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day to day cash 
flow balances. 
 
Table 5 

Year End Resources 
£’000 

2021-22 
Actual 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Earmarked reserves 18,812 17,000 16,400 14,100 

Provisions 2,272 781 - - 

Other 300 (879) 766 (1,895) 

Total core funds 21,384 16,902 17,166 12,205 

Working capital* 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

Expected investments 16,384 11,902 12,166 7,205 

*Working capital balances are estimated year end; may be higher or lower during the year. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital spend each 
year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is 
also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision – 
VRP). 
 
DLUHC regulations have been issued which require the Full Council to approve an MRP 
Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as there 
is a prudent provision.  The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full 
Council to approve the following MRP Statement: 
Breckland has fully financed its capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, therefore there is 
no MRP requirement anticipated, other than for the PFI schemes.   
 
From 1st April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and Finance Leases) the MRP 
policy will be: 

 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance 
with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction) (option 3); 

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.   
 
Repayments included in annual PFI or Finance Leases are applied as MRP. 
 
Affordability prudential indicators 
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, but 
within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the capital 
investment plans.  These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances.  The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to recommend to 
Full Council to approve the following indicators: 
 
Prudential Indicator 3: Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.  Where financing costs to net 
revenue stream are negative, this is because the Council is earning interest on its balances as 
opposed to paying interest on its borrowing. 
 
Table 6 

% 2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Non-HRA 1.19 0.84 2.05 

79



The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in the agreed 
budget.   
 
The Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 to 2024-25 
 
Borrowing 
The capital expenditure plans set out in the prudential indicators (above) provide details of the 
service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash 
is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available 
to meet this service activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the 
relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual 
investment strategy. 
 
Current portfolio position 
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2022, is summarised below.  
 
Table 7 
 

 
Prudential Indicator 4: Actual external debt  
 
The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows the actual 
external debt (the treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing. 
 
Table 8 

External Debt 
£’000 

2021-22 
Estimate 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Actual gross debt at 31 March  - - - - 

The Capital Financing Requirement  202 2,182 1,740 1,081 

 
 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 

31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

 

31.3.21 
Actual 

% 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 

% 

Treasury investments     

Banks 13,398 48.90% 23,562 58.09% 

Building Societies - rated 7,000 25.55% 15,000 36.98% 

Local authorities 7,000 25.55% 0  

DMADF (H M Treasury) 0  2,000 4.93% 

Total managed in house 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

Bond funds 0  0  

Property funds 0  0  

Cash fund managers 0  0  

Total managed externally 0  0  

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

80



Prudential Indicator 5: Gross debt against CFR 
Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council 
operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that 
its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus 
the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022-23 and the following two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for 
revenue purposes. 
 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in 2021/22 and expects to comply with it in 2022/23.  However, as detailed in Table 3, the 
CFR will need to be monitored closely to ensure that future capital expenditure remains affordable.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the capital budget. 
 
Non-Financial Investments  
The value of the non-financial investments held by the Council and the yield are as follows: 
 
Table 9 

 31/3/2019 31/3/2020 31/3/2021 

Value of Investment Property *      £31,149,250       £32,013,200 £31,701,400 

Finance Leases £9,802,973   £9,786,226 £10,103,502 

Yield 7.10% 6.1% 6.1% 

Average return on cash investments  0.891% 0.892% 0.473% 

 
* NB yield figures are taken from indicator BSCPIND010 on the performance system, Including 
finance leases.  Some properties that for financial reporting purposes are categorised as Property 
Plant & Equipment/Surplus are part of the yield calculation. 
 
The S151 officer confirms that the fair value of the non-financial investments is sufficient to provide 
security against loss.  The investment properties are fully financed and no debt liability applies to 
these assets. 
 
As the Council has an underlying need to borrow, it has reviewed options to exit its commercial 
investments to avoid having to borrow. The negative impact on the revenue budget of exiting 
commercial properties would be expected to exceed the interest costs of borrowing. It is therefore 
considered that exiting existing commercial investments would not be prudent at this time, even 
more so as only internal borrowing is anticipated in the planning period. This will be reviewed 
annually. 
 
Borrowing in respect of non-financial investments 
The Prudential Code states that borrowing should not take place in advance of need purely to profit 
from the investment of the extra sum borrowed. 
 
This authority has not undertaken borrowing in advance of need and the following table sets out 
any borrowing that has taken place in respect of non-financial investments and measures the 
impact of such activity: 
 
Table 10 

£’000 2021-22 
Estimate 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Value of borrowing - - - - 

Debt to net service ratio - - - - 

Commercial income to net service ratio - - - - 

Investment cover ratio - - - - 

Loan to value ratio - - - - 

81



 

As no borrowing has occurred, there are no opportunities and risks to report on over the repayment 
period. 

Should the Council undertake any borrowing, the maximum exposure to borrowing costs (i.e. 
interest repayments and MRP) will not exceed £500,000 per year in aggregate at any one time 
over all areas.   
 
Prudential Indicator 6: Ratio of net income from commercial and service investments to net 
revenue stream 
 
This indicator shows the proportion of net income from commercial and service investments 
compared to the net revenue stream from taxation and government grants. For this Council, the 
net income figure consists of the surplus generated by commercial property. This indicator is 
intended to show the financial exposure of the authority to the loss of income. 
 
Table 11 

% 2020-21 
Actual 

2021-22 
Actual 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Commercial investments 9.90 13.34 17.20 17.62 16.82 

 
 
Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 
 
Prudential Indicator 7: The operational boundary.  This is the limit which external debt is not 
normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be 
lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt. 
 
Table 12 

Operational boundary 
£’000 

2021-22 
Estimate 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

2024-25 
Estimate 

Debt - - - - 

Other long term liabilities 7,511 7,227 6,929 6,614 

Total 7,511 7,227 6,929 6,614 

 
Prudential Indicator 8: The authorised limit for external debt.  A further key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a legal limit beyond 
which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the Full Council.  It 
reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but 
is not sustainable in the longer term. 

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those 
of a specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

2. The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full Council to 
approve the following authorised limit: 

 
Table 13 

Authorised limit  
£’000 

2020-21 
Forecast 

2021-22 
Estimate 

2022-23 
Estimate 

2023-24 
Estimate 

Debt (Bank overdraft)* 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Other long term liabilities 7,511 7,227 6,929 6,614 

Total 9,511 9,227 8,929 8,614 

 

82



An authorised overdraft of up to £2m is recommended in order to accommodate any short term 
cashflow issues arising from internal borrowing.  However, the Council will operate an overdraft of 
£250k and will only action the upper limit should the need arise. 
 
Borrowing strategy 

Forecasts show there is an underlying need to borrow from 2021-22. The Council is currently 
maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital 
Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s 
reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent 
as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered. 
Borrowing will only take place after full consideration of the need for and the implications of 
borrowing. Short term use of cash balances will be required to fund the capital programme (internal 
borrowing).  The Council’s borrowing strategy will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more 
detailed borrowing strategy be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to 
any external borrowing taking place. 
 
Treasury management limits on activity 
There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these is to restrain the activity 
of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and reducing the impact of any 
adverse movement in interest rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair 
the opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The indicators are: 

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit for variable 
interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments;  

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the previous indicator and 
covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates;  

 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure 
to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower 
limits.  

 
Table 14 
 

£’000 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Interest rate exposures  

 Upper Upper Upper Upper 

Limits on fixed interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0 

Limits on variable interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0 

 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that 
value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  
 
It is not anticipated that the Council will undertake external or long term borrowing during the next 
three years.   However, this will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more detailed borrowing 
strategy be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to any borrowing 
taking place.  Should the Council make a decision to borrow, it will consider loans offered from all 
available lenders. 
 
Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both HRA and non-HRA 
borrowing.  However, consideration will still need to be given to sourcing funding from the following 
sources, among others, for the following reasons: 
 

83



 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or so – still cheaper 
than the Certainty Rate). 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some 
banks, out of forward dates where the objective is to avoid a “cost of carry” or to 
achieve refinancing certainty over the next few years). 

 The Municipal Bonds Agency 

 The UK Infrastructure Bank 

Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these alternative funding 
sources. 
 

84



Prospects for interest rates (as at June 2022) – See Commentary from Link Asset Services 
in Appendix C 

A comparison of the Link forecast with one from Capital Economics, an independent forecaster, is 
shown below. 
 

 
 

The Council will be mindful of Link’s comments when formulating its borrowing strategy. 

 

85



Appendix B 
 

Annual Investment Strategy 
 
Investment policy  
 
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC - this was formerly the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)) and CIPFA have extended 
the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial investments.  This report 
deals primarily with treasury (financial) investments, (as managed by the treasury management 
team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets and service 
investments, are primarily covered in the separate Capital Strategy. 
 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services 
Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the CIPFA TM Code”).   
 
The Council’s investment priorities will be Security first, Portfolio Liquidity second, then Yield 
(return). 
 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate with 
proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic 
climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs. 
However, where appropriate (from an internal as well as external perspective), the Council will also 
consider the value available in periods up to 2 years with high credit rated financial institutions, as 
well as wider range fund options. 
  
In accordance with the above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA, and in order to minimise the 
risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a 
list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long 
Term ratings.   
 
Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important to continually 
assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the Council will engage 
with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay 
that information on top of the credit ratings.  
 
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process 
on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 
 
The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which will also 
enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. 
 
The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation of risk.   
 
This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in appendix B1 under the categories 
of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.  

 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 
maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to maturity if originally they 

86



were classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the maturity period 
exceeding one year.  
 

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods 
in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. (Non-specified 
investments which would be specified investments apart from originally being for a 
period longer than 12 months, will be classified as being specified once the remaining 
period to maturity falls to under twelve months.) 
 

 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in appendix B1. Appendix 
B1 repeats the tables shown under Appendix B2 TMP4[4]. Counterparty limits will be as set 
through the Council’s treasury management practices as set out in Appendix B2.  
 
Creditworthiness policy  
 
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link.  This service employs a 
sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 
with the following overlays:  

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.   
 
 
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands:  

 Yellow 5 years * 
 Purple  2 years 
 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 
 Orange 1 year 
 Red  6 months 
 Green  100 days   
 No colour  not to be used  

 
*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt. 
 
How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in Appendix B2 (shown separately for 
approval at Appendix B1). 
 
The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 

87



these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use. 
 
All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service.  

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset 
Services.  Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list. 

 
This Council will place reliance on the use of this external service but it will in addition use market 
data and market information, information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making. 
 
Country and sector limits 
 
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from the UK or countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  
The individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. The list of countries 
that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list 
will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 
 
Investment strategy 
 
Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow requirements and the 
outlook for short-term interest rates.  
 
Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances 
are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow, where cash sums can be 
identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.  

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short 
term or variable.  

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer periods. 

The Bank Rate is currently 1.25% (June 2022) but is expected to rise regularly during this reporting 
period (as per Link Asset services), meaning that investments will gnerally be kept shorter so as to 
benefit from higher rates later on.   
 
Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:  

 2022/23 2.75% 

 2023/24 2.50% 

 2024/25 2.25% 

 
 
 

88



 
 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year are as follows:  

 2022/23 1.00% 

 2023/24 1.00% 

 2024/25 1.00% 

 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant access and notice 
accounts, and short-dated deposits (overnight to 100 days) in order to benefit from the 
compounding of interest. 
 
Investment treasury indicator and limit – total principal funds invested for greater than 364 days 
and 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-
end.   
 
Table 1  

£’000 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 

Principal sums invested > 364 or >365 days 7,500 5,000 nil 

This allows for £5m of investments longer than a year.  No investment will be made without prior 
reference to Link Asset Services and confirmation that the cash is available for the recommended 
time period. 
 
Investment risk benchmarking 
These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached from time to time, 
depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is 
that officers will monitor the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage 
risk as conditions change.  Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with supporting reasons in 
the mid-year or Annual Report. 
 
Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, when 
compared to these historic default tables, is: 

 0.08% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio 
Liquidity – in respect of this the Council seeks to maintain: 

 Bank overdraft – up to £2m 

 Liquid short term deposits of at least £5m available with a week’s notice. 

 Weighted average life is expected to be less than 1 year to reflect the short term nature of 
current deposits. However, this is not a benchmark but is measured and reported for 
information and will be subject to change as opportunities for longer term deposits in line 
with our counterparty list arise. 

Yield – local measures of yield benchmarks are: 

 Investments – internal returns above the Overnight SONIA compounded rate 
 
In addition, that the security benchmark for each individual year is: 
Table 2 

 1 year 2 years 3 years 

Maximum 0.06% 0.06% 0.08% 

Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure and would not constitute an 
expectation of loss against a particular investment.  These percentages are reviewed by Link Asset 
Services and if there is any change to the maximum risk percentages, these will be updated and 
reported accordingly. 

89



 
 
End of year investment report 
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report. 
 
Non-Financial Investments 
The Council’s approach to non-financial investments is set out in section 4 of the Capital Strategy. 
 

90



Appendix B1 

 
Investment Criteria 
 
Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement. 
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:  
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable. 
 
LOANS: 

1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for local economic 
growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans. 

2 Loans to Parish Councils subject to approval by S151 Officer and relevant Member.  Each 
application to be considered on its own merits. 

3 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 
capital purposes 

 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 

1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments. 

2 (Non-financial investments). These are assets held primarily for financial return and are 
treated as capital expenditure.   

 
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories. 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles, which all 
reflect the latest Link creditworthiness advice, are: 
Specified Investments – 

 

Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable) 

Money 
and/or % 
Limit 

Time Limit 

DMADF – UK Government Yellow £7.5 million Up to 5 years* 

Term deposits with banks 
and building societies 

Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£5 million 
£5 million 
N/a 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year ** 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£5 million 
£5 million 
N/a 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year ** 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Local authorities N/A £5 million 

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the 
Governance and Audit Committee 

91



The Council’s own banker  £5 million 

If the Council’s own banker fails 
to meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.   

Money Market Funds and 
Ultra Short Dated Bond 
Funds 

AAA rated £5 million 

Link Asset services will support 
the selection of appropriate Funds 
(Per Link advice, removed 
reference to only using as a last 
resort) 
 

Loans 

 
Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes 

N/A £5m 

 
Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5 
 
Any other loans for capital purposes 
to be approved by Full Council. 
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate. 

Loans for financial 
assistance 

N/A £0.5m 
A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 
aggregate  

 

Non-Specified Investments – (financial) 

 
Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band 

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

UK Government gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

UK Government 
Treasury Bills 

UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks 

UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
 

£7.5 million 
 

Up to 2 years  
 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
 

£7.5 million 
 

Up to 2 years  
 

Enhanced cash funds   
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Corporate bond funds   
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Gilt funds  
UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

92



Property funds    
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Local authorities N/A £5 million 

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the 
Governance and Audit Committee 

 
* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty over 2 years will 
be £5m 
 
** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list) 
 
NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits 
 
An up-to-date list of all available counterparties and how they meet the above criteria has been 
provided by Link and is in Appendix E. 
 
Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial) 

 
Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band 

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

Non-financial 
investments 

N/A N/A 

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy  
 

 
 
To ensure proportionality and affordability the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix A Tables 
7 & 8) identify: 

1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved 

2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so 

2.1. debt to net service ratio 

2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio 

2.3. Investment cover ratio 

2.4. Loan to value ratio 

2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period.  

 
Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken. 

93



Appendix B2 
 

THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 2022-23 

 
1 Breckland Council follows CIPFA in defining its Treasury Management activities as 

“the management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

2 Breckland Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its Treasury Management 
activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of Treasury 
Management activities will focus on the risk implications for the Council and any 
financial instruments entered into to manage these risks. 

 
3 Breckland Council acknowledges that effective Treasury Management will provide 

support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in Treasury 
Management, and to employing suitable, comprehensive performance measurement 
techniques, within the context of effective risk management. 

94



 TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES 

  
 The CIPFA code identifies three key principles to which all Councils are expected to 
adhere: 

 
KEY PRINCIPLE 1 
 
Public service organisations should put in place formal and comprehensive objectives, 
policies and practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for the effective management 
and control of their treasury management activities. 
 
KEY PRINCIPLE 2 
 
Their policies and practices should make clear that the effective management and control 
of risk are prime objectives of their treasury management activities and that responsibility 
for these lies clearly within their organisations. Their appetite for risk should form part of 
their annual strategy, including any use of financial instruments for the prudent 
management of those risks, and should ensure that priority is given to security and portfolio 
liquidity when investing treasury management funds. 
 
KEY PRINCIPLE 3 
 
They should acknowledge that the pursuit of value for money in treasury management, and 
the use of suitable performance measures, are valid and important tools for responsible 
organisations to employ in support of their business and service objectives; and that within 
the context of effective risk management, their treasury management policies and practices 
should reflect this. 
 
It is CIPFA’s view that throughout the public services, the priority for treasury management 
is to protect capital rather than to maximise return. The avoidance of all risk is neither 
appropriate nor possible. However, a balance must be struck with a keen responsibility for 
public money. Breckland Council shares this view and adheres to the three key principles. 

95



 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP’s) 
 

Breckland Council has in place the following Treasury Management practices to which 
schedules will be attached where appropriate to specify the systems and routines to be 
employed and the records to be maintained. 

 
 TMP 1 

Risk Management (including investment and risk management criteria for non-treasury 
investment portfolios). 

 
TMP 2 
Performance Measurement (including methodology and criteria for assessing the 
performance and success of non-treasury investments. 
 
TMP 3 
Decision Making and Analysis. 
 
TMP 4 
Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques. 
 
TMP 5 
Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements 
including a statement of the governance arrangements for decision making in relation 
to non-treasury investments. 
 
TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and Management Information Arrangements including for non- 
treasury investments. 
 
TMP 7 
Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements. 
 
TMP 8 
Cash and Cash Flow Management. 
 
TMP 9 
Money Laundering. 
 
TMP 10 
Staff training and Qualifications including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 
 
TMP 11 
Use of External service Providers for treasury and non-treasury.  
 
TMP 12 
Corporate Governance. 
 

96



 

TMP 1   RISK MANAGEMENT  

This Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security of the 
principal sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence procedures cover all 
external investment.   
 
In addition, where investments do not give priority for security and liquidity over yield (non-treasury 
investments), the Council will ensure that the decision to invest is explicit and the additional risks 
are set out clearly and the impact on financial sustainability is identified and reported (TMP 1[10]). 
 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151) will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the 
identification, management and control of Treasury and Non-Treasury Management risk, will report 
at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the 
circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s objectives in this respect, 
all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 reporting requirements and management 
information systems requirements.  In respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements 
which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set out in the schedule to this 
document. 
 
TMP 1 [1] 
Counterparty Credit Risk Management 
This Council will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards 
organisations with whom funds may be deposited or investments made, and it will limit its treasury 
management investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 
Approved instruments, methods and techniques 
 
It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other 
financing or derivative arrangements. 
 
The Council's credit and counterparty policies should set out its policy and practices relating to 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) investment considerations. This is a developing area, 
and it is not implied that the Council’s ESG policy will currently include ESG scoring or other real-
time ESG criteria at individual investment level. 
 
In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code, Assistant Director Finance (S151) has 
produced its treasury management practices (TMPs).  This part: TMP 1[1], covering investment 
counterparty policy is covered under TMP4[4] and requires separate approval each year.  The full 
recommendation is found at Appendix B1. 
 
Monitoring of Investment Counterparties 
The credit rating of counterparties will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating 
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Asset Services as and when 
ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion ratings may be 
downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The criteria used are such that a minor 
downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and interest.  Any counterparty failing 
to meet the criteria will be removed from the list immediately by the Assistant Director Finance 
(S151) and if required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be added to the list. 
 
TMP 1 [2] 
Liquidity Risk Management 
The Council will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its Corporate Plan. 
 
This Council will not borrow earlier than required to meet cash flow needs unless there is a clear 
business case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme, to fund future 

97



debt maturities, or to ensure an adequate level of short-term investments to provide liquidity for the 
Council. 
 
TMP 1 [3] 
Interest Rate Risk Management 
 
This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing 
its net interest costs or revenues in accordance with its treasury management policy and strategy 
and in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information 
arrangements. It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved instruments, methods and 
techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time 
retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be subject to the 
consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications. It will ensure that 
any hedging tools such as derivatives are only used for the management of risk and the prudent 
management of financial affairs, and that the policy for the use of derivatives is clearly detailed in 
the annual strategy. 
 
The objective is to minimise the financial risk to which the Council is exposed in both cash deposits 
and borrowing i.e. 
(i) to minimise the interest burden to the Council arising from borrowing: 
(ii) whilst protecting capital sums deposited, to optimise interest earned, unless otherwise 

directed by the Council,. 
 
In order to achieve this objective the following specific policies should be adopted:- 
 
(i) only undertake long-term borrowing if approved by Council to ensure the impact on the 

Council’s financial position is understood. 
(ii) Subject to the debt position (CFR), to retain appropriate levels of capital receipts in order to 

maintain flexibility in the use of interest earned from cash deposits. 
(iii) To lend surplus funds only to approved institutions in the Treasury Strategy in accordance 

with DLUHC Investment Guidance.  A list of Approved Cash Deposit Instruments is 
attached at TMP 4[4]. 

(iv) To minimise short term borrowing by efficient cash flow management. 
 
In balancing risk against return, local authorities should be more concerned to avoid risks than to 
maximise returns 
 
TMP 1 [4] 
Exchange Rate Risk Management 
 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 
 
TMP 1 [5] 
Inflation Risk Management 
 
The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to inflation 
and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s inflation 
exposures. 
 
TMP 1 [6] Refinancing Risk Management 
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are 
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised are 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of 
market conditions prevailing at the time. 
 

98



It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding if this 
might jeopardise achievement of the above. 
 
TMP 1 [7] 
Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 
The Council will ensure that its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory powers 
and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all 
parties with whom it deals in such activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1 [1], it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance 
in respect of the transactions they may affect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of 
care and fees charged. 
 
The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its Treasury 
Management activities and, so far as is reasonable to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of these 
impacting adversely on the Council. 
 
TMP 1 [8] 
Operational Risk, including Fraud, Error and Corruption and Contingency Management 
The Council will ensure it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk of loss 
through inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events and 
also from fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings.  
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective 
contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 
 
TMP 1 [9] 
Price Risk Management 
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will 
not be compressed by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests and 
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 
 
TMP1 [10] 
Non-Treasury Investment Portfolios 
The Council will ensure that non-treasury investments comply with its statutory powers and 
regulatory requirements.  Due diligence will be undertaken prior to purchasing an asset and whilst 
yield is a determining factor, due consideration will be given to the risks relating to: 

1. failure to create income/ exposure to market changes 
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears 
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset 
4. lease arrangements  
5. exposure in one sector  
6. exposure to one/few tenants  

 
Risks 1-6 are currently reported on through the Council’s performance reporting system, Pentana.     
 
The Council’s corporate risk register will also identify key corporate or operational risks on major 
assets. 

99



TMP 2   PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its Treasury Management activities, 
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in 
its Treasury Management Policy Statement. 
Accordingly, the Treasury Management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value 
it adds in support of the Council’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the subject of 
regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other 
grant or subsidy incentives, and of the scope for other potential improvements.  The actual 
performance of the Treasury Management function will be measured using the criteria in TMP 2[1]. 
The criteria will include measures of effective treasury risk management and not only measures of 
financial performance (income or savings). 
 
TMP 2 [1] 
Performance Measurement 
The performance of investment earnings will be measured (and the results verified by Link Asset 
Services) against the following benchmarks: 

a) Maintain liquidity of £5m for no more than 1 week’s maturity; 
b) Overnight SONIA compounded rate  
c) The Yield/liquidity security indicator  

 
TMP 2 [2] 
Performance Measurement (non- treasury investments) 
The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of its assets and the 
Corporate Asset Management Strategy features performance targets which are reported on the 
Council’s performance management system.  This further manages the Council’s risk exposure to 
ensure the financial sustainability of the Council is maintained.   
 
TMP2 [3] 

All financial and non-financial investments are made under relevant legal powers  
Schedule of investments as at 31/03/2022 (amounts are the principal sum invested, and so 
exclude accrued interest) 

Investment type Details Notes 

Financial investments   

  Cash investments less than 1 year £40,562k  

  Cash investments greater than 1 year nil  

   Loans to third parties 

       Mid Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust 

       Breckland Bridge Working Capital  

 

£2,500 

£270,000 

See TMP 4[6] 1-4 

Receive £2,500 annually. 

Due to be repaid 31/3/2024 

Non-financial investments    

  Capital Loans £134,000 See TMP 4[6] 4 

Provision to make loans to 

Breckland Bridge. 

  Investment property 

  Finance Leases (residual value of lease) 

£34,098,690 

£10,027,002 

Valuations for financial reporting 

purposes as at 31/3/2022. 

Joint Ventures 

  Breckland Bridge Ltd 

 

(£275,000) 

 

Balance in 2021/22 accounts 

No borrowing has occurred in respect of any of the investments shown in the schedule above. 

100



 

 TMP 3   DECISION MAKING – AND ANALYSIS 

The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the processes 
and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning from the past, 
and for accountability, e.g. demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all 
issues relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time.  The issues to be 
addressed and processes to be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed in the following 
paragraphs. 
 
TMP 3 [1] 
Formulation of Treasury Management Strategy 

1. Whilst this document outlines the procedures and considerations for the treasury function 
as a whole, requiring revision occasionally, the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 
A) sets out the specific expected treasury activities for the forthcoming financial year.  This 
strategy will be submitted to Council for approval prior to the commencement of each 
financial year. 

 
2. DLUHC guidance allows the strategy to be varied at any time during the year with the   

approval of the Governance and Audit Committee, and by Full Council.  
 

3. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy involves determining the 
appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the anticipated movement in 
both fixed and shorter-term variable interest rates. 

 
4. The Treasury Management Strategy is concerned with the following elements: 

 

 The current portfolio position 

 Cash flow issues based on current activities  

 The Medium Term Financial Plan 

 The Treasury Management Code and the Prudential Code 

 Advice from the Council’s Treasury Management (TM) Advisors 

 Prospects for interest rates, based on TM advisors guidance 

 Treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council 

 The investments strategy 

 Any extraordinary treasury issues 
 

5. The Treasury Management Strategy will establish the expected move in interest rates 
against alternatives (using all available information such as published interest rate forecasts 
where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios. 

 
TMP 3 [2] 
Policy on Interest Rate Exposure 
 
In accordance with Local Government Act 2003 and the CIPFA Prudential Code the Council is 
required each year, to determine:- 
 
(i) an Authorised limit: 
(ii) an Operational Boundary: 
(iii) Prudential and treasury indicators that limit on the proportion of interest which is to be 

subject to fixed and variable rates, limit the maturity structure of borrowings and limit the 
use of long-term investments. 

 

101



 
 

TMP 4   APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within the 
limits and parameters defined in TMP 1, Risk Management. 
 
The Council has reviewed its classification with financial institutions under MiFID II and has set out 
in this document those organisations with which it is registered as a professional client. These 
organisations are Link Group and the counterparties as advised by Link that fall within its 
investment criteria. 
 
TMP 4 [1] 
Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151) shall be responsible for the management of all the Council’s 
borrowing and cash deposit operations in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy as 
determined by the relevant delegations set by Council.  
 
Subject to the scheme of Treasury Management approved by the Council: 

(a) to undertake to negotiation and receipt of or repayment of loans in accordance with 
such policy as may be laid down from time to time by the Cabinet and subject to the 
receipt of the necessary Government sanctions and consents; 

(b) to make suitable arrangements for the investment and realisation of monies surplus 
to the Council’s requirements. 

 
TMP 4 [2] 
Approved Methods of Raising Capital Finance 
 
Part 1, section 1 of LGA 2003 allows Local Authorities to borrow from any source (provided it is in 
Sterling) for the following purposes, providing the Authority adheres to the Prudential Code:- 
 
(i) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment 
 
(ii) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs 
 
TMP 4 [3] 
Approved Sources of Funding 
 

There is no general restriction on the sources of local authority borrowing (except in foreign 
currency) but in practice it is anticipated that the Council will borrow on a short term basis from 
authorised banks, other local authorities, UK Infrastructure Bank and/or PWLB Public Works Loan 
Board). 

 
TMP4 [4] 
Approved Organisations and instruments for Cash Deposits & Investments 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with 
the following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to the Council for approval as 
necessary.  These criteria are separate to that which chooses Specified and Non-Specified 
investments as they select which counterparties the Council will choose rather than defining what 
its investments are.  
 
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays:  

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

102



 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands:  
 

 Yellow 5 years * 
 Purple  2 years 
 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 
 Orange 1 year 
 Red  6 months 
 Green  100 days   
 No colour  not to be used  

 
*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt. 
 
How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in this Appendix B2 (shown 
separately for approval at Appendix B1). 
 
The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use. 
 
All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service.  

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also 
use market data and market information, information on sovereign support for banks and the credit 
ratings of that supporting government. 
 
Country limits 
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from the UK and countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  
The individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. The list of countries 
that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list 
will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 
 
Annual Investment Strategy - The key requirements of both the Code and the investment 
guidance are to set an annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the 
following year, covering the identification and approval of following: 
 

103



 The strategy guidelines for choosing and placing investments, particularly non-specified 
investments. 

 The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can be 
committed. 

 Specified investments the Council will use.  These are high security (i.e. high credit 
rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines are given), and high 
liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more than a year. 

 Non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying the 
general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall amount of 
various categories that can be held at any time. 

 

The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 

 
Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement. 
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:  

All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable. 

 
LOANS: 

1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for for local 
economic growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans. 

2 Loans to Parish Councils subject to approval by S151 Officer and relevant Member.  Each 
application to be considered on it’s own merit. 

3 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 
capital purposes 

 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 

1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments. 

2 (Non-financial investments).  
These are assets held primarily for financial return and are treated as capital expenditure.   

 
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories. 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles, which all 
reflect the latest Link creditworthiness advice, are: 
Specified Investments – 

 

Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable) 

Money 
and/or % 
Limit 

Time Limit 

DMADF – UK Government Yellow £7.5 million 5 years* 

Term deposits with banks 
and building societies 

Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£5 million 
£5 million 
N/a 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year ** 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£7.5 million 
£5 million 
£5 million 
N/a 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year ** 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

104



Local authorities N/A £5 million 

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the 
Governance and Audit Committee 

The Council’s own banker  £5 million 

If the Council’s own banker fails 
to meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.   

Money Market Funds and 
Ultra Short Dated Bond 
Funds 

AAA rated £5 million 

Link Asset services will support 
the selection of appropriate Funds 
(Per Link advice, removed 
reference to only using as a last 
resort) 
 

Loans 

 
Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes 

N/A £5m 

 
Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5 
 
Any other loans for capital purposes 
to be approved by Full Council. 
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate. 

Loans for financial 
assistance 

N/A £0.5m 
A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 
aggregate  

 

Non-Specified Investments – (financial) 

 
Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band 

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

UK Government gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

UK Government 
Treasury Bills 

UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks 

UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
 

£7.5 million 
 

Up to 2 years  
 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies 

Purple 
 

£7.5 million 
 

Up to 2 years  
 

Enhanced cash funds   
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Corporate bond funds   
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Gilt funds  
UK sovereign 
rating  

 
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

105



Property funds    
Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment 

Local authorities N/A £5 million 

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the 
Governance and Audit Committee 

 
* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty over 2 years will 
be £5m 
 
** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list) 
 
NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits 
 
Where this Council intends to use derivative instruments for the management of risks, these will be 
limited to those set out in its annual treasury strategy. The organisation will seek proper advice and 
will consider that advice when entering into arrangements to use such products to ensure that it 
fully understands those products. 
 
 
Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial) 

 
Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band 

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

Non-financial 
investments 

N/A N/A 

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy  
 

 
 

To ensure proportionality and affordability the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix A 
Tables 7 & 8) identify: 

1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved 

2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so 

2.1. debt to net service ratio 

2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio 

2.3. Investment cover ratio 

2.4. Loan to value ratio 

2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period.  

 
Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken. 
 
 

106



TMP 4 [5] 
Approved Organisations for Investment – Criteria for selecting 
The Council as part of its Treasury Management activities employs a professional advisor (Link 
Asset Services) to: 
 

 Advise on investment counterparty credit-worthiness, including provision of prudent parameters 
established in the light of information from the world’s main Credit Rating Agencies, various 
other analysts (internal and external to Link Asset Services), and associations. 

 To provide reports and analyses monthly or when required. 

 Provide economic and interest rate forecasts 

 Advise on establishing a sound investment policy and the drafting of best practice Policy, 
Strategy and Out-turn reports 

 Provide general treasury management advice 

 Provide one in-house treasury management workshop  

 Provide a benchmarking service 

 Provide seminars for attendance free of charge 

 Provide weekly and periodic publications/directives 

 Provide access to a helpline to provide advice on any Treasury Management issues 
 
TMP 4 [6] 
Group, Maturity and Sector Limits 
These limits are reviewed periodically based upon advice received from Link Asset Services and 
are embedded in TMP4 [4]  
 
Country and sector considerations - Due care will be taken to consider the country, group and 
sector exposure of the Council’s investments.  In addition: 

  no more than £5m will be placed with institutions in any individual non-UK country at 
any time (i.e. £5m maximum per country); 

 limits in place above will apply to Group companies; 

 Sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness. 

Use of additional information other than credit ratings – Additional requirements under the 
Code of Practice now require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the above 
criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate 
counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market information will be applied before 
making any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.   

 
There is a further treasury prudential indicator limiting the amount placed for greater than 364 & 
365 days: 
 

£m 2022/23  
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

2024/25 
£m 

Maximum principal sums invested  
either > 364 or >365 days  

7.5 5 0 

 
Loans: 

1 An interest-free loan of £50,000 to the Mid-Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust for a period 
of twenty five years with no payment for the first five years (1998 – 2002), followed by 
£2,500 each year after. 

2 Car loans to employees with the length and rate of the loans in line with the Breckland 
Assisted Car Purchase Scheme guidelines. 

3 Salary sacrifice schemes with the length of repayments in line with the Breckland salary 
sacrifice scheme guidelines 

4 Loans to Parish Councils subject to approval by S151 Officer and relevant Member.  Each 
application to be considered on it’s own merit. 

5 As agreed at the Governance and Audit Committee 25th July 2015 (and Council 3rd 
September 2015 & 31st October 2019) allow loans to be made to Breckland Bridge Ltd to 

107



enable the Council to exercise its “option to finance” agreed projects (in addition to the 
Riverside funding approved at Council on 26th March 2015)  

a. Any loans to be approved by the S151 Officer on a project by project basis, subject 
to the project being part of a business plan approved by Council and the necessary 
due diligence being undertaken.   

b. The total value of loans not to exceed £5m at any one time and no loans to be made 
for periods in excess of 2 years without prior approval of the Governance and Audit 
Committee and Full Council 

 
All limits to be operated on a pragmatic basis relating to the particular circumstances eg extending 
LINK time limits by up to 2 weeks to secure an investment opportunity in advance of the start date 
 

108



 

TMP 5 ORGANISATION, CLARITY, SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND DEALING 
ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of its 
treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of 
optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated 
manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management responsibilities. 
 
The principal on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with setting 
treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling these policies, 
particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering 
of treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of the treasury management function. 
 
If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to depart 
from these principles, the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will ensure that the reasons are 
properly reported in accordance with TMP 6 Reporting requirements and management information 
arrangements, and the implications properly considered and evaluated. 
 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will ensure that there are clear written statements of 
the responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the arrangements for 
absence cover. These arrangement are set out in TMP 5[1].  The responsible officer will also 
ensure that at all times those engaged in treasury management will follow the policies and 
procedures set out.  
 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will ensure there is proper documentation for all 
deals and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  
Procedure notes are maintained by the Accountancy Manager.       
 
The delegations to the responsible officer in respect of treasury management are set out in TMP 5 
[2].  The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance 
with the organisation’s policy statement and TMP’s and the Standard of Professional Practice on 
Treasury Management. 
 
TMP 5 [ 1] 
Statement of responsibilities 
Reporting lines for Treasury Management are: 
Section 151 responsibilities are delegated to the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer)  
 
Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer)  Accountancy Manager (P1515)  Exchequer & 
Systems Manager (P1532)  Finance Officers (as described below). 
 
Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) is responsible for the management of all the Council’s 
borrowing and cash deposit operations, which is then delegated to the Accountancy Manager 
(P1515) 
 
The Accountancy Manager (P1515) is responsible for the day-to-day operation of Treasury 
Management. 
(a) Ensure compliance with Treasury Management Policy 
(b) Ensure the Council is aware of market conditions and risk versus profit factors 
(c) Monitoring council’s cash flow and optimising cash deposits to meet with the interest 

requirements of the medium-term financial plan. 
(d) Approval of the value and maturity dates for cash deposits and maintaining all the necessary 

paperwork 
(e) Verification and authorisation of payments and beneficiary data base 
(f) Authorisation of inter account transfers 
(g) Authorisation of deposits to DMADF up to one month 
(h) Liaising with Brokers, Link Asset Services and other financial institutions regarding interest 

rates 

109



(i) Finance Officers - P0021, P0028 and P1516 act as additional authorisers and inputting UK 
payments and inter account transfers 

 
The Exchequer and Systems Manager (P1532) to act as cover for the Accountancy Manager, but 
authorisation of all deposits to be required from the S151 Officer. 
 
The Finance Officer’s post number’s P1180, P1181, P1182 and F1238 are responsible for: 
(a) Inputting UK payments and inter account transfers 
(b) Maintaining all the necessary paperwork 
(c) Monitoring the day-to-day cash position to ensure the council does not need to make use of its 

overdraft facility 
 
TMP 5 [2] 
Delegation of Treasury Management responsibilities 

 
1. This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 

management: 

  A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach 
to risk management of its treasury management activities; 

 Suitable TMPs, setting out the manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve 
those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities.  

2. The Authority will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a 
mid year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs.  

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its treasury 
management policies and practices to the Governance and Audit Committee, and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the Assistant Director 
Finance (S151 Officer), who will act in accordance with the Council's policy statement and 
TMPs and CIPFA's Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

4. The Council nominates the Governance and Audit Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

 
TMP 5 [3] 
Governance arrangements for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments  
 
The delegation of responsibility for non-treasury investments varies depending on the value and 
the nature of the investment.  The constitution sets out the standard procedures and other specific 
delegations will be used as appropriate.  All decisions will follow the relevant approval route and 
the decision will be recorded 
 
All requests to approve spend will follow the procedures as set out in the Capital Strategy to 
ensure that the balance of risk and reward is fully considered. 

 

110



 

TMP 6   REPORTING REQUIREMENTS and MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the implementation of 
its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and transactions executed in 
pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from 
regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management activities; and on 
the performance of the treasury management function. 
 
As a minimum: 
 
The Full Council (and Governance and Audit Committee) will receive: 
 

 An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year and on the need to 
review the requirements for changes to be made to the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

 

 Mid-year review of treasury activity (including non-financial investments) 
 

 An annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, the effects of the 
decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and any circumstances of non-
compliance with the organisation’s treasury management policy statement and TMPs in the 
preceding financial year, such reports to be submitted as soon as possible before 30th 
September in the succeeding financial year. 

 
The Governance and Audit Committee will have responsibility for the scrutiny of treasury 
management policies and practices. 
 
Cabinet will receive: 
 

 Quarterly Financial performance report on Security, Liquidity and Yield and the Capital 
Programme for Non-Treasury Investments and Prudential Indicators 

 
Performance Board will receive 
 
 Information on any non-financial performance indicators that are Red or Amber if applicable 

 
 

TMP 7   BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING and AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will prepare, and Council will approve and if 
necessary from time to time will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will 
bring together all of the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function, together with 
associated income. The matters to be included in the budget will at minimum be those required by 
statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP 1 
Risk management, TMP 2 Performance measurement and TMP 4 Approved instruments, methods 
and techniques.  
 
The Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will exercise effective controls over this budget and 
will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP 6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements. 
 
The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.  
 
The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to 
all information and papers supporting the activities of the Treasury Management function as are 

111



necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate 
compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices.  

112



 

TMP 8   CASH FLOW AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT    

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the 
Council will be under the control of the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer), and will be 
aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes.  Cash flow projections will be 
prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) will 
ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with TMP 1 [2] Liquidity 
risk management and for the purpose of identifying future borrowing needs (using a liability 
benchmark where appropriate).  
 
The present arrangements for preparing cash flow projections and their form are: 
 
The Accountancy Manager maintains a spreadsheet forecasting the Council’s cashflows, which is 
updated on a daily basis by the Treasury Management Team. The spreadsheet highlights where 
there is any future risk of insufficient liquidity so that this can be addressed in advance. 

113



 

TMP 9   MONEY LAUNDERING  

Whilst the Council is not directly required to implement the requirements of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2017 (except through this TMP), the implications of the Terrorism Act 2000 (amended 
by the Anti-Terrorism and Security Act 2001 and terrorism Act 2006)  and the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 (amended by the Serious organised Crime and Police Act 2005 and the serious Crime 
Act 2015) place an onus of responsibility on individuals associated with the treasury process to 
consider its implications. 
 
The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it in a 
transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will maintain procedures for verifying 
and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions and will ensure that staff 
involved in this are properly trained. Reports of any suspicions of money laundering are to be 
made to the S151 Officer. 
 
Other related policies are the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Whistle Blowing policy. 
 
 
 

TMP 10 STAFF TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS  

 
TMP10 [1] – Staff training and qualifications (including non-financial investments)  
 
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury 
Management function and non- treasury investments are fully equipped to undertake the duties 
and responsibilities allocated to them.  It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both 
capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain 
an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  The Assistant Director Finance (S151 
Officer) will recommend and implement the necessary arrangements including the specification of 
the expertise, knowledge and skills required by each role or member of staff when recruiting and as 
part of the annual performance and development review.  
 
The S151 Officer will ensure that Council Members tasked with treasury management 
responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and those responsibilities. 
 
Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they have 
the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 
 
The present arrangements include annual training for Members and participation by officers in the 
Link benchmarking group, which meets three times a year. 
 
TMP10[2] – Knowledge and skills schedule 
 
Legislation and guidance to be understood by officers deciding on investments and borrowing: 
 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice  
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
DLUHC Guidance on Local Government Investments 
 
Key Competencies Required by officers deciding on investments and borrowing: 
 
Understanding of risk in relation to treasury management 
Knowledge and understanding of financial markets and economic factors influencing them 
Ability to make sound long and short-term decisions 
Understanding of risk in relation to non-financial investments 
 
Qualifications required by officers deciding on investments and borrowing: 

114



 
Preferably a member of a CCAB Accounting Body, e.g. CIPFA 
 
 

TMP 11 USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times. The Council recognises the potential value of employing external 
providers of Treasury Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources.  When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will 
have been fully evaluated against the costs and benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms of their 
appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented and subjected to regular review.  It will ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a 
spread of service providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small number of companies.  
Where services are subject to a formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements 
will always be observed, as well as Breckland Council financial regulations.  The monitoring of 
such arrangements rests with the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer).   
 
The Council has engaged Link Group to provide it with Treasury Management advice. 
 
TMP 11 [1] 
Brokers and Direct Deals   
There are various approved Brokers available for use, the main Brokers available are (but not 
limited to): 

Sterling Brokers Ltd 
Tradition U.K.          
R P Martin 

 
In addition to the use of Brokers, the Treasury Management team also deal directly with some 
Banks & Building Society’s, providing there are on the approved Counterparty list and also use 
Agency services for deals as follows: 

Kings and Shaxson Limited 
Link Agency Treasury Services  
 

TMP11 [2] 
The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required. 

 
 

(xii) TMP 12 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Breckland Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be 
achieved.  Accordingly, the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability. 
 
The Council has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the TM Code. This, together 
with the other arrangements detailed in this document, is considered vital to the achievement of 
proper corporate governance in treasury management, and the S151 Officer will monitor and, if 
and when necessary, report upon the effectiveness of these arrangements. 

115



 

 

Part of Link Group 

Updated 
Interest Rate 
Forecast  
21 June 2022 

116



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 2 

LINK GROUP UPDATED INTEREST RATE FORECAST 
 
Updating of our forecasts 21 June 2022 

 

• Since our last update in May, it is clear central banks in the developed economies have placed the 
dampening down of inflation pressures front and centre of their primary objectives, even if it comes at 
the cost of sluggish growth or, indeed, recession (mild ideally but it is very difficult to micro-manage 
economic performance).  The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) is in step with this approach 
although, arguably, the UK economy is dragging its feet to a greater extent than that seen in the US.   

• We, therefore, forecast Bank Rate to rise faster and further than previously was the case, although we 
are still  a little below market expectations in respect of where Bank Rate peaks.  The market is pricing 
in Bank Rate standing at 3.5% by April 2023.  For now, we forecast Bank Rate will peak at 2.75% but 
we fully accept there is potential upside risk to this projection. 

• So, what are the key factors for consideration?  First, the CPI measure of inflation is already at 9%, 
and the Bank of England anticipates it will peak near 11% just before Christmas.  With the cost-of- 
living squeeze in full swing by that juncture, and unemployment likely to be ticking upwards, we judge 
that the Bank will pause following its March 2023 meeting and judge it has done enough so long as 
inflation starts to fall, albeit at a slow pace.  To that extent, we can envisage the MPC waiting a full 
year before loosening the reins and starting to cut Bank Rate in spring 2024. However, given the 
number of geopolitical factors that could push this forecast off track, we would caution against taking 
a strong view on how interest rate movements evolve and instead focus on optimising balance sheet 
management and the risk management of investment and debt portfolios. 

• Regarding gilt yields, all developed economies have seen a considerable uplift in yields across the 
whole curve since the start of 2022 and, in many ways, gilts have simply played catch-up of late.  To 
that end, we have revised our PWLB forecasts upward and you will even see we have a 3.7% PWLB 
rate projected for the 25-year part of the curve in both 2022 and 2023.  However, as headline inflation 
falls back, we project a slow reduction in gilt yields as investors acknowledge that price pressures are 
gradually coming under control. 

• At the 16 June MPC meeting, part of the reason for the Committee only seeing a 0.25% hike as 
necessary is the prevailing weak economic data.  Q2 GDP is now expected to be only -0.3%.  
Nonetheless, the market is anticipating Bank Rate will now climb to 3.5%. The vote was again 6-3 (the 
same as in May) but the words were more hawkish with the Bank strengthening its forward guidance.  It 
deleted the previous phrase that “some degree of further tightening…may still be appropriate” and 
replaced it with “the scale, pace and timing of any further increases in Bank Rate will reflect the 
Committee’s assessment of the economic outlook and inflationary pressures” and that “the Committee 
will be particularly alert to indications of more persistent inflationary pressures, and will, if necessary, 
act forcefully in response.”  

• Whereas in May two members objected to the guidance that rates will rise further, it appears that all 
members are behind this new, stronger guidance.  However, the growing evidence that firms’ price 
and wage expectations have become dislodged from the 2.0% target suggest that the Bank is between 
a rock and a hard place in navigating the appropriate monetary policy response.  As always, the 
economic data will be key to anticipating whether our assumptions remain sound. 

• As outlined in the May newsflash, international factors cannot be ignored.  The war in Ukraine has 
added to already present inflationary pressures, as economies bounced back from the effects of Covid-
induced lockdowns.  Pricing pressure pertaining to oil, gas, electricity, wheat and fertilisers are only 
some of the better-known aspects.   

Comparison of forecasts for Bank Rate today v. previous forecast

Bank Rate Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

21.06.22 1.75 2.25 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.50 2.50 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

10.05.22 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

Change 0.25 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.50 0.75 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

117



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 3 

• LIBOR and LIBID rates ceased at the end of 2021. In a continuation of our previous forecasts, our 
money market yield forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local authorities for 3 to 12 
months. 

• Our forecasts for average earnings are averages i.e., rates offered by individual banks may differ 
significantly from these averages, reflecting their different needs for borrowing short-term cash at any 
one point in time. 

Our current and previous PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 
20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Link Group Interest Rate View 21.06.22

Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

BANK RATE 1.75 2.25 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.50 2.50 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

  3 month ave earnings 2.00 2.50 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.60 2.50 2.30 2.30 2.20 2.20

  6 month ave earnings 2.50 2.80 3.00 3.00 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.70 2.60 2.50 2.40 2.30

12 month ave earnings 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.00 2.90 2.80 2.60 2.50 2.40 2.40 2.40

5 yr   PWLB 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.30 3.30 3.20 3.10 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.90 2.90

10 yr PWLB 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.40 3.30 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10

25 yr PWLB 3.70 3.70 3.70 3.70 3.70 3.70 3.60 3.50 3.50 3.40 3.40 3.30

50 yr PWLB 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.40 3.40 3.30 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00

Link Group Interest Rate View 10.5.22

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

BANK RATE 1.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

  3 month ave earnings 1.20 1.50 1.70 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

  6 month ave earnings 1.60 1.90 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.00 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90

12 month ave earnings 2.00 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.30 2.30 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10

5 yr   PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

10 yr PWLB 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

25 yr PWLB 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

50 yr PWLB 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70

118



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 4 

A SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF THE FUTURE PATH OF BANK RATE 

• Our central forecast for interest rates was previously updated on 10 May and reflected a view that the 
MPC will be keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering a 0.25% increase in 
Bank Rate in June. Now we expect further 0.25% increases in August, September, November, 
December, February and March i.e., the next six MPC meetings. 

• The CPI measure of inflation is now forecast to rise to above 11% in Q4 2022 and the MPC will be 
keen to stifle the prospect of average earnings data (7% y/y currently including bonuses) providing 
further upside risk to inflationary factors that are primarily being driven by supply-side shortages.   

• When Bank Rate reached 1% in May, the MPC indicated (no earlier than August) that it will also 
consider the extent to which it implements Quantitative Tightening (QT), primarily the selling of its gilt 
holdings. However, they are likely to take any such decision cautiously as they are already not 
refinancing maturing debt. 

• Notwithstanding the MPC’s clear desire to increase Bank Rate throughout 2022, negative real 
earnings, the 54% hike in the Ofgem energy price cap from April (to be followed by a potential 40%+ 
further increase from October), at the same time as employees (and employers) have incurred a 1.25% 
Health & Social Care Levy, growing commodity and food inflation plus council tax rises - all these 
factors will hit households’ finances hard.  However, lower income families will be hit disproportionately 
hard despite some limited assistance from the Chancellor to postpone the full impact of rising energy 
costs. 

• Given the above outlook, it poses a question as to whether the MPC may shift into protecting economic 
growth if it flatlines or contracts through 2022.  Accordingly, we remain tentative about whether the 
MPC will increase Bank Rate as far as the market is currently pricing in (3.5% in April 2023). 

• In the upcoming months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases and 
clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and 
Ukraine, including the manner in which the West and NATO respond through sanctions and/or military 
intervention.  Currently, oil, gas, wheat and other mainstream commodities have risen significantly in 
price and central banks will have to balance whether they prioritise economic growth or try to counter 
supply-side shock induced inflation.  

• On the positive side, consumers are estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over 
from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact of the above increases.  However, most of 
those are held by more affluent people whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their 
income before these increases hit and have few financial reserves.  

 

PWLB RATES 

• The yield curve has steepened considerably since our May update and PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty 
Rates are, generally, in the range of 3% to 3.70%. 

• We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields of the likely 
increases in Bank Rate and the poor inflation outlook (although we thought that in May and markets 
went much further than expected in respect of the gilt market sell-off). 

• It is difficult to say currently what effect the Bank of England starting to sell gilts will have on gilt yields 
now that Bank Rate has hit 1%.  Nothing will be decided before August, however, but the Bank is likely 
to act cautiously as it has already started on not refinancing maturing debt.  A pure roll-off of the peak 
£875bn gilt portfolio by not refinancing bonds as they mature, would see holdings fall to about £415bn 
by 2031, which would be about equal to the Bank’s pre-pandemic holding.  

• Increases in US treasury yields over the next few months could add further upside pressure on gilt 
yields as they have done since the turn of the year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 5 

The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

• The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is to the downside. 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

 

• Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress economic activity 
(accepting that in the near-term this is also an upside risk to inflation and, thus, rising gilt yields). 

 

• The Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes 
UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  
 

• UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial services due to 
complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining issues.  

 

• Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, Iran, China, North Korea and Middle Eastern countries, 
which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.  
 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows 
inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates an even more 
rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  
 

• The Government acts too quickly to cut taxes and/or increases expenditure in the light of the cost-of-living 
squeeze. 
 

• The pound weakens on the back of UK/EU trade friction resulting in investors pricing in a risk premium 
for holding UK sovereign debt. 
 

• Longer term US treasury yields continue to rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than forecast. 

LINK GROUP FORECASTS  

We now expect the MPC to swiftly increase Bank Rate during 2022 and 2023 to combat the sharp increase in 
inflationary pressures. We do not think that the MPC will embark on a series of increases in Bank Rate that 
would take it to more than 2.75%. 

Gilt yields and PWLB rates 

The general situation is for volatility in bond yields to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow 
between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e., equities, or the safe haven of government bonds, despite 
material inflationary concerns. The overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise moderately 
in the near-term, given the extent to which market expectations are already priced in and then to fall back once 
inflation starts to fall through 2023.   

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB (certainty) borrowing rates are set out below: - 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 21.06.22 

a.m. 

Target borrowing rate 
now 

(end of Q3 2022) 

Target borrowing rate 
previous 

(end of Q3 2022) 

5 year 3.17% 3.20% 2.50% 

10 year 3.40% 3.40% 2.80% 

25 year 3.66% 3.70% 3.10% 

50 year 3.41% 3.40% 2.80% 

Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate has increased marginally to 
2.25% from 2%. As all PWLB certainty rates are now above this level, borrowing strategies will need to be 

120



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 6 

reviewed in that context.  Better value can generally be obtained at the shorter end of the curve and short-
dated fixed LA to LA monies should be considered out to 5 years. Temporary borrowing rates are likely, 
however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive as part of a balanced debt portfolio.  

In addition, there are also some alternative sources of long-term borrowing if a client is seeking certainty within 
their portfolio and wishes to avoid a “cost of carry”, or simply wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk. Please 
speak to your CRM to discuss options. 

Our suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to about three months’ duration in each financial 
year are as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2022/23 2.20% 1.60% 

2023/24 2.75% 2.00% 

2024/25 2.30% 1.70% 

2025/26 2.10% 1.70% 

Years 6 to 10 2.00% 2.00% 

Years 10+ 2.25% 2.00% 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all interest rate forecasts.  
The general expectation for a trend of moderately rising gilt yields is unchanged.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB forecasts have been rounded to 
the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps. Naturally, we continue to monitor 
events and will update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

Interest Rate Strategy Group 

 

 
This report is intended for the use and assistance of customers of Link Group. It should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by 
the recipient of its own judgement. Link Group exists to provide its clients with advice primarily on borrowing and investment.  We are not 
legal experts and we have not obtained legal advice in giving our opinions and interpretations in this paper.  Clients are advised to seek 
expert legal advice before taking action as a result of any advice given in this paper. Whilst Link Group makes every effort to ensure that all 
information provided by it is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will 
not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising there from. Furthermore, Link Group shall not be held liable in contract, 
tort or otherwise for any loss or damage (whether direct, or indirect or consequential) resulting from negligence, delay or failure on the part 
of Link Group or its officers, employees or agents in procuring, presenting, communicating or otherwise providing information or advice 
whether sustained by Link Group customer or any third party directly or indirectly making use of such information or advice, including but 
not limited to any loss or damage resulting as a consequence of inaccuracy or errors in such information or advice. All information supplied 
by Link Group should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any 
decision. Treasury services are provided by Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033).  
 
Link Treasury Services Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging 
activities in the UK as part of its Treasury Management Service. FCA register number 150403.  Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham 
Street, London, EC2V 7NQ.  

121



Appendix D 
 
 
Approved Countries for Investments 
 
This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or 
higher, (we show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also have 
banks operating in sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or above in 
the Link credit worthiness service. 
 

Based on lowest available rating 
 

AAA                      

 Australia 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Netherlands  

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Canada    

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 

AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 France 

 

AA- 

 Belgium 

 Qatar 

 U.K. 

 

  

This page is correct at 5/07/2022 

 

Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg have been removed from this list as their 

sovereign ratings do not meet the minimum criteria for inclusion. 

 

122



Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings S&P Ratings

Counterparty Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Band Name (Watch/
Outlook 
Adjusted)

CDS 
Price

CDS 
Status

(CDS Adjusted 
with manual 

override)

Monetary Limit Duration Notes

Australia SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 19.71

Banks Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Ltd. SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 44.88 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Commonwealth Bank of Australia SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 48.09 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Macquarie Bank Ltd. SB A F1 PO A2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

National Australia Bank Ltd. SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 49.06 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Westpac Banking Corp. SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 53.14 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Belgium SB AA- SB Aa3 SB AA 9.98

Banks BNP Paribas Fortis SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

KBC Bank N.V. SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Canada SB AA+ SB Aaa SB AAA 39.01

Banks Bank of Montreal NO AA- F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Bank of Nova Scotia NO AA- F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce SB AA- F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

National Bank of Canada SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Royal Bank of Canada SB AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Toronto-Dominion Bank SB AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Denmark SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 9.00

Banks Danske A/S SB A F1 SB A2 P-1 NO A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 60.08 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Finland SB AA+ SB Aa1 SB AA+ 13.67

Banks Nordea Bank Abp SB AA- F1+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

OP Corporate Bank plc WD WD SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

France NO AA SB Aa2 SB AA 11.50

List of Suggested Counterparties for Lending for Breckland Council.
Any values highlighted in yellow have undergone a change in the past 14 days.

123



Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings S&P Ratings

Counterparty Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Band Name (Watch/
Outlook 
Adjusted)

CDS 
Price

CDS 
Status

(CDS Adjusted 
with manual 

override)

Monetary Limit Duration Notes

Banks BNP Paribas SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 58.22 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment 
Bank SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 40.66 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Credit Agricole S.A. SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 54.22 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Credit Industriel et Commercial SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Societe Generale SB A- F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 66.21 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Germany SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 8.99

Banks Bayerische Landesbank SB A- F1 SB Aa3 P-1 NR NR R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Commerzbank AG WD WD SB A1 P-1 NO BBB+ A-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days 80.13 ● G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

Deutsche Bank AG PO BBB+ F2 PO A2 P-1 SB A- A-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days 93.05 ● G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-
Genossenschaftsbank SB AA- F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Landesbank Baden-Wuerttemberg SB A- F1 SB Aa3 P-1 NR NR R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Landesbank Berlin AG NW Aa2 P-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen 
Girozentrale SB A+ F1+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 61.05 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank SB AAA F1+ SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 100 % 2 Years

Norddeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale SB A- F1 SB A3 P-2 NR NR G - 100 days G - 100 days G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

NRW.BANK SB AAA F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 100 % 2 Years

Netherlands SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 8.58

Banks ABN AMRO Bank N.V. SB A F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten N.V. SB AAA F1+ SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 100 % 2 Years

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. SB A+ F1 SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

ING Bank N.V. SB AA- F1+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 40.25 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V. SB Aaa P-1 SB AAA A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 100 % 2 Years

Qatar SB AA- SB Aa3 SB AA- 60.16

Banks Qatar National Bank SB A F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 82.68 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Singapore SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA

Banks DBS Bank Ltd. SB AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

124



Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings S&P Ratings

Counterparty Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Band Name (Watch/
Outlook 
Adjusted)

CDS 
Price

CDS 
Status

(CDS Adjusted 
with manual 

override)

Monetary Limit Duration Notes

Banks Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd. SB AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

United Overseas Bank Ltd. NO AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Sweden SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 11.06

Banks Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB SB AA- F1+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Svenska Handelsbanken AB SB AA F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Swedbank AB PO A+ F1 NO Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Switzerland SB AAA SB Aaa SB AAA 19.00

Banks Credit Suisse AG NO A F1 SB A1 P-1 NO A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 134.30 ● G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

UBS AG SB AA- F1+ SB Aa2 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 60.24 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

United Arab Emirates SB AA SB Aa2 SB AA 55.16

Banks First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC SB AA- F1+ SB Aa3 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

United Kingdom SB AA- SB Aa3 SB AA 8.62

AAA rated and 
Government 
backed securities

Collateralised LA Deposit* Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths 100 % 5 Years (M) 

Debt Management Office Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths 100 % 5 Years (M) 

Multilateral Development Banks Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths 100 % 5 Years (M) 

Supranationals Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths 100 % 5 Years (M) 

UK Gilts Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths Y - 60 mths 100 % 5 Years (M) 
Banks Al Rayan Bank Plc SB A1 P-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 48.41 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 PO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 81.13 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 PO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Close Brothers Ltd SB A- F2 NO Aa3 P-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Clydesdale Bank PLC SB A- F2 SB Baa1 P-2 SB A- A-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

Co-operative Bank PLC (The) SB B+ B PO Ba3 NP N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths

Goldman Sachs International Bank SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 107.92 ● G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

Handelsbanken Plc SB AA F1+ SB AA- A-1+ O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB) NO AA- F1+ SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 52.21 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

125



Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings S&P Ratings

Counterparty Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Long
Term

Short
Term

Band Name (Watch/
Outlook 
Adjusted)

CDS 
Price

CDS 
Status

(CDS Adjusted 
with manual 

override)

Monetary Limit Duration Notes

Banks HSBC UK Bank Plc (RFB) NO AA- F1+ SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets Plc (NRFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 47.25 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

National Bank Of Kuwait (International) PLC SB A+ F1 NO A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

NatWest Markets Plc (NRFB) SB A+ F1 PO A2 P-1 SB A- A-2 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 74.16 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Santander Financial Services plc (NRFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A- A-2 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Santander UK PLC SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

SMBC Bank International Plc NO A F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Standard Chartered Bank NO A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 52.71 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months
Building Society Coventry Building Society SB A- F1 SB A2 P-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Leeds Building Society SB A- F1 SB A3 P-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days

Nationwide Building Society SB A F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

Principality Building Society SB BBB+ F2 SB Baa2 P-2 N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths

Skipton Building Society SB A- F1 SB A2 P-1 R - 6 mths R - 6 mths R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

West Bromwich Building Society SB Ba3 NP N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths N/C - 0 mths

Yorkshire Building Society SB A- F1 SB A3 P-2 G - 100 days G - 100 days G - 100 days 100 % 100 Days
Nationalised and 
Part Nationalised 
Banks

National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 B - 12 mths B - 12 mths B - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years (M) 

The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB) SB A+ F1 SB A1 P-1 SB A A-1 B - 12 mths B - 12 mths B - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years (M) 

United States NO AAA   Aaa SB AA+ 14.00

Banks Bank of America N.A. SB AA F1+ PO Aa2 P-1 PO A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Bank of New York Mellon, The SB AA F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB AA- A-1+ P - 24 mths P - 24 mths P - 24 mths 100 % 2 Years

Citibank N.A. SB A+ F1 SB Aa3 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 106.80 ● R - 6 mths 100 % 6 Months

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. SB AA F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 PO A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Wells Fargo Bank, NA NO AA- F1+ SB Aa1 P-1 SB A+ A-1 O - 12 mths O - 12 mths 88.19 ● O - 12 mths 100 % 1 Years

Advisory notes: (M) = Manually added counterparty. If a rating changes for this institution it will not alter its status on the counterparty list, or limits assigned to it. 

126



Watches and Outlooks

SB Stable Outlook

NO Negative Outlook

NW Negative Watch

PO Positive Outlook

PW Positive Watch

EO Evolving Outlook

EW Evolving Watch

WD Rating Withdrawn

Key

CDS

Indicator Status

● In Range

● Monitoring

● Out of Range

DISCLAIMER: Link Group would like to inform clients that we supply the credit ratings of financial institutions from the rating agencies. We do not advise on the groupings of such financial institutions as 
we believe that knowledge can only be obtained from credit rating agencies. This document is intended for the use and assistance of customers of Link Group.  It should not be regarded as a substitute 
for the exercise by the recipient of its own judgement. Link Group exists to provide its clients with advice primarily on borrowing and investment. Whilst Link Group makes every effort to ensure that all 
information provided by it is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising 
there from. Furthermore, Link Group shall not be held liable in contract, tort or otherwise for any loss or damage (whether direct, or indirect or consequential) resulting from negligence, delay or failure on 
the part of Link Group or its officers, employees or agents in procuring, presenting, communicating or otherwise providing information or advice whether sustained by Link Groups’ customer or any third 
party directly or indirectly making use of such information or advice, including but not limited to any loss or damage resulting as a consequence of inaccuracy or errors in such information or advice. All 
information supplied by Link Group should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any decision. This document has been 
produced solely for the use of clients of Link Group. The documentation itself, or any of the information contained therein, should not be disclosed to any third party without the prior written approval of 
Link Group. Strictly private and confidential.

© 2016, Moody’s Corporation, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., Moody’s Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and affiliates (collectively, “Moody’s”).  All rights reserved. Moody’s ratings and other 
information (“Moody’s Information”) are proprietary to Moody’s and/or its licensors and are protected by copyright and other intellectual property laws.  Moody’s Information is licensed to Client by 
Moody’s.  MOODY’S INFORMATION MAY NOT BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED OR 
RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON 
WITHOUT MOODY’S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

Please note that the Link Group suggested methodology applies a minimum non-UK sovereign criteria of “AA-”. In instances where individual client criteria allows for the potential use of entities from 
lower rated sovereigns, suggested duration columns in these lists may show a “colour”, but this will purely be based on the ratings / CDS of the individual entity. It will not take account of the sovereign 
rating, which alone may provide a reason for it not being included within the Link Treasury Services Limited suggested list of counterparties. Please also note that CDS values are as at the close of 
business from the previous day.

Duration Colour Name

5 Years Y - 60 mths

2 Years P - 24 mths

1 Years B - 12 mths

1 Years O - 12 mths

6 Months R - 6 mths

100 Days G - 100 days

0 N/C - 0 mths127



Copyright © 2016, Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”). Reproduction of RatingsXpress -Credit Ratings in any form is prohibited except with the prior written permission of S&P. S&P does 
not guarantee the  accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of any information, including ratings, and is not responsible  for any errors or omissions (negligent or otherwise), regardless of the 
cause, or for the results obtained from  the use of ratings. S&P GIVES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED  TO, ANY  WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY 
OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE.  S&P  SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTIAL, EXEMPLARY,  COMPENSATORY, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, LEGAL  FEES, or LOSSES (INCLUDING LOST INCOME OR PROFITS AND OPPORTUNITY COSTS) IN  CONNECTION WITH ANY USE OF 
RATINGS. S&P’s ratings are statements of opinions and are not  statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold or sell securities. They do not address the market  value of securities or the 
suitability of securities for investment purposes, and should not be relied on as  investment advice.

 Report generated: May 03, 2022, 01:14:26 PM

128



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Alison Chubbock, Section 151 Officer 

  
To: Governance and Audit Committee 28 July 2022 
 
Author: Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
 
Subject:  Un-audited Statement of Accounts 2021-22 
 
Purpose: To present the un-audited statement of accounts for 2021-22 and the annual 

governance statement (AGS) for comment and information 
 

 
Recommendation:  
 
1) That the un-audited statement of accounts and the annual governance statement for  

2021-22 are reviewed and noted 
 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Accounts and Audit regulations 2015 set the dates when accounts are required to be 

signed.  Due to existing conditions in external audit and the Covid-19 pandemic these 
regulations have been relaxed for the 2021-22 accounts.  The date changes are: 

 

 Previous New 

Responsible Finance Officer (RFO) signs the un-
audited statement of accounts 

By 31 May By 31 July 

Audited accounts are audited, approved and 
published 

By 31 July By 30 November 

 
1.2 The unaudited statement of accounts was signed on 30th June 2022 and published on 1st July 

2022, making Breckland one of the earliest Councils to achieve this.  
 

1.3 Our external auditors are having to prioritise the completion of audits at other Councils around 
the country which have still not had their 2020/21 (and in some cases 2019/20) accounts 
signed off. This means that our audit is planned to start on 24th October 2022 and it is 
envisaged that the audit will be completed in time for the accounts to be approved by this 
committee at its meeting on 9th February 2023. This means that the approval deadline per the 
regulations will be missed, owing to the challenging environment for external auditors at the 
present time. The auditors will present their external audit plan to the September meeting of 
this committee. 
 

1.4 The statement of accounts at Appendix A has been produced in accordance with proper 
practices issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) in its 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (“the Code”). 

 
1.5 The accounting policies were agreed by this Committee in February 2022 and there were no 

major changes to accounting regulations. 
 
 
 
 

129

Agenda Item 12



1.6 Revenue & Capital 
 
The financial out-turn was reported to Cabinet in June and full details of variances and end 
of year out-turn positions can be found in that report at  
 

Modern.gov (breckland.gov.uk) 
 
In summary: 

o The revenue out-turn in the published accounts saw a reduction in the general 
fund of £28k overall (This is £3k more than reported to Cabinet). 

o The final capital programme budget was £8,622k, of which £6,614k (77%) was 
spent, with £1,933k requested to be moved to 2022-23 for spend on projects in 
progress or which have moved to next year, of which £952k relates to Better Care 
Fund grants which are already committed and £637k relates to vehicles and 
equipment for our new waste contract. 

 
1.7 Balance Sheet 

 
The main changes in the balance sheet are: 

o There has been an increase in the value of Property Plant and Equipment.  
Additions of £3,955k mainly relating to the work on Elm House to provide new 
temporary accommodation, new vehicles and equipment for the waste contract, 
the refurbishment of Elizabeth House and public lighting replacements, offset by 
annual depreciation and decreases in valuations mainly relating to the Thetford 
leisure centre and the council offices. 

o The pension deficit has decreased significantly by £12,165k.  This is due to 
changes in assumptions with the real discount rate increasing compared to the 
previous year’s assumptions, and reductions in assumed longevity of both current 
and future pensioners, which reduced the overall pension liability, along with good 
returns on the investments held by the pension scheme, which increased the 
assets held to pay for this liability.  This also changes the value of un-usable 
reserves by the same amount.  Whilst this is a significant value, this is an 
accounting valuation and does not impact on the cash payments by the Council, 
the purpose of the accounting valuation is to facilitate consistent comparison of 
pension positions between employers, they are carried out using a prescribed 
method and a number of the assumptions are also largely prescribed. 

o Assets held for sale have reduced by £769k following the sale of the Ecotech 
Centre in Swaffham. 

o Short term investments have increased by £13,014k, reflecting a one-off grant to 
provide the £150 Council Tax Rebate to households to help them to cope with 
higher energy bills, which was received in March 2022, but applied to Council Tax 
accounts in 2022/23. The underspend on the capital programme also meant that 
there was more cash available for investment. 

 
The following changes are all impacted due to the unusual activity resulting from Covid-19 
NNDR reliefs and government grants provided for these reliefs and other grant funding 
relating to the Covid-19 pandemic, which impacted the 2020-21 accounts in particular. 

o Short term debtors have decreased by £8,632k, principally owing to the receipt of 
an outstanding 20/21 balance from central government relating to the NNDR Covid 
reliefs (£5,153k), a decrease in Council Tax balances grants owed by preceptors 
(reduced by £1,027k) and a reduction in general debtors (by £1,613k). 

o Short term creditors have significantly increased by £6,960k, which is due to the 
receipt in March of the £150 Council Tax Rebate grant (£8,088k), to be paid out in 
2022/23, offset by payment of balances relating to the NNDR Covid reliefs owed to 

130

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4846&Ver=4


central government (these were paid in full to Breckland to assist with cashflows 
during 2020-21). 

o Usable reserves have decreased by £6,374k, around £4m of this relates to NNDR 
Covid-19 related grants received in 2020-21 and held in reserves for payment in 
2021-22, around £800k relates to Covid-19 grants received in 2020-21 for 
payment out to businesses and residents in 2021-22 and £1.4 million is the use of 
the Growth & Investment Reserve and Inclusive Growth Reserve to fund agreed 
expenditure, including on Elm House, Elizabeth House and the Inspiring 
Communities programme.   

 
1.8 Collection Fund 

 
o The Council Tax collection fund has a small surplus balance of £713k overall, 

Breckland’s share of £73k will be accounted for in future years budgets. 
o The Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund balance has a significantly reduced 

deficit balance of £4,556k overall. The reduction is mainly due to the impact of  
Covid-19 NNDR relief grants announced in 2021-22 after the budget was set.  
Breckland’s share of £1,822k will be accounted for in future years budgets and will 
be mostly offset by the balances of grants held in short term creditors or reserves. 

 
 
1.9 Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

 
The AGS explains how the Council has complied with The Code and also meets the 
requirements of the Accounts & Audit Regulations in relation to the publication of a 
statement of internal control. 
 
The AGS has been reviewed and updated to reflect any changes, such as the end of joint 
working with South Holland Council and areas highlighted in the internal audit annual 
report. 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee are requested to review the Annual Governance 
Statement (included at the end of Appendix A) to ensure it reflects the reports they have 
considered over the past year and that it supports your general understanding of the 
Council’s governance arrangements.  The statement will be submitted to external audit and 
then presented to the Leader and Chief Executive for formal sign off. 
 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 That the un-audited statement of accounts and the annual governance statement for 

2021-22 are reviewed and noted. 
 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 The report and appendix are for information and consultation, no approvals are required at 

this stage. 
 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 To enable comments and challenge from the committee members and to highlight key 

areas of note. 
 

131



5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.2  Constitutional & Legal 
5.2.1 To comply with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 
  
5.3  Financial  
5.3.1 The report is of a financial nature. 
 
5.4 Risk Management  
5.4.1 Risks are included in the statement of accounts as required. 
 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N.a. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 These are detailed in the glossary of the appendix 

 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
Telephone Number: 07425 618457 
Email: Matthew.Fernandez-Graham@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Unaudited Statement of Accounts & Annual Governance Statement 

132



 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                           

 

Breckland Council 
Statement of Accounts 2021-22 

133



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 
NARRATIVE REPORT  

Narrative Report 1 – 19 

STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS   
Statement of Responsibilities 20 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 21 
CORE ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS:  
     Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 22 

     Movement in Reserves Statement 23 

     Balance Sheet 24 – 25 

     Cash Flow Statement 26 

Notes to the Core Accounting Statements 27 – 77 

Collection Fund 78 – 80 

Group Accounts 81 – 91 

Approval of the Statements of Accounts 92 

Glossary 93 – 96 

Independent Auditor’s Report End of document (Final 
Report Only) 

OTHER STATEMENTS/REPORTS  
Annual Governance Statement 97 - 105 

If you would like the Statements of Accounts in large print, Braille, alternative format or in a different language,                                 
please call us on 01362 656870. 

134



NARRATIVE REPORT 

1 
 

Our District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Breckland District spans over 500 square miles of beautiful countryside and 
forest in the heart of Norfolk.  With a range of thriving rural village 
communities and the five bustling market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, 
Swaffham, Thetford and Watton. 
 
The area’s rural nature is characterised by its 112 parishes, numerous 
villages and low crime rate which make Breckland one of the most attractive 
and safe places to live in the UK.  The Council is committed to reducing its 
impact on the environment by minimising its carbon footprint. 
 
Breckland’s population is set to grow from the current 141,255 residents to 
164,250 by 2043.  Half of the current residents live in one of the five market 
towns with the remainder living in rural village homes.  This means that the 
district has a low population density.   
 
Agriculture, advanced engineering and manufacturing, logistics and forestry 
are the dominant business sectors with professional, scientific and technical 
and food processing not far behind.  Breckland’s local economy continues to 
grow bringing new employment to the area. 
 
Thetford and Attleborough are key areas for future housing and business 
growth which is expected to deliver economic benefits for the whole district. 
 
Breckland's resident population is 50.5% female and 49.5% male. The 
average age of the Breckland district population is 43 years, the predominant 
age bands in Breckland are 'Age 50 to 54' and ‘Age 55 to 59’ which represent 
7.1% each of the total district population. 
 

 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000

Age 0-4

Age 5-9

Age 10-14

Age 15-19

Age 20-24

Age 25-29

Age 30-34

Age 35-39

Age 40-44

Age 45-49

Age 50-54

Age 55-59

Age 60-64

Age 65-69

Age 70-74

Age 75-79

Age 80-84

Age 85+

Population Count

Breckland Age Structure (Source: Norfolk Insight 2020) 

135



NARRATIVE REPORT 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

76%

14%

5% 5% Norfolk County
Council

Norfolk Police &
Crime
Commissioner
Breckland
Council

Average Parish

Our Commercial Property 
Assets have a total value of 
£46,809k (including finance 

leases) and generated 
£2,465k surplus in 2021-22. 

 

We emptied 3,310,862 bins in 
2021-22, recycled 13,051 tons 
of waste and composted 9,919 

tonnes of garden waste. 

In 2021-22 we received 2,090 
planning applications and 
2,803 applications were 

determined.   

In partnership with Norfolk 
Community Foundation, we 

have allocated £150k of grants 
to projects in the district. 

We paid out £22,547k in 
Housing Benefits  

We paid out £543k in 
Covid-19 Test and Trace 
Support Payments to over 

1,000 individuals. 

We collected £29,949k of 
Business Rates in 2021-22, from 
4,665 businesses and achieved a 

collection rate in year of 98.4% 
(compared to the national 

average of 95.5%).   
We retain £6,109k (20%) to help 

fund services. 
 

We collected £85,574k of Council 
Tax in 2021-22, from 63,385 homes 

and achieved a collection rate in year 
of 97.6% (compared to the national 

average 95.9%). 
We retain £4,465k (5%) to help fund 
services.  The share of council tax is 

shown in the graph. 
 
 

136



NARRATIVE REPORT 

3 
 

Breckland Council 
The Council alongside its partner organisations and external contractors deliver a wide range of services to our residents, businesses and visitors.  These are 
detailed in the table below categorised by the Council’s Directorates: 
 

Place & Delivery Building Control, Land Management, Economic Development, Car Parks, Historic Buildings, Contracts, Development Control, 
Emergency Planning, Enabling, Planning Enforcement, Street Cleansing,  Food safety, Forward Planning, Dog Warden Service, 
Regeneration, Development Partnerships, Land Charges, Trees & Countryside, PFI & Leisure, Parks Woods & Open Spaces, 
Street Naming, Waste Collection, Public Health, Health & Safety, Licensing, Pollution Control, Grass Cutting, Commercial 
Property, Property Management. 

Strategy & Resources Arts, Voluntary Sector , Corporate Improvement & Performance, Committee Services, Corporate Management, Customer 
Contact, Community Development, Community Safety, Community Transport, Housing Enforcement, Hostels, Homelessness & 
Advice, Strategic Housing, Gypsies & Travellers, Housing Grants & Loans, Elections, Marketing & Communications, ICT, Digital, 
Human Resources, Legal Services, Pensions, Corporate Contracts & Procurement, Breckland Training Services, Environmental 
Health Consultancy, Strategic Policy, Internal Audit Council Tax, Housing Benefits, NNDR, Fraud. 

 
Breckland Council is a district composed of 112 parishes; most parishes have their own town or parish council, or parish meeting.  The Council is composed of 
49 Councillors who are elected every four years to represent the peoples of Breckland.  As at 31 March 2022, the Council was controlled by the Conservative 
Group and the Leader of the Council was Sam Chapman-Allen.  As at 31 March 2022 the political make-up of the Council was: 
 

 
 
All councillors meet together as the Council, here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget and council tax each year.  The Council 
hold to account the Executive and Committees.  The Cabinet is made up of the Leader, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holders.  Each Portfolio Holder has specific 
responsibilities over an area of the Council’s activities. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Conservative

Labour

Independent Group

Green

Independent

137



NARRATIVE REPORT 

4 
 

Council Priorities, Corporate Plan and Performance 
Our strategic vision is ‘Breckland: a place where people and business can thrive’.  The Council has a corporate plan covering 2021 – 2025 and each year an 
annual delivery plan is drawn up to cover the actions for the next year.  The business plan shows what the Council will do to meet the needs and aspirations of 
residents.  The plan sets out the Council’s priorities which are: 
 

●  Inspiring Communities ●  Thriving Places 
●  Breckland 2035 ●  Working Smarter 

 
The priorities define the medium term goals of the Council and as such remain relatively constant from year to year, but the actions associated with them are 
set annually for each financial year.  The Corporate Plan is aligned to the Medium Term Financial Plan and these are available on the Council’s website. 
 
Our Corporate Plan runs for 4 years; currently we are in the 2021-2025 plan.  Delivery of the plan is monitored through a performance framework and 
annually the delivery of the plan is refreshed to ensure it is relevant to the current political and economic climate.  Each Council service area has a number of 
team projects which deliver the corporate plan and these are monitored against the delivery plan to ensure the corporate plan is on track.  Internally there is a 
performance board which holds to account all performance indicators, team projects and audit recommendations to ensure delivery of the corporate plan and 
performance framework.  Quarterly performance is reported to our member scrutiny panel and subsequently to Cabinet as part of the constitutional 
governance. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
The annual governance statement (AGS) provides a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework, internal control and risk management 
arrangements.  This can be found at the end of this Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
  

138



NARRATIVE REPORT 

5 
 

Our People 
The Council is headed by a Corporate Management Team (CMT).  The Corporate Management Team consists of a Chief Executive, a Deputy Chief Executive 
and two Executive Directors, supported by six Assistant Directors and a Head of Strategic Policy. 

 
 
The Council employs 307 staff as at 31 March 2022.  This includes 227 full time staff and 80 part time staff.  Included in this number are 1 apprentice and 2 
trainees.  Details of the makeup and age range of the Council’s staff are shown in the graphs below. 
 

                                 
 
The Council is one of five partners in the Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) which provides Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefits, Fraud and 
Enforcement services to all partners.  Staff are employed by any of the five partners and all costs are recharged between partners based on caseload shares.  
The total budget for the partnership in 2021-22 is £9,658k of which the majority is staff costs.  Overall there are 295 staff employed by the Anglia Revenues 
Partnership. 
 

Chief Executive

Deputy Chief Executive Executive Director Executive Director

Male
31%

Female
69%

0

20

40

60

80

100

18-22 23-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70

139



NARRATIVE REPORT 

6 
 

The Council strives for excellence in order to deliver services that local communities can be proud of.  So to make this happen, we need talented and ambitious 
people who inspire, empower and deliver change all around them.  The Council has embraced the Government’s agenda to modernise local government and 
our approach has been to lead change rather than follow it.  We believe that best value can only be achieved by developing staff to their full potential and to do 
this, we provide them with the relevant knowledge, equipment and authority to carry out their duties and we are recognised by Investors in People.   
 
The Council prides itself in the delivery of high-quality training and development, it offers creative and unique training solutions through one-to-one coaching as 
well as a variety of tailor made courses to suit both individual and Council needs.  During the course of an employee’s employment, there may be opportunities 
to undertake professional and/or academic qualifications where this benefits the individual and the Council. 
 
 
  

140



NARRATIVE REPORT 

7 
 

Financial Performance 
The Management Accounts below show the Council’s actual financial performance for the year, compared to the budget and full details were reported to Cabinet 
on 6 June 2022 https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4846&Ver=4 .  Further information can be found in the Expenditure 
and Funding Analysis. 
 
 2021-22  

Budget 
2021-22  

Actual 
2021-22 

Variance 
2020-21 

Actual 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Expenditure on Services     
Place and Delivery 6,018 5,401 (617) 3,118 
Strategy & Resources 9,373 9,582 209 8,621 
Housing Benefits 434 987 553 545 
Covid-19 Grant (unallocated) 0 (231) (231) - 
Cost Of Services  15,825 15,739 (86) 12,284 
Contributions to/from reserves (6,401) (6,422) (21) 10,538 
Total Cost of Services 9,424 9,317 (107) 22,822 
Funding & Appropriations     
Appropriations 7,203 7,229 26 (5,906) 
Government Grants (8,436) (8,465) (29) (13,505) 
Financing & Investment - - - - 
Council Tax (4,543) (4,542) 1 (4,213) 
Retained NNDR (3,537) (3,511) 26 453 
Total Funding (9,313) (9,289) 24 (23,171) 
Efficiencies to be achieved (264) - 264 - 
Remove contribution to General Fund 153 - (153) - 

Contribution (to)/from General Fund - 28 28 (348) 
 
The Council set a balanced budget in February 2021, subject to successful delivery of planned efficiencies.  Note 31 provides information of the impact on these 
accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items. 
 
The full year out-turn delivered above budget spend of £28k relating to service provision as shown in the table above. This has reduced the General fund 
balance to £2,821k, which is still considered an adequate balance. 
 
There was a surplus of £2,465k on our Commercial Property Trading Account after adjusting for property revaluations and this was contributed from Commercial 
Property to the General Fund.  

141

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4846&Ver=4


NARRATIVE REPORT 

8 
 

Revenue expenditure and income and the services provided 
The charts below show in broad terms where the money came from, how it was spent and the services provided. 
 
Where the money came from  
 

  
 
Council Tax is the income received from taxpayers through the Council Tax levied by the Council for Breckland and the parishes.  The NNDR income is 
Breckland’s share of the retained business rates income less the levy and tariffs paid. 
 
Another source of income was interest earned on the Council’s cash deposits.  However, continued low interest rates have impacted on the level of interest 
income received and this figure therefore remains low.  This interest is used to support the revenue budgets. 
 
Fees, charges and miscellaneous includes all our other income streams, such as planning and building control fees (£1,846k), garden waste collections 
(£1,218k), licensing, recycling (£1,571k), income from partners for shared services (£1,367k), other grants & contributions (£1,964k), etc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31%

22%
1%

13%

5%

4%

24%
        
   £'000 % 
  Housing Benefit Grant 21,580 31 
  Government Grants 15,071 22 
  Interest receipts 696 1 
  Council Tax (incl parish) 8,861 13 
  NNDR (net of levy & tariff) 3,511 5 
  Commercial Property 2,963 4 
 Fees, Charges & Misc 16,708 24 
   69,390 100 
        

 

142



NARRATIVE REPORT 

9 
 

How the money was spent  

  
Housing benefits only includes costs relating to the actual benefits provided, it does not include any staffing or other related costs.  These benefits are funded 
from Government grants as can be seen from the “where the money came from” graph. 
 
Running expenses includes costs relating to: 

• Premises – such as rents, rates, electricity, water and similar 
• Transport – such as cars, fares and similar 
• Supplies and services – such as equipment, telephones, hired services and similar 
• Contract payments for services provided by external contractors (i.e. waste collection, leisure, etc) 

 
Employees expenditure includes costs relating to: 

• Staffing – such as salaries, pensions, additional staff, professional subscriptions and similar costs. 
 
Capital financing includes costs relating to: 

• Capital expenditure – such as depreciation and de-valuations of assets and similar costs. 
 
Transparency 
The Government’s transparency agenda encourages local authorities to make public data openly available.  Details of transparency items such as the Council’s 
spend on items over £500, contracts and pay and benefits for senior officers can be found on our website: 
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4246/Transparency 

32%

39%

21%

6%

3%
-9% 8%

        
   £'000 % 
  Housing Benefits 22,547 32 
  Running Expenses 26,998 39 
  Employees 14,245 21 
 Precepts and Levies 4,396 6 
 Capital Financing 2,300 3 
 Cont’n to Reserves (6,450) (9) 
  Other 5,354 8 
   69,390 100 
        

 

143

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4246/Transparency


NARRATIVE REPORT 

10 
 

And the services it provides 

  
The table below shows the types of services which are included within each service area shown in the graph above:  
 

Place & Delivery Building Control, Land Management, Economic Development, Car Parks, Historic Buildings, Contracts, Development Control, 
Emergency Planning, Enabling, Planning Enforcement, Street Cleansing,  Food safety, Forward Planning, Dog Warden Service, 
Regeneration, Development Partnerships, Land Charges, Trees & Countryside, PFI & Leisure, Parks Woods & Open Spaces, 
Street Naming, Waste Collection, Public Health, Health & Safety, Licensing, Pollution Control, Grass Cutting, Commercial 
Property, Property Management. 

Strategy & Resources Arts, Voluntary Sector , Corporate Improvement & Performance, Committee Services, Corporate Management, Customer 
Contact, Community Development, Community Safety, Community Transport, Housing Enforcement, Hostels, Homelessness & 
Advice, Strategic Housing, Gypsies & Travellers, Housing Grants & Loans, Elections, Marketing & Communications, ICT, Digital, 
Human Resources, Legal Services, Pensions, Corporate Contracts & Procurement, Breckland Training Services, Environmental 
Health Consultancy, Strategic Policy, Internal Audit Council Tax, Housing Benefits, NNDR, Fraud. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6%

31%

30%

33%

0%         
   £'000 % 

  Precepts & Levies 4,396 6 
  Place & Delivery 21,554 31 
  Strategy & Resources 20,842 30 
  Housing Benefit 22,547 33 
  Other 51 - 
   69,390 100 
        

 

144



NARRATIVE REPORT 

11 
 

Capital financial performance 
The capital out-turn was reported to Cabinet on 6 June 2022 https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4846&Ver=4 and 
details the Council’s £8,622k capital programme for 2021-22 of which £6,613k was spent, £77k was under spent and £1,932k budget moved into 2022-23 for 
spend on projects in progress or where the start date has moved into next year. 
 
 2021-22  

Budget 
Re-profile to 

2022-23 
2021-22 Out-

turn 
2021-22 

Variance 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Place and Delivery 4,526 (597) 3,853 (76) 
Strategy & Resources 3,939 (1,261) 2,677 (1) 
Capital Loans 157  (74) 83 - 
Total Capital Programme 8,622 (1,932) 6,613 (77) 

 
During the year the Council purchased vehicles and equipment for the new waste services contract totalling £1,438k and spent £1,246k refurbishing our new 
temporary accommodation, Elm House. There were no major non-current asset disposals during the year. 
 
This capital expenditure was funded from the following areas: 
 

 

35%

18%
2%

36%

9% Capital Receipts
Reserve

Revenue
Contributions

PFI Scheme

Specific Grants

S106/Commuted
Sums

An analysis of non-current assets and funding of the capital 
expenditure is shown in notes 8, 9 and 25.  Currently Breckland 
does not borrow externally to finance its capital programme, 
however the available capital funding is reducing year by year 
and therefore borrowing will be undertaken in future if the 
business case for a project supports it.  Available capital for 
future projects is limited unless it is relevant to use revenue 
funding, additional capital receipts are generated or the business 
case supports borrowing. 
 

145

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4846&Ver=4


NARRATIVE REPORT 

12 
 

Collection Fund financial performance 
The balance on the council tax Collection Fund at 31 March 2022 showed a £713k surplus.  This will be shared between Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police 
and Crime Commissioner and Breckland Council in proportion with each authority’s relative precept.  This surplus has resulted mainly from higher property 
numbers. 
The balance on the NNDR Collection Fund at 31 March 2022 showed a £4,556k deficit.  This will be shared between Central Government, Breckland Council 
and Norfolk County Council in proportion with each party’s relative proportionate share.  This deficit has resulted from Covid-19 business rates reliefs provided 
in year after the budget had been set, however Government have provided grants to offset the lost income from the reliefs leaving a smaller ‘real’ deficit to be 
funded by the Council.  Note 31 provides further detail on the impact of the pandemic on these accounts. 
 
These balances were estimated and taken into account when setting the Council Tax for 2022-23 and changes since that time will be reflected in setting the 
Council Tax in 2023-24. 
 
Reserves and Balances 
Reserves and balances increased by £16,299k during the year.  Major increases and (decreases) in reserves balances included: 
        £’000 

o Pensions reserve               12,165 
o Revaluation reserve                 1,137 
o Collection Fund Adjustment Account               4,765 
o Other un-usable reserves    4,606 
o Usable reserves               (6,374) 

The value shown for the pensions reserve is a decrease in the deficit.  Further information on reserves can be found within the notes section (6, 17 & 18). 
 
Pension Fund 
The accounts and notes with relation to the pension fund have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19.  There are key 
differences between this accounting valuation and the formal funding valuation (which is carried out every 3 years).  The purpose of the funding valuation every 
3 years is to assess the ongoing financial position of the fund and to determine the cash contribution rates at which the Council should contribute in the future, 
which has a real cash impact to the Council.  The aim of the funding valuation is to ensure that the existing assets alongside future expected investment returns 
and contributions will be sufficient to meet future benefit payments from the fund. 
The accounting valuation position has no cash impact to the Council.  Under the accounting standards the purpose is to facilitate consistent comparison of 
pension positions between employers.  The accounting calculations are carried out using a prescribed method and a number of the assumptions are also largely 
prescribed. 
 
The Pension Fund liability shown in the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2022 stands at £47,843k compared with £60,008k the previous year. This represents 
the liability to the Norfolk Pension Fund.  This amount is matched by a pension reserve also shown in the Balance Sheet and therefore has no impact on the 
Council’s overall financial position as at 31 March 2022.   
The IAS 19 Balance Sheet position for the Council has improved considerably in 2021-22 and the IAS 19 pension deficit is smaller in monetary terms at 31 
March 2022.  Investment returns were higher than expected compared to last year’s accounting assumptions which has led to a positive return on assets.  In 
addition, liabilities have reduced as a result of changes to financial and demographic assumptions compared to last year’s assumptions (a combination of a 

146



NARRATIVE REPORT 

13 
 

higher discount rate assumption and higher CPI assumption).  This liability also includes the estimated impact of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
indexation and the recent McCloud legal ruling.  The actuary uses a set of demographic assumptions that are consistent with those used for the Norfolk Pension 
Fund. These are highlighted in note 7.   
Following the results of the triennial review in 2019, the Council’s budget includes both a pension contribution percentage and also a lump sum payment each 
year which is forecast to bring the pension scheme into a funded position over a 20 year term. 
 
Cash Flows 
The table below shows the level of investments held by the Council which are used to fund day to day cash flow requirements, achieve a return on investments 
to help support the low levels of council tax, support the reserves expenditure and to fund capital expenditure.  The table also shows the level of the PFI liability.  
 

 2021-22 2020-21 Change 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Short Term Investments 33,015 20,001 13,014 
Cash & Cash Equivalents 8,860 8,589 271 
PFI Liability (7,511) (7,780) 269 
Total 34,364 20,810 13,554 

 
Capital spend will reduce the cash held, however the Council does not currently have a need to borrow externally over the short term.  The Council’s overall 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) which details the Council’s underlying need to borrow can be found at note 25. 
 
Whilst the investment balances are showing higher levels than last year, this is not a comparable position to previous years.  We are holding in reserves 
additional Government grants of around £9m in total relating to the Council Tax rebate scheme and NNDR Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) relief, which 
were paid out early in 2022-23.  Alongside £3m owed to preceptors relating to NNDR and Council Tax (Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police & Crime 
Commissioner and Central Government). 
 
Future years’ capital budgets include the remaining budget of £637k to purchase vehicles and equipment relating to the new waste contract which began on 1 
April 2021 and the remaining balance of disabled facilities grant funding of £952k. 
 
There were no significant provisions, contingencies or write offs during the year, full details on provisions and contingencies can be found at note 15.  
 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

147



NARRATIVE REPORT 

14 
 

Achievements and Targets 
A summary of some project and delivery highlights for the year include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Read more in our latest residents magazine https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Transforming-Breckland  
 
 

We’re investing £1m in our Inspiring 
Communities programme, 

supporting residents susceptible to 
loneliness in later life, drug gangs, 

domestic abuse or poor mental 
health 

 

Successfully 
completed the first 
year offering our 

flexible commercial 
waste service 

 

We have invested 
£1.8m to create a 

brand new temporary 
accommodation site to 
help people who are 

homeless 

Completed our new Ellenor 
Fenn community garden in 

Dereham 

Continued to support 
businesses helping 
them to spring back 
from Coronavirus 

through various grant 
funding schemes, 

including our Start Up 
grants Covid support officers 

continued working 
throughout the district, 
helping keep us safe 

Started work on 
projects within our 

inaugural 
Sustainability 

Strategy, pledging the 
Council to be carbon 

neutral by 2035 

Worked to help tackle Covid-19 through: 
• Providing test and trace support 

grant payments 
• Making track & trace visits 
• Over 3,000 welfare calls made 
• Enabled medication collections 
• Delivered food parcels 
• Supported our local foodbanks 

148

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Transforming-Breckland


NARRATIVE REPORT 

15 
 

Current Economic Climate, Outlook and Risk 
The continuing reduction and un-certainty in Central Government funding continues to add pressures to the Council’s budgets.  The timing of future changes 
relating to 75% retained Business Rates and the Fair Funding review alongside the levelling up agenda is still unknown.  This continues to add significant 
uncertainty for our budget setting in the medium term as funding levels past 2022-23 are still not known, neither is the percentage share of retained NNDR 
under the new scheme and neither is sufficient detail available on the Fair Funding review to calculate estimated funding shares. 
 
Measures taken in previous years to reduce revenue costs meant that the Council started 2021-22 with a balanced budget with no impact on front line services, 
subject to successful delivery of the planned savings, despite the reduced level of Government grant.  The budget includes funding set aside to enable delivery 
of projects which generate future returns and also includes a Growth and Investment Fund, which will support the medium term financial plan by generating 
investment returns and promoting economic and housing growth in the region.   The medium term plan also removes reliance on Government RSG and on 
New Homes Bonus to nil in future years. 
 
The impact of Brexit on the Council’s corporate objectives and finances continues to be monitored, particularly in relation to inflation levels (which impact our 
major contracts) and the impact on businesses and licensing. 
 
The Council remains in a strong financial position over the medium term, with robust plans for savings, capital spend and delivery of services as well as 
investment in our communities.  This means the Council is well placed to deal with any changes in funding levels resulting from the Fair Funding review and 
75% Rates Retention with a measured and planned approach.  Our Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) provides information on the Councils budget, 
transformation programme and reserves and can be found on our website at https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies- 
 
The current level of reserves held by the Council is considered adequate to withstand current pressures and to invest in transformation projects, but it would 
not be financially sustainable to rely on these reserves to continue to fund the reduction in Central Government funding. 
 
Covid-19 Pandemic 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had and will continue to have a significant impact on the Council, our businesses and our residents.  The Council has continued 
to play a critical role in helping to lead the local response to Covid-19 along with our partners to ensure our residents are supported and protected.  We have 
adapted quickly, putting considerable additional resource into ensuring rough sleepers are safe, providing temporary accommodation for those in need, 
administering business rates relief and various different grant schemes to businesses and the self-employed, providing Covid Support Officers and Covid 
Compliance Officers, supporting our businesses to adapt to new ways of working and supporting the most vulnerable and in need within our community.  
 
As the year progressed we have moved into a more normal operating model, learning to live with the impacts and effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on our area, 
residents and businesses. 
 
Note 31 to these accounts provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items. 
 
 
 
 

149

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-


NARRATIVE REPORT 

16 
 

Risk  
The table below provides details of the current highest scoring strategic risks facing the Council along with an assessment of the likelihood and mitigations. 

Risk Description Likelihood Mitigation 
Waste consultation If the government is to pursue certain options within its 

current waste consultation, then the council’s current 
service delivery of waste services will be required to 
change at a cost to the organisation as well as its waste 
partners within the district 

5/5 = Almost 
Certain 

Continuing work with partners to calculate the 
potential impacts and outcomes. 
Lobbying government and responding to 
consultations regarding the financial impact of the 
proposal and the need for financial compensation 
through new burdens funding for the sector. 
 

Critical breach of ICT security If the council does not ensure that its ICT security 
and associated plans and policies are up to date and 
robust then it places itself at increased risk of 
breaches including but not limited to ransomware and 
data exfiltration (which are becoming more common, 
with the public sector as with all other government 
systems and private companies). 

4/5 = Likely Through a suite of protection measures such as web 
filtering and antivirus software, there is a good level 
of protection from viruses. Disaster recovery is also 
well maintained. 
Centrally managed antivirus software with daily 
updates to protect against virus and malware 
together with proactive reporting. On access 
scanning of all files processed giving real-time 
protection 
Daily full scans of all files held at rest on drives. 
Advisory updates from Government Cyber Security 
forum giving detailed information on any risks seen 
across the Government estate (central and local). 
Corporate firewall provides additional protection on 
all traffic entering or leaving Breckland Council 
network giving different AV engine scanning. 
External scanning of all emails entering the council 
network which uses 4 different AV engines to provide 
additional granular AV scanning. 
Digital off site backups we still utilise tapes which are 
taken off site and stored. These tapes are rotated on 
a weekly and monthly basis so there is a history of 
backups that can be used in the event of data 
recovery being required if the digital copies are 
corrupt. 
 
 
 

150



NARRATIVE REPORT 

17 
 

Risk Description Likelihood Mitigation 
Emerging Government Policy If the council does not monitor emerging government 

policy, then it may not fully understand the 
implications of certain policies on organisational 
service delivery models and budget position.  

4/5 = Likely The council ensures that it retains a dedicated post in 
order to oversee policy changes and their impact on 
both the council and the region, as well as senior 
management also ensuring an awareness around 
government policy changes. 

General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR)  

If the council does not ensure that data identified in 
the General Data Protection Regulations is held in an 
appropriate and secure manner, then it would be in 
breach of the act and would be liable for action from 
the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). 

4/5 = Likely Regular meetings of the statutory information group 
monitor the situation and identify areas of 
remediation, which continue to be addressed. 
GDPR education and training continues to be rolled 
out 

Increased demand on 
housing services 
 

If the council is unable to fulfil its statutory duties in 
relation to homelessness, then it may find itself in breach 
of legislation such as the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 

3/5 = Possible Ongoing process reviews, the opening of Elm House 
in April 2022 and bids for funding for rough sleepers 
accommodation 

Medium-term financial plan 
not delivered 

If the Council’s medium-term financial plan and 
efficiency plan is not delivered, then it may not be able to 
produce a balanced budget 

3/5 = Possible Regular monitoring and reporting which allows early 
indication of cost pressures and time to re-allocate 
finite resources. 
Continued lobbying and keeping aware of 
government policy 

Sustainability strategy If the council does not meet the targets set out in its 
sustainability strategy, then it will not be able to achieve 
its target of net-zero by 2035 

3/5 = Possible Established programme of work in place to support 
delivery of the strategy. 
Climate change officer in place. 
Links to other key strategies. 

Leisure re-opening If visitor levels at the council’s leisure facilities do not 
recover to pre-COVID levels/usage, then the council will 
need to consider its position regarding their continued 
support and make-up of operations 

3/5 = Possible Continued regular monitoring of usage, costs and 
income, alongside cost reduction programme. 
Direct agreement paused again for 2021-22 to 
support partner. 

 
The Council’s Risk Management Framework can be found on the website.  The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team regularly reviews updates on 
strategic and operational risks and takes any remedial actions as necessary (for example, escalation to the Corporate Management Team or Governance & 
Audit Committee), during 2021-22.  Quarterly updates on the strategic risk register is provided to both the Corporate Management Team and the Governance 
& Audit Committee.  The Governance & Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the arrangements in place for identification, monitoring and management 
of strategic risk.  The Council is always looking for new opportunities, such as sharing services with other Councils, service improvements and cost reductions 
through digital, etc.  All opportunities will be examined on their own merits and business cases completed if the opportunity proves worthy.  

151



NARRATIVE REPORT 

18 
 

The Statement of Accounts 
The Council's accounts for 2021-22 have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.  The 
purpose of the Statements of Accounts is to give interested parties clear information about the Council’s finances.   
 
This year there have been no major accounting changes to the statement of accounts. 
 
The accounts consist of the following statements: - 
 
THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – the objective of this analysis is to demonstrate to council tax payers how the funding available to the council (i.e. 
government grants, council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned 
by councils in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.  The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated 
for decision making purposes between the council’s directorates.  Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is 
presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT - this statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with 
statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown both in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
THE MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT - this statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Council, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable’ reserves.  This statement shows 
how the movements in year of the council’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
THE BALANCE SHEET - which shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Council.  The net assets of the Council 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves are usable 
reserves (i.e. those that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on 
their use).  The second category of reserves are unusable reserves which are those that the Council is not able to use to provide services.  This category 
includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses, where amounts would only become available if the assets are sold; and reserves which hold timing 
differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT – which shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the reporting period.  The statement shows how 
the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  The amount of net cash 
flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant income or 
from the recipients of services provided by the Council.  Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which 
are intended to contribute to the Council’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash 
flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 

152



NARRATIVE REPORT 

19 
 

THE COLLECTION FUND  - this account reflects the statutory requirement contained in Section 89 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (amended by Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government Finance Act 2012) for billing authorities to establish and maintain a separate fund for the collection 
and distribution of amounts due in relation to Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates.  
Breckland collects council tax on behalf of Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner and towns and parishes, and redistributes the 
precepts to these authorities. The balance on the council tax element of the Collection Fund is shared proportionately between Norfolk County Council, Norfolk 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Breckland Council. 
Breckland collects National Non-Domestic Rates on behalf of Central Government and Norfolk County Council and re-distributes the precepts to these 
authorities.  The balance on the National Non-Domestic Rates element of the Collection Fund is shared proportionately between Central Government, Breckland 
Council and Norfolk County Council. 
 
THE GROUP ACCOUNTS – show the accounts for the Council including its share of interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. 
 
THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT – sets out the Council’s approach to corporate governance and how it manages its governance arrangements in 
accordance with the Code of Governance. 
 
The accounts are supported by the notes to the financial statements.  These notes include a summary of significant accounting policies, further detail relating 
to items in the main financial statements, assumptions made about the future and major estimations made. 
 
This narrative report provides a brief explanation of the Council’s overall financial position and some key messages and aims to assist the readers in the 
interpretation of the accounting statements. 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting sets out a requirement to prepare group accounts where the authority has interests in subsidiaries, 
associates and/or joint ventures, subject to the consideration of materiality, in addition to their single entity financial statements.  The Council has an interest in 
Breckland Bridge Ltd and this is consolidated into the Group Accounts as a Joint Venture and more information can be found in the Group Accounts and related 
party transactions notes. 
 
Note 31 to these accounts provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items within this 
statement in 2021-22. 
 
 
 

153



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS 

20 
 

The Council’s Responsibilities 
The Council is required:  

o to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs.  In this Council in 2021-22 that officer was the Assistant Director Finance. 

 
o to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets. 

 
o to approve the Statements of Accounts. 

 
The Assistant Director Finance’s Responsibilities 
The Assistant Director Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Council's Statements of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’).   
 
In preparing these Statements of Accounts, the Assistant Director Finance has:  

o selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 
 
o made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

 
o complied with the local authority Code   

 
The Assistant Director Finance has also: 

o kept proper accounting records, which were up to date 
 

o taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Assistant Director Finance should sign and date the Statements of Accounts, stating that they provide a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Council at the reporting date and of its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022.  This certification can be found at page 25 and page 86. 
 
The Chairman’s declaration confirming that the Statement of Accounts have been approved by the Governance and Audit Committee can be found at page 92. 
 
 

154



EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 

21 
 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 Net 

Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2021-22 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2021-22 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2021-22 

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2020-21 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2020-21 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2020-21 

 
 

Note 

    Restated Restated Restated  
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Cost of Services        
Place & Delivery Directorate 5,170  4,253  9,423  3,169  3,585  6,754   
Strategy & Resources Directorate 9,582  392  9,974  8,571  727  9,298   
Housing Benefit 987  (20)  967  544 (144) 400  
Net Cost of Services 15,739  4,625  20,364  12,284 4,168 16,452  
        
Other Income & Expenditure (9,289)  (9,979)  (19,268)  (23,170) 4,549 (18,621)  
        
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 6,450  (5,354)  1,096  (10,886) 8,717 (2,169) 2,3,4 
        

 
Opening General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.21 28,083 
  
Adjust for Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services (6,450) 
  
Closing General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.22 21,633 

 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is a note to the Financial Statements, however, it is positioned here as it provides a link from the figures reported in 
the Financial Performance Report at Cabinet to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). Figures for 2020-21 have been restated to 
reflect the change from 3 Directorates to 2 Directorates in 2021-22, to allow like-for-like comparison. 
 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items.

155



COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

22 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
 Gross 

Expenditure 
2021-22 

Gross 
Income 
2021-22 

Net 
Expenditure 

2021-22 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2020-21 

Gross 
Income 
2020-21 

Net 
Expenditure 

2020-21 

 
 

Note 
    Restated Restated Restated  
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Expenditure on Services        
Place & Delivery Directorate 21,554  (12,131)  9,423  21,349  (14,595)  6,754   
Strategy & Resources Directorate 20,842  (10,868)  9,974  18,404  (9,106)  9,298   
Housing Benefit 22,547  (21,580)  967  23,496  (23,096) 400   
Cost of Services 64,943  (44,579) 20,364  63,249 (46,797) 16,452  
Other operating expenditure        
  Parish Council Precepts and Drainage Board Levies 4,396 - 4,396 4,334 - 4,334  
  (Gain)/Loss on disposal of non-current assets - (314) (314) - (556) (556)  
Financing and investment income and expenditure        
  Interest receivable & payable & similar income & expenditure 547 (696) (149) 554 (687) (133)  
  Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/asset 2,904 (1,688) 1,216 2,597 (1,565) 1,032  
  (Surplus)/Deficit on trading undertakings (1,530) (2,963) (4,493) 1,320 (2,709) (1,389)  
  Other 913 - 913 - (386) (386)  
Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure        
  Council Tax income (including collection fund) - (8,861) (8,861) - (8,471) (8,471)  
  NDR income & expenditure (including collection fund) 11,089 (14,601) (3,512) 15,789 (15,336) 453  
  Revenue Support Grant - (660) (660) - (657) (657)  
  Covid-19 Government grants - (731) (731) - (6,610) (6,610)  
  Other non-ring-fenced Government grants - (7,073) (7,073) - (6,238) (6,238)  
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 83,262 (82,166) 1,096 87,843 (90,012) (2,169)  
(Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of PPE assets   (2,340)   1,522  
Actuarial (gains)/losses on pension assets/liabilities   (15,055)   14,014 7 
Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure   (17,395)   15,536  

Total Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure   (16,299)   13,367  
 
Figures for 2020-21 have been restated to reflect the change from 3 Directorates to 2 Directorates in 2021-22, to allow like-for-like comparison. 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items.

156



MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 

23 
 

Movement in Reserves Statement 
  

General 
Fund 

Balance 

Ear-
marked 

GF 
Reserves 

 
Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Un-
applied 

 
Total 

Usable 
Reserves 

 
Un-

usable 
Reserves 

 
 

Total 
Reserves 

 
 
 

Notes 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  

Balance as at 1 April 2020 2,501 14,696 - 1,408 18,605 32,671 51,276  
Movement in Reserves during 2020-21         

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 2,169 - - - 2,169 (15,536) (13,367)  
Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

8,717 - - 108 8,825 (8,825) -  

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (10,538) 10,538 - - - - -  
Increase/(decrease) for year 348 10,538 - 108 10,994 (24,361) (13,367)  
         
Balance as at 31 March 2021 2,849 25,234 - 1,516 29,599 8,310 37,909  
         
Balance as at 1 April 2021 2,849 25,234 - 1,516 29,599 8,310 37,909  
Movement in Reserves during 2021-22         
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (1,096)  - - - (1,096) 17,395  16,299   
Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis (5,354) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 76  (5,278)  5,278  

 
 

- 

 
 
5 

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 6,422 (6,422) - - - - - 6 

Increase/(decrease) for year (28)  (6,422)  - 76  (6,374)  22,673  16,299   
         
Balance as at 31 March 2022 2,821  18,812  - 1,592  23,225  30,983  54,208   

 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items, particularly in respect of 
Earmarked General Fund Reserves which are holding balances relating to future cost pressures and are not an available resource.

157



BALANCE SHEET 
 

24 
 

Balance Sheet 
 31 March 2022 31 March 2021 Notes 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  
Non Current Assets      
Property Plant and Equipment 42,837   38,767  8 
Heritage Assets 337   310  - 
Investment Property 34,099   31,701  9 
Intangible Assets 51   76  - 
Total Non Current Assets  77,324  70,854  
Long term debtors  12,411  12,431 10 
Total long-term assets  89,735  83,285  

Current Assets      
Short-term investments 33,015   20,001  11 
Short-term debtors 7,922   16,554  12 
Cash and cash equivalents 8,860   8,589  13 
Assets Held for Sale 18   787  - 
Total Current Assets  49,815  45,931  
Total Assets      
Current Liabilities      
Short-term creditors (26,838)  (19,878)  14 
Provisions (2,272)  (2,462)  15 
Total Current Liabilities  (29,110)  (22,340)  
Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities 

 110,440  106,876  

Long Term Liabilities      
PFI Lease Liability > 1 year (7,227)  (7,511)  24 
Pensions Liability (47,843)  (60,008)  7 
Capital grants receipts in advance (1,162)  (1,448)  16 
Total Long-term Liabilities  (56,232)  (68,967)  
Net Assets  54,208  37,909  

Financed By:-      
Usable reserves  (23,225)  (29,599) 17 
Un-usable reserves  (30,983)  (8,310) 18 
Total Net Worth  (54,208)  (37,909)  

 
 

158



BALANCE SHEET 
 

25 
 

I certify that the statements of accounts on pages 21 to 80 present a true and fair view of the financial position of Breckland Council as at 31 March 2022 and 
its income and expenditure for the year then ended. 
 
 
Assistant Director Finance: 
 
 
A Chubbock 

  
 
Date:          30th June 2022 
 

159



CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

26 
 

Cash Flow Statement 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services 1,096  (2,169)  
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements     
  Depreciation and amortisation (1,493)  (1,154)  
  Impairments and valuations (673)  (958)  
  (Increase)/Decrease in creditors (2,742)  (11,650)  
  Increase/(Decrease) in debtors (including interest debtors) (2,336)  1,053  
  Pension liability (2,890)  (1,120)  
  Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (870)  -  
  Other 2,480  (779)  
Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
that are investing and financing activities 

    

  Capital grants credited to the surplus/deficit on the provision of service 2,993  2,902  
  Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 1,316  556  
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  (3,119)  (13,319) 
Investing Activities     
  Purchase of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  3,678  4,327 
  Purchase of short and long term investments  13,000  2,601 
  Proceeds from the sale of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  (1,184)  (657) 
  Proceeds from short and long term investments  -  (2,601) 
  Other receipts and payments for investing activities  (4,262)  (3,095) 
Financing Activities     
  Cash payments for the reduction of liabilities relating to PFI contracts  269  255 
  Other receipts/payments for financing activities  (8,653)  8,863 
Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (271)  (3,626) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  8,589  4,963 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  8,860  8,589 

 
The cash flows from operating activities includes interest received of £686k in 2021-22 (£764k in 2020-21) and interest paid of £547k in 2021-22 (£554k in 
2020-21). 

160



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

27 
 

Note 1 – Accounting Policies 
General Principles 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2021-22 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2022. The Council 
is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in 
accordance with proper accounting practices.  These practices under Section 21 of the 2003 Act primarily comprise the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-22, supported by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain 
categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

• Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made. 

• Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as expenditure or income on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where income or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in 
the Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that might not be collected. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents 
are investments that are instant access and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year: 

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; and 
• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the 

losses can be written off; and 
• Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 

 

161



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

28 
 

The Council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an 
annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  The Council has an underlying borrowing requirement, but has 
not yet needed to borrow externally. There is an amount implicit in the PFI repayment relating to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Depreciation, revaluation, 
impairment losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by an adjusting transaction between the Capital Adjustment Account and the Movement in Reserves 
Statement which reverses out the amount charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 
Collection Fund 
This account is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The statement shows 
the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution of council tax and non-domestic rates (NNDR) to major 
preceptors, local authorities and the Government. 
An allowance for the impairment of debt is calculated for the Collection Fund using the following bases: 

• Council Tax – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding for each year based on the age of that debt. 
• NNDR – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding based on the age of that debt. 

An allowance for impairment from NNDR appeals from the 2010 valuation list is calculated by taking the outstanding appeals at the Valuation Office (VO), 
categorising these by the rating list descriptions and applying an estimate to the likely success of each outstanding appeal using historical statistics of appeals 
settled in each category.  For NNDR appeals lodged relating to the 2017 valuation list the same process is used as under the 2010 list.  In addition, an appeals 
allowance of 3% of net rates payable for the remainder of the 2017 appeals list is allowed for due to the length of time it is taking appeals to be lodged.  
Furthermore, a review on high risk properties such as high rateable value, large infrastructure, change to charities, etc is undertaken and an estimate made for 
appeals on these properties if required.   
 
The council tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the council’s share of accrued income for the year.  
However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NNDR that must be included in the Council’s General Fund.  Therefore, the difference between 
the income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken 
to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The Balance Sheet includes the 
Council’s share of the year end balances in respect of council tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowance for doubtful debts, overpayments and 
prepayments and appeals. 
 
Employee Benefits 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries and paid annual leave for current employees, are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-
end.  They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render services to the Council and charged on an accrual basis to the 
relevant service line of the comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an 
officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service segment at 
the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a restructuring. 
 

162



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

29 
 

Post Employment Benefits 
Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), administered by Norfolk County Council, which provides defined 
benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council. It is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

• The liabilities of the pension scheme attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method 
– i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions 
about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc and projections of projected earnings for current employees. 

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds. 
• The assets of the Norfolk County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their bid value. 
• The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

o Service cost comprising: 
 Current Service Cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 
 Past Service Cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service 

earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

 Net Interest on the net defined liability, ie. Net interest expense for the Council – the change during the period in the net defined 
liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability at the beginning of the period – taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

o Re-measurements comprising: 
 Return on Plan Assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined liability – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
 Actuarial Gains and Losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions 

made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

o Contributions paid to the Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted 
for as an expense 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.  The negative balance that arises 
on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash 
flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 
 
 
 

163



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

30 
 

Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue.  Two types of event can be identified: 

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events 
• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where 

a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect. 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
The Council measures some of its non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell as asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement 
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The Council measures the fair value of an asset using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  The Council uses valuation 
techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.  Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Council’s financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Council can access at the measurement date 
• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly 
• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset. 

 
Financial Instruments 
Financial Liabilities 
The policy for any financial liabilities the Council holds which are classed as leases or PFI are detailed within the policy for that classification. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cash flow characteristics.  The Council holds financial assets measured at: 

• Amortised cost 
 
The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows.  Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 

164



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 
 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  Annual credits for interest receivable are made to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount of the 
investment/asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council 
when there is reasonable assurance that; 

• the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments and  
• the grants or contributions will be received.   

 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 
using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 
the transferor. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income (for non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account.  
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Certain grants are general grants allocated by Central Government directly to local authorities as revenue funding, these are non-ringfenced and are credited 
to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Details of these grants can be found in note 16 Grant 
Income. 
 
Interest in Companies and Other Entities 
The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee - This involves a group of authorities coming together to fulfil a joint purpose but it does not constitute a legal 
entity in its own right.  It is accounted for in the respective authorities Statements of Accounts as a shared service.  This requires the authority’s share of 
partnership transactions (expenditure and income and balances if applicable) to be included within the relevant lines within the authority’s accounts. 
 
Breckland Bridge Ltd – This is the Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company set up between the Council and The Land Group Ltd.  The company has been 
set up to accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth through projects in the Council area with a view to securing the economic, social, and 

165



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

32 
 

environmental well-being of the Council area whilst generating a financial return.  This company is classified as a Joint Venture in the Councils accounts and 
group accounts are prepared on this basis.  Please refer to the group accounts section of this document. 
 
The Related Party Transactions note give details on these entities. 
 
Investment Property 
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way 
to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use.  
Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end.  Valuations are in accordance with the professional 
standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors: RICS Valuation – Global Standards.  Gains and losses on revaluation and on disposal are posted to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the ‘Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services’ line and result 
in a gain for the General Fund Balance.  However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact 
on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and 
posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Where part of an investment property is replaced (i.e. subsequent capital expenditure), the carrying amounts of the parts replaced are de-recognised (where 
material) and the cost of replacement is recognised in the carrying value of the property. 
 
Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, 
plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land 
and buildings elements are usually considered separately for classification. 
 
Authority as Lessor 
Operating Leases – Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to the 
relevant line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (i.e. Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings).  Credits are made on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg. there is a rent free period). 
 
Finance leases – Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the 
commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the 
same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the 

166



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

33 
 

asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.  Expected residual values of finance leases are reviewed 
every 5 years. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received); and 
• Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and 
is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts 
Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial 
years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point the deferred capital 
receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
Overheads and Support Services 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the council’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the non-current assets needed to provide the service passes 
to the PFI contractor.  Breckland entered into a 33.5 year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in December 2005.  Changes to 
the 2009 Statement of Recommended Practice resulted in the council re-examining its accounting treatment in the context of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in particular under the interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and determining that the 
arrangement should be accounted for as a service concession arrangement within the scope of IFRIC 12.  
 
The annual unitary payment is split between lease payments, service & revenue expenditure and asset lifecycle costs.  The allocation of this unitary payment 
is estimated based on the terms of the payment mechanism in the PFI contract.  Therefore the annual unitary charge for each facility is allocated 50% to the 
lease payment and the remaining 50% to cover service & revenue costs and asset lifecycle costs.  The amounts are allocated between the two sites based on 
information in the operators’ model giving a split of 55% Thetford and 45% Dereham.  A mark up of 2% has been applied in order to estimate the fair value of 
the real maintenance and lifecycle services.  This mark up has been calculated as the difference between the total real costs (as per the operator model) and 
50% of the unitary charge (in real terms). 
Property used under the PFI contract is recognised as an asset on the Balance Sheet, with a related liability also recognised.  The fair value of the PFI assets 
at completion of construction was determined in reference to the construction costs disclosed in the operators’ financial model.  The existing buildings at the 

167



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

34 
 

Thetford site have been included at their net book value at the relevant date.  Where the property is enhanced by the PFI operator, the fair value of the 
enhancement is recognised in the Balance Sheet of the Council.  A day 1 revaluation gain has been recorded in relation to the District Valuer (DV) valuation 
carried out at 1 April 2007.  Assets have been split between the Thetford and Dereham sites with the split of construction costs between the two centres being 
based on the assumption applied for unitary payments (55% Thetford and 45% Dereham).  The assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful 
life of the asset as estimated by the valuer. 
 
Capital lifecycle costs are treated as a prepayment amount (allocated on a straight line basis over the contract term).  When the capital improvement works are 
undertaken by the contractor (based on their financial model) the relevant amount of the capital expenditure will then be reclassified from prepayments to non-
current assets.  Assets are re-valued every 3 years as part of the Council’s rolling programme of valuations and the non-current asset values are updated as 
necessary (in line with the Property, Plant and Equipment Policy). 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes 
and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment. 
 
Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable 
that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is 
charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
A de-minimus level of £20,000 has been adopted for the inclusion of non-current assets in all categories with the exception of surplus land, which has no de-
minimus level, vehicles and equipment which have a de-minimus level of £10,000 and grant funding received which also has no de-minimus.   
 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising; the purchase price, any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and (if applicable) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located.   
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

• Council Offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV) 
• Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost 
• Surplus Assets – fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective 
• All Other Assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV) 

 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  In practice assets are valued within a five year rolling programme but due to the grouping of 
classes of assets they are usually valued every three years.  Valuations are in accordance with the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors: RICS Valuation – Global Standards. 

168



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

35 
 

Increases in valuation are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a valuation loss previously charged to a service. 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: 

• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date 
have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
Assets are assessed each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences 
are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss 
is recognised for the shortfall. 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 
construction).   
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

• Buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 1 to 99 years) 
• Car Parks – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 3 to 28 years) 
• Infrastructure – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 18.5 to 25 years) 
• Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight line method using internally assessed useful economic lives (ranges from 1 to 10 years) 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation 
which would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
 
 
 

169



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

36 
 

Componentisation 
Where an item of PPE asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset and whose useful life differs, the components 
are depreciated separately, unless the componentisation makes no material difference to the overall depreciation charge.  The following de-minimus levels 
have been set for componentisation of an asset (as the values are not considered significant in relation to componentisation): 

• Assets with a total cost of £100,000 or less will not be subject to componentisation 
• Any components with a cost of 10% or less of the total cost of the asset will not be componentised separately 

Componentisation is considered for new valuations, enhancement expenditure and acquisition expenditure carried out on or after 1 April 2010.  Where a 
component is replaced or restored (i.e. enhancement expenditure) the carrying amount of the old component shall be de-recognised before reflecting the 
enhancement. 
 
The Council recognises the following levels of components: 

• Substructure 
• Superstructure 
• Internal services 
• External works 

Componentisation is not applicable to land as land is non-depreciable and is considered to have an infinite life. 
 
Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, 
it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus 
or Deficit in the Provision of Services.  Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their 
carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Assets Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 
 
When an asset is disposed of or de-commissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether PPE or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Any receipts from the disposal 
are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.   
 
Amounts received for disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts, receipts below this amount are classed as revenue income.  The written-
off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

170



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

37 
 

Depreciation, impairment losses and revaluations are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance, they are therefore reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Provisions and Contingent Assets/Liabilities 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that will probably require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits 
or service potential and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council 
becomes aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are 
charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a settlement is required (or a lower settlement than estimated is made) the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
In the event that a possible liability (or asset) arises which may require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but the timing and amount of the transfer 
is uncertain and the obligation will only be confirmed by occurrence or otherwise of a future event, then this will not be recognised in the Balance Sheet, but will 
be shown in a note to the accounts as a contingent asset or liability. 
 
Reserves 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in the year and is therefore 
included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back 
into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments and retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement of Reserves Statement from the General Fund 
balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so there is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 
  

171



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

38 
 

Note 2 – Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
  

 
Adjust-

ments for 
Capital 

Purposes 

Net 
change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjust-

ment 

 
 
 

Other 
Differen-

ces 

 
 
 

Total 
Adjust-
ments 

 
 

Adjust-
ments for 

Capital 
Purposes 

Net 
change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjust-

ment 

 
 
 

Other 
Differen-

ces 

 
 
 

Total 
Adjust-
ments 

 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 
     Restated Restated Restated Restated 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Place & Delivery Directorate (640)  416  4,477  4,253  2,066  59  1,460  3,585  
Strategy & Resources Directorate (52)  1,258  (814)  392  20  29  678  727  
Housing Benefit - - (20)  (20)  - - (144) (144) 
Net Cost of Services (692)  1,674  3,643  4,625  2,086 88 1,994 4,168 
Other Income & Expenditure from the Funding 
Analysis (2,778) 1,216 (8,417) (9,979) (1,380) 1,032 4,897 4,549 
Difference Between General Fund 
Surplus/Deficit and Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement Surplus/Deficit 

(3,470) 2,890 (4,774) (5,354) 706 1,120 6,891 8,717 

Figures for 2020-21 have been restated to reflect the change from 3 Directorates to 2 Directorates in 2021-22, to allow like-for-like comparison. 
 
Adjustments for Capital Purposes – this column adds in depreciation, impairment, capital grants, and revaluation gains/losses in the service lines, and for; 
Other Operating Expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets; 
Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure – the statutory charges for capital financing and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income 
and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices; and Taxation & Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure – 
capital grants are adjusted for income chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.  Revenue grants are adjusted from those receivable in the 
year to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year.  The Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 
 
Net Change for Pensions Adjustments – this column is the net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee Benefits 
pension related expenditure and income.  For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the authority as allowed by 
statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service costs.  For Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure the net interest on the defined 
benefit liability is charged to the CIES. 
Other Differences – Other statutory adjustments between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute.  For taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure the other differences column represents the 
difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NDR that was projected to be received at the start of the year and the 

172



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

39 
 

income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code.  This is a timing difference as any difference will be bought forward in future 
surpluses or deficits in the collection fund.  Other non-statutory adjustments for amounts debited or credited to service segments which need to be adjusted 
against the ‘Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure and Funding Analysis’ line to comply with the presentational requirements in the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement.  For Other Operating Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments levies and internal 
recharges.  For Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments for interest payable/receivable, levies, bad 
debt impairment allowances and internal recharges relating to Commercial Property Trading Account.  For Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure the other differences column recognises adjustments to service segments e.g. for un-ring fenced government grants. 
 
Note 3 – Segmental Income 
Income received on a segmental basis is analysed below: 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 Income from Services Income from Services 
 £’000 £’000 
Revenues from external customers (14,465) (9,589) 
Other income (43,930) (49,324) 
Total Income Analysed on a Segmental Basis (58,395) (58,913) 

 
Note 4 – Expenditure & Income Analysed by Nature 
The Council’s expenditure & income is analysed as follows: 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Employee Benefit Expenses 13,029 11,639 
Other Service Expenses 26,997 25,000 
Housing Benefit 22,547 23,496 
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment 2,300 4,988 
Precepts & Levies 4,396 4,334 
Pensions Interest Cost 2,904 2,597 
Non-Domestic Rates (Tariff, levy) 11,089 15,789 
Total Expenditure 83,262 87,843 
Fees, Charges & Other Service Income (19,670) (16,813) 
Housing Benefit (21,580) (23,096) 
Interest & Investment Income (696) (687) 
Pensions Return on Assets (1,688) (1,565) 
Income from Council Tax & Non-Domestic Rates (23,462) (23,807) 
Government Grants & Contributions (15,070) (24,044) 
Total Income (82,166) (90,012) 
 1,096 (2,169) 

173



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

40 
 

Note 5 – Movement in Reserves Statement - Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with 
proper accounting practice, to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to meet future revenue and capital 
expenditure.  The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 
 
General Fund Balance – This is the statutory fund into which all the receipts and liabilities of the Council are required to be paid or met, except to the extent 
that statutory rules may provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact the General Fund 
balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. 
 
Capital Receipts Reserve – This holds the proceeds from the disposal of assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital 
expenditure.  
 
Capital Grants Un-applied – This holds grants and contributions received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would 
otherwise require repayment of the monies which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

174



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

41 
 

 
 

General 
Fund & 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

 General 
Fund & 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

 
 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

 2021-22  2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
Adjustments to Revenue Resources        
Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year 
calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 
Pensions costs (transferred to/from the pensions reserve) 2,890 - -  1,120 - - 
Council Tax and NNDR (transfers to/from the Collection fund Acc.) (4,766) - -  6,729 - - 
Holiday Pay (transferred to/from the Accumulated Absences Acc.) (8) - -  161 - - 
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in relation to capital revaluation (gains)/losses on PPE & 
movements in the value of Investment Properties 

 
 

(1,616) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

  
 

1,279 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 2,424 - -  2,555 - - 
Depreciation & Amortisation 1,493 - -  1,154 - - 
Capital grants & contributions (2,917) - -  (2,794) - - 
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are 
charged to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

 
 

(1,490) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

  
 

(1,171) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (3,990) - -  9,033 - - 
Adjustments between Capital and Revenue Resources        
Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (1,175) - -  (205) - - 
Total Adjustments between Capital and Revenue Resources (1,175) - -  (205) - - 
Adjustments to Capital Resources        
Use of capital receipts reserve to finance capital expenditure - - -  - - - 
Allocation of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (76) - 76  (108) - 108 
Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts (113) - -  (3) - - 
Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (189) - 76  (111) - 108 
        
Total Adjustments (5,354) - 76  8,717 - 108 

 

175



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

42 
 

Note 6 – Movement in Reserves Statement – Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Reserves 
  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and amounts posted 
back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure.  Note 17 provides details on the movements in the capital receipts reserve and capital grants 
un-applied. 
 

 01.04.2020 
Receipts 
2020-21 

Payments 
2020-21 

Transfers 
2020-21 

 
31.03.2021 

Receipts 
2021-22 

Payments 
2021-22 

Transfers 
2021-22 31.03.2022 

 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   
  

    
    

General Fund (2,501) (348) - - (2,849) - 28 - (2,821) 
          
Earmarked Reserves:          
Commercial Property (493) (109) 44 - (558) (315) 162 (40) (751) 
Insurance (45) (5) 12 - (38) (28) 1 - (65) 
Match Funding  (309) - 24 - (285) - 94 - (191) 
Organisational Developments (1,590) (793) 462 (98) (2,019) (572) 848 - (1,743) 
Waste and Recycling (50) (50) - - (100) (49) 50 - (99) 
Revenue Grants Rec’d in Advance (1,140) (4,091) 846 15 (4,370) (3,256) 4,058 - (3,568) 
John Room House Major Repairs (31) (16) 23 - (24) (16) - 40 - 
LDF Reserve (55) - - 55 - - - - - 
Council Tax & Business Rates (2,201) (7,262) 580 - (8,883) (2,723) 6,762 - (4,844) 
Communities (394) - - - (394) - - - (394) 
Growth & Investment Reserve (5,687) (374) 832 26 (5,203) - 1,845 - (3,358) 
Inclusive Growth (2,701) (1,319) 658 2 (3,360) (1,568) 1,129 - (3,799) 
Total Earmarked Reserves (14,696) (14,019) 3,481 - (25,234) (8,527) 14,949 - (18,812) 

 
Commercial Property – This reserve represents the balance from tenants for major repairs such as roof & asphalt. 
 
Insurance – To cover for items not specifically insured and to cover higher excesses for low area claims.  Reserve levels maintained to reflect claims history. 
 
Match Funding – Established to provide funds for projects brought to the Council with requests for match funding. 
  
Organisational Developments – This reserve is used to fund the progression of one-off projects within the services or invest to save items. 
 

176



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

43 
 

Waste and Recycling – This reserve was set up to smooth the effects of changes in current contract prices for the waste and recycling function. 
 
Revenue Grants Received in advance – This reserve was set up to earmark grants where conditions have been satisfied, but the grant will not be spent until 
a later financial year.  The 31.03.2022 balance is unusually high due to holding Government grants relating to Covid-19 and Council Tax Rebates which will be 
paid out during 2022-23. 
 
John Room House Hostel Major Repairs Reserve – This reserve was set up to smooth the effect of cyclical major repairs carried out at the Hostel. 
 
LDF Reserve – This reserve is for spend relating to the Local Delivery Framework (LDF) and is now fully utilised. 
 
Council Tax & Business Rates Reserve – This reserve was set up to manage the timings of cost pressures and un-foreseen reductions in NDR income 
resulting from the Government changes from localisation of Council Tax support and the retention of Business Rates.  The 31 March balances are unusually 
high due to holding Government grants relating to Covid-19 which were repaid in the next financial year. 
 
Communities Reserve – This reserve was set up to fund community-based projects (see Inclusive Growth reserve below). 
 
Growth and Investment Reserve – This reserve holds funds earmarked for investment in assets which generate an ongoing revenue return or investment in 
projects which deliver economic or housing growth in the area. 
 
Inclusive Growth Reserve – This reserve was set up to fund inclusive growth projects and balances relating to inclusive growth projects have been transferred 
from the communities reserve. 
 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items 
 
Note 7 – Pensions  
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its staff, Breckland offers retirement benefits through the Norfolk Pension Fund. Although these benefits 
will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments and to disclose them at the time that the employees 
earn their future entitlement. The Council participates in the Norfolk Pension Fund, administered by Norfolk County Council. This is a funded defined benefit 
final salary scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with 
investment assets.  This note includes the estimated financial effects of the McCloud Ruling and the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP). 
 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 
We recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by the employees, rather than when the benefits are 
eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge we are required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of 
post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The following transactions have been 
made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year: 
 

177



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

44 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement £'000   £'000   
Cost of services   
Service cost comprising:   
 Current service cost 4,703 2,999 
 Past service costs 18 7 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure   
Net interest expense 1,216 1,032 
Total post-employment benefits charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 5,937 4,038 
Other post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement   
Remeasurement of the net defined liability comprising:   
 Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense) (5,138) (15,097) 
 Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in demographic assumptions (574) 1,515 
 Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in financial assumptions (9,658) 28,847 
 Other (gains) and losses 315 (1,251) 
Total post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (15,055) 14,014 
Movement in Reserves Statement   
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for post-
employment benefits in accordance with the Code (2,890) (1,120) 
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year:   
Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 3,047 2,918 

 
Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000   £'000   
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (139,046) (144,585) 
Fair value of plan assets 91,203 84,577 
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (47,843) (60,008) 

 
 
 
 
 

178



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

45 
 

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the Scheme Assets 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000   £'000   
Opening fair value of scheme assets 84,577 68,233 
Interest income 1,688 1,565 
Remeasurement gain/(loss)   
 The return on plan assets (excluding amount included in the net interest expense) 5,138 15,097 
 Contributions from employer 3,047 2,918 
 Contributions from employees into the scheme 599 599 
 Benefits paid (3,846) (3,835) 
Closing fair value of scheme assets 91,203 84,577 

 
Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000   £'000   
1st April (144,585) (113,107) 
Current service cost (4,703) (2,999) 
Interest cost (2,904) (2,597) 
Contributions from scheme participants (599) (599) 
Remeasurement gain/(loss)   
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 574 (1,515) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions 9,658 (28,847) 
Other gains/(losses) (315) 1,251 
Past service cost (18) (7) 
Benefits paid 3,846 3,835 
31st March (139,046) (144,585) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

179



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

46 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
Assets Comprised: 
 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Quoted prices 
not in active 

markets Total 

% of 
Total 

Assets 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

Quoted prices 
not in active 

markets Total 

% of 
Total 

Assets 
 £'000   £'000   £'000   %   £'000   £'000   £'000   %   
Cash and cash equivalents 1,291 - 1,291 1 1,319 - 1,319 2 
Equity securities:         
 Consumer - - - - - - - - 
 Manufacturing - - - - - - - - 
 Energy and utilities - - - - - - - - 
 Financial institutions - - - - - - - - 
 Health and care - - - - - - - - 
 Information technology - - - - - - - - 
 Other - - - - - - - - 
Sub total Equity Securities - - - - - - - - 
Debt Securities:         
 UK Government 921 - 921 1 963 - 963 1 
Sub total Debt Securities 921 - 921 1 963 - 963 1 
Real Estate:         
 UK Property - 8,330 8,330 10 - 6,726 6,726 8 
 Overseas Property - 1,284 1,284 1 - 1,710 1,710 2 
Sub total Real Estate - 9,614  9,614  11 - 8,436 8,436 10 
Private Equity:         
All Private Equity - 7,359  7,359  8 - 5,367 5,367 6 
Other investment funds and unit trusts:         
 Equities 38,367 - 38,367 42 37,692 - 37,692 45 
 Bonds 26,345 - 26,345 29 25,109 - 25,109 30 
Infrastructure - 7,286 7,286 8 - 5,349 5,349 6 
Other - - - - - 311 311 - 
Sub total investment funds & unit trusts 64,712  7,286  71,998  79 62,801 5,660 68,461 81 
Derivatives:         
All Derivatives (Foreign Exchange) 20 - 20 - 31 - 31 - 
         
Total Assets 66,944 24,259 91,203 100 65,114 19,463 84,577 100 

180



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

47 
 

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent 
on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The Norfolk Pension fund liabilities have been assessed by Hymans Robertson, an independent firm 
of actuaries, estimates for the Norfolk Pension Fund being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019. 
 
The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 2021-22 2020-21 
Mortality assumptions:   
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners - men 21.7 years 21.9 years 
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners - women 24.1 years 24.3 years 
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners - men 22.9 years 23.2 years 
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners - women 26.0 years 26.2 years 
Retail Price Inflation (RPI) 3.55% 3.3% 
Rate of increase in salaries 3.90% 3.55% 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.20% 2.85% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.70% 2.0% 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.  The sensitivity analyses below have been 
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the 
assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant.  The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy 
increases or decreases for men and women.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.  The estimations 
in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method.  The methods and 
types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period. 
 
Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme 
 

Approximate % increase 
to employer liability 

Approximate 
monetary amount 

 % £’000 
0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate 2 2,642  
1 year increase in member life expectancy 4 5,562  
0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 0 252  
0.1% increase in the Pension Increase Rate 2 2,370  

 
Impact on the Council’s Cash Flows.  The contributions paid by the employer are set by the fund Actuary at each triennial valuation (the most recent being 31 
March 2022).  The next triennial valuation is due to be completed on 31 March 2025.   The Council anticipates paying £3,061k expected contributions to the 
scheme in 2022-23.  The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 16.3 years for 2021-22 (16.3 years in 2020-21). 
 
Further information can be found in Norfolk Pension Fund’s Annual Report, which is available on request from: Department of Finance & Information, Norfolk 
County Council, County Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich NR1 2DW.   

181



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

48 
 

Note 8 – Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
  

 
Other 

Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
& 

Equipment 

 
 

Infra- 
structure 

Assets 

 
 
 

Community 
Assets 

 
 
 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
Under 

Constr- 
uction/ 

WIP 

 
 
 

Total 
PPE 

 
PFI 

Assets 
Included 

in PPE 
Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
At 1 April 2021 26,918 6,768 1,377 232 6,253 232 41,780 14,738 
Additions 948 1,699  5  - 1,303 - 3,955 209 
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 996 

 
- 

 
(16) 10 705 

 
- 1,695 531 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (851) 

 
- 

 
- 1 (102) 

 
- (952) (318) 

Derecognition – Disposals - (81) - - (100) - (181) - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Investment Assets - - - - 65 - 65 - 
Additions – Transferred from WIP - - 11 - 219 (232) (2) - 
At 31 March 2022 28,011 8,386 1,377 243 8,343 0 46,360 15,160 
Accumulated Depreciation         
At 1 April 2021 - (2,969) (19) - (25) - (3,013) - 
Depreciation charge 2021-22 (771) (636) (12) - (36) - (1,455) (531) 
Depreciation Written out to Revaluation Reserve 516 - 31 - 58 - 605 281 
Depreciation Written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 255 

- - - 
4 

- 
259 250 

Derecognition – Disposals - 81 - - - - 81 - 
At 31 March 2022 - (3,524) - - 1 - (3,523) - 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 26,918 3,799 1,358 232 6,228 232 38,767 14,738 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2022 28,011 4,862 1,377 243 8,344 - 42,837 15,160 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        

182



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

49 
 

  
 

Other 
Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture 
& 

Equipment 

 
 

Infra- 
structure 

Assets 

 
 
 

Community 
Assets 

 
 
 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
Under 

Constr- 
uction/ 

WIP 

 
 
 

Total 
PPE 

 
PFI 

Assets 
Included 

in PPE 
Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
At 1 April 2020 27,966 3,554 1,377 230 8,651 11 41,789 15,601 
Additions 784 3,214 - - 49 229 4,276 628 
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 

(1,462) - - - (964) - (2,426) (1,176) 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

(370) - - 2 (713) - (1,081) (315) 

Derecognition – Disposals - - - - - - - - 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Assets Held for Sale - - - - (770) - (770) - 
Additions – Transferred from WIP - - - - - (8) (8) - 
At 31 March 2021 26,918 6,768 1,377 232 6,253 232 41,780 14,738 
Accumulated Depreciation         
At 1 April 2020 (101) (2,731) (7) - (62) - (2,901) - 
Depreciation charge 2020-21 (773) (238) (12) - (69) - (1,092) (480) 
Depreciation Written out to Revaluation Reserve 761 - - - 97 - 858 423 
Depreciation Written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

113 - - - 9 - 122 57 

Derecognition – Disposals - - - - - - - - 
At 31 March 2021 - (2,969) (19) - (25) - (3,013) - 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 27,865 823 1,370 230 8,589 11 38,888 15,601 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 26,918 3,799 1,358 232 6,228 232 38,767 14,738 

 
Depreciation 
The useful lives and depreciation rates used in the calculation of depreciation are detailed in the accounting policies at note 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

183



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

50 
 

Revaluations 
The asset values shown for 2021-22 are as at 31 March 2022 to reflect material changes during the year within the asset.  Asset values in previous years are 
shown as at 1st April for that year.  The Council has introduced a rolling programme of revaluations and assets are subject to a five-year review as a minimum.  
The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Statements of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes ('The Red Book') prepared by the Assets 
Valuation Standards Committee of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and in accordance with the recommendations made by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy. The bases for the valuation for each category of non-current assets are set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies at 
note 1.  
 
The valuations were prepared by the District Valuer [ARICS], Valuation Office, Rosebery Court, Central Avenue, St Andrew’s Business Park, Norwich NR7 
0HS. 
  

Other Land 
& Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture & 
Equipment 

 
Infrastructure 

Assets 

 
Community 

Assets 

 
Surplus 
Assets 

 
Works in 
Progress 

 
 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Carried at Historical Cost - 8,386 1,377 - - - 9,763 
Valued at fair value in:        
2021-22 28,011 - - 243 8,343 - 36,597 
2020-21 - - - - - - - 
Total 28,011 8,386 1,377 243 8,343 - 46,360 

 
Capital Commitments  
At 31 March 2022, the Council has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2022-23 and 
future years.  The major commitments are: 
 Expenditure Approved 

& Contracted 
Expenditure Approved 

but not Contracted 
 £’000 £’000 
At 31 March 2022 2,987 2,745 
At 31 March 2021 532 5,561 

 
There have been no major changes in estimates during 2021-22. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

184



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

51 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
Details of the Council’s surplus assets and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
 
2021-22 

 
Quoted Prices in 

active markets for 
identical assets 

(level 1) 

 
Other 

significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
 

Significant un-
observable 

inputs (level 3) 

 
 

Fair Value 
as at 

31.03.2022 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Land - 3,684 - 3,684 
Property - 4,211 - 4,211 
Shared Equity Housing - 449 - 449 
Total - 8,344 - 8,344 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2021-22. 
 
 
 
2020-21 

 
Quoted Prices in 

active markets for 
identical assets 

(level 1) 

 
Other 

significant 
observable 

inputs (level 2) 

 
 

Significant un-
observable 

inputs (level 3) 

 
 

Fair Value 
as at 

31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Land - 4,056 - 4,056 
Property - 1,738 - 1,738 
Shared Equity Housing - 434 - 434 
Total - 6,228 - 6,228 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2020-21. 
 
Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Fair Values for Surplus Assets 
Significant Observable Inputs – level 2 
The valuation technique applied was the market approach.  This uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical 
or comparable (i.e. similar) assets.  The inputs to this technique are inputs that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly.  The inputs took the 
form of analysed and weighted market evidence such as sales, rentals and yields in respect of comparable properties in the same or similar locations at or 
around the valuation date. 
 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for surplus assets. 

185



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

52 
 

Highest and Best Use of Surplus Assets 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s surplus assets, the highest and best use of the assets is their current use. 
 
Valuation Process for surplus Assets 
The fair value of the Council’s surplus assets is measured on a cyclical basis (at least once every five years).  All valuations are carried out by the District Valuer 
(DV) in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  
Finance officers work closely with the DV regarding all valuation matters. 
 
Note 9 – Investment Property 
The following items of income and expense have been accounted for in the Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Rental income from investment property (2,963) (2,709) 
Operating expenses from investment property (1,530) 1,320 
Adjustment for spend funded from reserves (54) (79) 
Adjustment for finance lease income (270) (270) 
Adjustment for service charges to reserve 62 66 
Net gains/losses from Fair Value adjustments 2,290 (321) 
Total (2,465) (1,993) 

 
There are no restrictions on the Council’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on the Council’s right to the remittance of income and 
the proceeds of disposal.  The Council has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or repairs, maintenance or 
enhancement. 
The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year: 
 
  2021-22 2020-21 
  £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April 31,701 32,013 
Additions:- Purchases - - 
 Subsequent Expenditure 172 9 
Disposals  - - 
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments 2,290 (321) 
Transfers (to)/from Property, Plant and Equipment (65)  
Transfers (to)/from Assets under Construction 1  
Balance at 31 March 34,099 31,701 

186



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

53 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
Details of the Council’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
 
 
2021-22 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 

observable 
inputs (level 2) 

 
Significant un-

observable 
inputs (level 3) 

 
Fair Value 

as at 
31.03.2022 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Industrial Property - 27,677 - 27,677 
Land lease - 1,668 - 1,668 
Retail Units - 4,374 - 4,374 
Other - 380 - 380 
Total - 34,099 - 34,099 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2021-22. 
 
 
 
2020-21 

Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 

identical assets 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 

observable 
inputs (level 2) 

 
Significant un-

observable 
inputs (level 3) 

 
Fair Value 

as at 
31.03.2021 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements     
Industrial Property - 25,072 - 25,072 
Land lease - 1,705 - 1,705 
Retail Units - 4,564 - 4,564 
Other - 360 - 360 
Total - 31,701 - 31,701 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during 2020-21. 
 
Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Fair Values for Investment Property 
Significant Observable Inputs – level 2 
The valuation technique applied was the market approach.  This uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical 
or comparable (i.e. similar) assets.  The inputs to this technique are inputs that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly.  The inputs took the 
form of analysed and weighted market evidence such as sales, rentals and yields in respect of comparable properties in the same or similar locations at or 
around the valuation date. 
 
Highest and Best Use of Investment Property 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s investment property, the highest and best use of the assets is their current use. 

187



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

54 
 

Valuation Process for Investment Property 
The fair value of the Council’s investment property is measured annually at each reporting date.  All valuations are carried out by the District Valuer (DV) in 
accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  Finance 
officers work closely with the DV regarding all valuation matters. 
 
Note 10 – Long Term Debtors  
Amounts falling due in more than one year 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Housing Benefits Overpayments 824 884 
Loans to other organisations 467 560 
Long term sundry debtors 46 46 
PFI Capital Lifecycle Prepayment 1,026 810 
Finance leases 10,027 10,104 
Officers assisted car purchase 21 27 
Total 12,411  12,431 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

55 
 

Note 11 – Short Term Investments  
These are surplus funds invested in approved investment instruments that mature within the coming twelve months. The figures below include accrued interest. 
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 
Investment Institution 

Amount Invested 
£’000 

Amount Invested 
£’000 

Banks/Building Societies 31,015 13,000 
Other Local Authorities - 7,001 
Debt Management Office (UK Government) 2,000 -  
Total 33,015 20,001 

 

Note 12 – Short Term Debtors  
Amounts falling due in one year 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Council Tax & NNDR (incl. preceptors) 2,660 9,236 
DWP Subsidy 116 - 
Trade Debtors 1,140 1,952 
Enforcement 857 399 
Loans to other companies 145 290 
Other 3,004 4,677 
Total 7,922  16,554 

 
Elements of the ‘other’ figure of £3,004k are included within the Financial Instruments note (excluding prepayments and finance leases). 
 
Note 13 – Cash and Cash Equivalents  
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Bank current accounts 1,313  1,192 
Short term deposits (24hrs notice) 7,547  7,397 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,860  8,589 

 
 
 

189



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

56 
 

Note 14 – Short Term Creditors  
Amounts falling due in one year 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2022 
 £’000 £’000 
Rent deposits (927) (869) 
Council Tax & NNDR (incl. preceptors) (3,051) (322) 
Sundry Creditors (incl. purchase orders) (1,989) (1,018) 
DWP Subsidy -  (141) 
Gov’t Covid-19 Business Grant Funding (3,711) (3,275) 
£150 Council Tax Rebate Grant (8,088) - 
Capital accruals (1,982) (1,763) 
NNDR S31 grant owed to Government (4,091) (8,524) 
Other (2,999) (3,966) 
Total (26,838) (19,878) 

 
Elements of the ‘other’ figure of £2,999k are included within the Financial Instruments note within trade creditors (excluding prepayments and accumulated 
absences) and the PFI note within the PFI liability. 
 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items. 
 
Note 15 – Provisions  
 Outstanding 

Legal Cases 
 

Other 
 

NNDR 
 

Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 31 March 2021 (101) (18) (2,343) (2,462) 
Additional provisions made in 2021-22 (30) (38) (447) (515) 
Amounts used in 2021-22 75 8 618 701 
Unused amounts reversed in 2021-22 4 - - 4 
Balance at 31 March 2022 (52) (48) (2,172) (2,272) 

Outstanding legal cases – In 2021-22 costs for planning cases have totalled £75k.  A new provision has been made for £30k and unused provisions totalling 
£4k have been reversed. The balance of £52k will be used on expected planning court cases in 2022-23.  
Other – In 2021-22 a claim against the council for £8,700 was settled. A provision for a claim against the council for works completed regarding a disabled 
facility grant totals £18k.  A further claim regarding a health and safety incident totalling £20k has been made in 2021-22. 
 
NNDR – The Council’s share of provisions relating to NNDR appeals against the Rateable Value set by the Valuation Office totals £2,172k for claims outstanding 
and expected as at 31 March 2022. 

190



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

57 
 

Note 16 – Grant Income 
The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2021-22: 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income   
  New Homes Bonus (1,587) (2,042) 
  NNDR Section 31 Grants (4,612) (7,763) 
  Covid-19 General Government grant (731) (2,075) 
  Rural Services Delivery Grant (496) (472) 
  Other (378) (496) 
Total (7,804) (12,848) 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Credited to Services:   
  Dep’t for Business Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) (2,907) (5,720) 
  Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) - (4,721) 
  Department of Health & Social Care  (189) - 
  Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) (4,062) - 
  Homes England (372) (908) 
  Cabinet Office (40) (30) 
  Department for Works & Pensions (DWP) (21,540) (23,173) 
  Norfolk County Council (1,403) (1,369) 
  Suffolk County Council (56) - 
  Other Local Authorities (15) (206) 
  S106 Agreements (904) (548) 
  Local Enterprise Partnership (641) (539) 
  Norfolk Business Rates Pool (69) (42) 
  Apprentice Levy (16) - 
  Elections Claims Unit (127) - 
  National Leisure - (322) 
  European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) - (82) 
  Historic England (144) - 
  Housing Infrastructure Fund (83) - 
  Other Grants (22) (28) 
Total (32,590) (37,688) 
 
 

  

191



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

58 
 

Capital Grants Receipts in Advance 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
  S106 Agreements (156) (189) 
Total (156) (189) 

 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items. 
 
The following table details the movements in the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance held on the Balance Sheet.  These are grants and contributions that have 
yet to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them. 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
  Balance at 1 April (1,448) (1,473) 
  Receipts (156) (189) 
  Payments 433  214 
  Transfers 9 - 
Balance at 31 March (1,162) (1,448) 

 
The table below details the grants and contributions that make up the balance as at 31 March. 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Open Spaces (626) (540) 
Commuted Sums (183) (183) 
Affordable Housing (164) (581) 
Healthcare (35) (35) 
Waste (13) (13) 
Village Hall (96) (96) 
S106 Monitoring Fees (37) - 
GIRAM (Green Infrastructure) Strategy (8) - 
Balance at 31 March (1,162) (1,448) 

 

Note 17 – Usable Reserves 
Movements in the Council’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Movements in the General Fund and the Earmarked 
Reserves are shown at note 6. 
 
 

192



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

59 
 

Capital Receipts Reserve 
The capital receipts reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund 
new capital expenditure or to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  Any balance on this reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied 
for these purposes at year end. 
 
Capital Grants Un-applied 
The capital grants un-applied account (reserve) holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions 
that would otherwise require repayment of the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure.  The balance is restricted by grant terms as to the 
capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take place. 
 
Capital Grants Un-applied 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (1,516) (1,408) 
Receipts (311) (321) 
Payments - - 
Financing of capital programme 235 213 
Balance at 31 March (1,592) (1,516) 

 
Note 18 – Unusable Reserves 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Revaluation Reserve (13,811) (12,674) 
Capital Adjustment Account (56,977)  (52,511) 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (10,146) (10,013) 
Pensions Reserve 47,843 60,008 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 1,739 6,504 
Accumulated Absences Account 369 376 
Total Unusable Reserves (30,983) (8,310) 

 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the council arising from increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is 
reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation 
• Disposed of and the gains are realised 

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date 
are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

193



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

60 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (12,674) (14,577) 
Upward revaluation of assets (2,694) (1,664) 
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services 354 3,186 
Surplus/Deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services (2,340) 1,522 
Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation 334 381 
Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 869 - 
Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (1,137)  1,903 
Balance at 31 March (13,811)  (12,674) 

 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets 
and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The account is credited with the amounts set 
aside by the council as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 
The account contains the accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties that have yet to be consumed by the Council. The account also contains 
revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 
Note 5 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the account, apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (52,511) (52,844) 
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:   
  Charges for depreciation and amortisation 1,493 1,154 
  Revaluation (gains)/losses on Property, plant and equipment 674 958 
  Changes in fair value of investment properties (2,290) 321 
  Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute e2,424 2,555 
Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (334) (381) 
Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year 1,967 4,607 
Capital financing applied in the year:   
  Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure (1,165) (660) 
  Capital grants & contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement that have been applied to 
capital financing (2,993) 

 
(2,902) 

  Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 76 108 
  Minimum Revenue Provision charge (1,176) (615) 
  Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (1,175) (205) 
Balance at 31 March (56,977) (52,511) 

194



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

61 
 

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Deferred Capital Receipts reserve holds the gains recognised on disposal of non-current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place.  Under 
statutory arrangements, the Council does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts.  When 
the deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred. 
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April (10,013) (10,114) 
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds upon receipt of cash (133) (114) 
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited from CIES on disposal - 215 
Balance at 31 March (10,146) (10,013) 

 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding 
benefits in accordance with statutory provisions.  The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employer’s 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows 
a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them.  The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April 60,008 44,874 
Actuarial (gains) or losses on pension assets and liabilities (15,055) 14,014 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 5,937 

 
4,038 

Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (3,047) (2,918) 
Balance at 31 March 47,843 60,008 

 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from accruing for compensated absences 
earned but not taken in the year, i.e. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund 
balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 
 
 
 
 

195



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

62 
 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax income and NNDR income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax and NNDR payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to 
the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance at 1 April 6,504 (225) 
Amount by which council tax credited to the CIES is different from council tax income 
calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements (114) 

 
25 

Amount by which NNDR credited to the CIES is different from NNDR  income calculated for 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements (4,651) 

 
6,704 

Balance at 31 March 1,739 6,504 
 
Note 19 - Members’ Allowances  
The Council paid the following amounts to Members of the Council during the year.  
 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Basic and special responsibility allowances 449 444 
Expenses 25 11 
Total 474 455 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

63 
 

Note 20 – Officers’ Remuneration  
The remuneration paid to the Council’s senior employees is as follows: 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 
 

Salary 
(incl fees 
& allow-

ances) 

Exp-
enses 
Allow-
ances 

 
Pension 

Contr-
ibution 

 
 
 

Total 

Salary 
(incl fees 
& allow-

ances) 

Exp-
enses 
Allow-
ances 

 
Pension 

Contr-
ibution 

 
 
 

Total 
Title £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
New Structure:         
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) – Maxine O’Mahony 122,270 3,300 16,306 141,876 - - - - 
Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer 110,238 3,300 15,392 128,930 - - - - 
Executive Director 77,270 3,300 10,784 91,354 - - - - 
Assistant Director - People & Governance 69,142 3,300 9,638 82,080 - - - - 
Assistant Director - Contracts and Operations 69,060 963 9,638 79,661 - - - - 
Executive Director 66,835 1,239 9,323 77,397 - - - - 
Head of Strategic Policy 61,979 3,000 8,642 73,622 - - - - 
Assistant Director - Health & Housing 61,459 3,000 8,569 73,028 - - - - 
Assistant Director - Economy and Growth 61,622 1,239 8,600 71,462 - - - - 
Assistant Director - Finance (Section 151 Officer) 61,572 1,239 8,580 71,392 - - - - 
Assistant Director - Property and Infrastructure 61,220 1,239 8,534 70,993 - - - - 
Previous Structure:         
Former Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) – Anna Graves - - - - 96,553 2,200 13,024 111,777 
Executive Director Strategy & Governance (Monitoring Officer) - - - - 104,166 3,300 14,531 121,997 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 9,584 275 1,338 11,197 113,881 3,300 15,893 133,074 
Executive Director Place - - - - 104,276 3,300 14,531 122,107 
Executive Manager Property & Development 7,472 275 1,042 8,789 86,061 3,300 11,941 101,302 
Executive Manager Governance 6,030 275 840 7,145 68,564 3,300 9,543 81,407 
Executive Manager Information - - - - 65,563 3,300 9,060 77,923 
Executive Manager People & Information - - - - 70,867 3,300 9,867 84,034 

 
The senior employees shown in the above table that are denoted by italics were shared and provided services for both the Council and South Holland District 
Council up until 30th April 2021. These employees were formally employed by Breckland Council and South Holland Council was recharged 40% of their salary 
and other remuneration expenses. The table above shows the full 100% costs of each senior employee for the periods employed in 2021-22.  The table does 
not show employees that were shared but employed by South Holland District Council, but details of these employees can be found in the South Holland District 
Council Statement of Accounts. From 1st May 2021 sharing of all senior employees ceased and a new management structure was put in place, as shown in 
the above table.  
   

197



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

64 
 

The Council’s total employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s pension contributions) were paid as in the graph 
below (this includes the senior employees in the new structure in the table above): 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

2021-22
Number of
employees

2020-21
Number of
employees

198



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

65 
 

 
The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table below: 
 
2021-22 
 
Exit Package Cost Band (including 
special payments) 

 
Number of 

compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 
Agreed 

Total Number 
of Exit 

Packages by 
Cost Band 

Total cost of 
Exit 

Packages in 
Each Band 

    £ 
£0 - £20,000 - 4 4  33,835  
£40,001 - £60,000 - 1 1 48,026 
Total - 5 5 81,861 
     
2020-21 
 
Exit Package Cost Band (including 
special payments) 

 
Number of 

compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 
Agreed 

Total Number 
of Exit 

Packages by 
Cost Band 

Total cost of 
Exit 

Packages in 
Each Band 

    £ 
£40,001 - £60,000 - 1 1 51,500 
Total - 1 1 51,500 

 
Note 21 – External Audit Costs  
The Council has incurred the following costs for services provided by the Council’s external auditors (Ernst & Young).  
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000   £'000   
Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor for the year 57 38 
Additional fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor - - 
Fees payable for the certification of grant claims and returns for the year 12 36 
Total 69 74 

 

Note 22 – Related Party Transactions  
The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or 
to be controlled or influenced by the Council.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Council might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council. 

199



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

66 
 

 
Central Government 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Council, it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
Council operates, provides some of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has with other parties 
(i.e. Council tax bills, housing benefits, etc).  Grants received from Government departments are set out in note 16.  Grant receipts outstanding at the end of 
the year are included in note 12. 
 
Members 
Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies.  The total of Members Allowances is shown in note 19.   
One Member is a director of Breckland Bridge Ltd.  Information relating to Breckland Bridge is shown in the Group Accounts section of these accounts. 
There are a number of Members who represent Breckland Council on outside bodies. 
 
Officers 
One officer is the Company Secretary and another senior officer is a Director of ARP Trading Ltd (the Directorship changed during the year but is still a senior 
officer of the Council).  Further details on ARP Trading are given below. 
One senior officer is a Director of Breckland Bridge Ltd.  Further information on Breckland Bridge is given below. 
 
Other Public Bodies 
Transactions with the Norfolk Pension Fund are detailed in the Pensions note 7.   
 
The Council shared a joint senior management team and other specific officers with South Holland District Council until 30th April 2021.  The costs of this 
arrangement were shared between Breckland and South Holland Council in an agreed percentage split, some services remain shared.  During the year, 
Breckland Council paid South Holland Council £64k for shared South Holland employee and related costs and received £695k from South Holland Council for 
payment of shared Breckland employees and related costs.  As at 31 March 2022 Breckland owed South Holland £21k and South Holland owed Breckland 
£95k. 
 
Precepts paid to other authorities from Council Tax collected and other authorities retained share of National Non-Domestic Rates are detailed in the Collection 
Fund note.  The precept value paid to parish and town councils is included in the Breckland Council Tax figure in the collection fund note and was £4,320k in 
2021-22 (£4,259k in 2020-21).  
 
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Council 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Trading Limited is a Joint Venture Company set up in 2006 with Forest Heath District Council to trade with authorities in 
revenues and benefits services.  This arrangement is a legal entity which was conducted under joint control with 50:50 voting rights and financial share of 66:34 
between Breckland Council and Forest Heath Council respectively.  In January 2017 the shareholding of the Company changed and is now structured with an 
equal shareholding and voting rights between the five ARP Joint Committee partners; Breckland Council, East Cambridgeshire Council, East Suffolk Council, 
Fenland Council and West Suffolk Council.  The company is not currently undertaking any trading activities and was made dormant in 2018-19.   
Copies of ARP Trading Ltd’s accounts may be obtained by contacting them at the Breckland Council address. 
 

200



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

67 
 

The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee was set up to deliver the Housing Benefit, Council Tax, and Business Rates services for Breckland Council 
and Forest Heath District Council.  East Cambridgeshire District Council joined the partnership on 1 April 2007 and formally joined the Joint Committee in 
October 2010.  St Edmundsbury Council joined the new Joint Committee on 1 April 2011.  Waveney District Council, Fenland District Council and Suffolk 
Coastal joined the partnership on 1 April 2014.  Effective from 1 April 2019 Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury joined to form West Suffolk Council and Waveney 
and Suffolk Coastal joined to form East Suffolk Council.  The five authorities hold equal voting rights but shares in costs and surpluses arising from the 
arrangement are based on an agreed share as part of the Joint Committee agreement.  This share is based on a combination of figures; liability orders, NNDR 
live properties, Housing Benefit claimants and Council Tax caseloads.  These levels of workloads are reviewed annually on 1 August each year and updated 
for the budget set the following year to ensure the costs are based on the levels of workloads each year. 
 
The Council’s share of partnership transactions and balances are included within the relevant lines within the accounts. 
 
The Council formed a Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company, Breckland Bridge, with the Land Group (Breckland) Ltd.  Group accounts are prepared for 
this company and more information can be found in the Group Accounts section of these accounts. 
 
Note 23 – Leases 
Authority as Lessor 
Operating Leases 
The Council has granted a number of leases on commercial properties, land and community centres, which have been accounted for as operating leases.  The 
future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 
 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Not later than one year 1,940 1,854 
Later than one year and not later than five years 4,817 4,646 
Later than five years 6,500 6,780 
Total 13,257 13,280 

 
The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments 
following rent reviews.  The contingent rents are nil for the Council as rent reviews are carried out based on market values, not specified amounts. 
 
Finance Leases 
The Council has leased out property on a finance lease as follows: 

• Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club to Barnham Broom Golf and Country Club with a remaining term of 35 years 
• Riverside Hotel to Travelodge with a remaining term of 19 years 
• Riverside Cinema to Light Cinemas with a remaining term of 19 years 
• Merle Body Centre to Swaffham and District MHA with a remaining term of 20 years 

 

201



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

68 
 

The Council has a gross investment in the lease, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be received over the remaining term and the residual 
value anticipated for the property when the lease comes to an end.  The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest 
in the property acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Council in future years whilst the debt remains outstanding.  The gross 
investment is made up of the following amounts: 
 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 
Finance lease debtor (net present value of minimum lease payments):   
  Current 118 (91) 
  Non-current 10,028 10,103 
Unearned finance income 14,473 15,148 
Unguaranteed residual value of property (1,653) (1,653) 
Gross investment in the lease 22,966 23,507 

 
The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following periods: 
 
 Gross investment in 

lease 
Minimum Lease 

Payments 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Not later than one year 755 541 755 541 
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,020 3,020 3,020 3,020 
Later than five years 19,191 19,946 19,191 19,946 
Total 22,966 23,507 22,966 23,507 

 
The Council has not set aside any allowance for uncollectible amounts relating to these leases in 2021-22 (£23k in 2020-21). 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  The contingent rents are nil for the Council as rent reviews are carried out based on market values, not specified amounts. 
 
Note 24 – Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts 
In December 2005, the Council entered into a 33.5-year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in Thetford and Dereham.  The 
contract specifies minimum standards for the services to be provided by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made if facilities are 
unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards.  The contractor took on the obligation to construct the centre at Dereham and to maintain the 
centres in a minimum acceptable condition and to procure and maintain the plant and equipment needed to operate the centres.  The buildings and any plant 
and equipment installed in them at the end of the contract will be transferred to the Council.  The Council only has the right to terminate the contract if it 
compensates the contractor in full for costs incurred and future profits that would have been generated over the remaining term of the contract.   

202



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

69 
 

Property Plant and Equipment – The assets used to provide services at the leisure centres are recognised on the Council’s Balance sheet.  Movements in their 
fair value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement on the Property, Plant and Equipment balance in note 8. 
 
Payments – The Council makes an agreed payment each year which is increased each year by inflation and can be reduced if the contractor fails to meet 
performance standards in any year but which is otherwise fixed.  The unitary charge payable in 2021-22 totalled £2,351k (£2,314k in 2020-21).  This was 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as £1,167k service and asset maintenance charge (debited to the Place Directorate), £368k 
capital lifecycle costs (allocated to a prepayment account over the life of the contract to evenly spread the capital spend), £410k finance costs and £137k 
contingent rental costs (debited to interest payable) and £269k relating to the write down of obligations to the lessor. 
The service charge amount in 2021-22 of £1,167k (£1,145k in 2020-21) included a credit of £nil relating to performance deductions within the year (£nil in 2020-
21). 
 
There are provisions within this PFI arrangement which may affect the amount, timing and certainty of future cash flows, these are as follows: 

o A benchmarking exercise is carried out every 5 years (next due in 2023).  There is a risk that an increase/decrease in unitary charge could result from 
this exercise. 

o The contract is subject to an annual inflationary increase and therefore higher than anticipated inflation levels would lead to higher payment levels.  If 
this occurs in the early years of the contract, there is a compounding effect on the later contract years. 

o PFI credits are received from the Department for Digital Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS), a failure to provide the DCMS with their required information 
could result in a loss of these credits to the Council. 

 
Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract as at 31 March 2022.  
These payments are shown as cash-based prices and include an estimate for average inflation over the remaining life of the contract of 1.58% per year. 
 
 Principal 

repayment 
Finance 

costs 
Service 
charges 

Capital 
prepayment 

 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Amounts payable in 1 year 284  540  1,229  389  2,442  
Amounts payable 2 – 5 years 1,296  2,075  5,070  1,613  10,054  
Amounts payable 6 – 10 years 2,054  2,340  6,703  2,145  13,242  
Amounts payable 11–15 years 2,670  1,939  7,141  2,299  14,049  
Amounts payable 16 – 20 years 1,207  596  2,833  981  5,617  
Total 7,511  7,490  22,976  7,427  45,404  

 
Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of 
the services they provide, the capital expenditure incurred and interest payable.  The liability outstanding is as follows: 
 
 
 
 

203



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

70 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 
Balance outstanding at 1 April 7,780  8,035 
Interest charge for the year 410  424 
Principal repayment during the year (269) (255) 
Interest repayment during the year (410) (424) 
Balance outstanding at 31 March 7,511 7,780 

 
Amounts payable within 1 year are £284k and amounts payable after 1 year are £7,227k. 
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: 
 
 01.04.2020 Financing 

cash flows 
Other non 

cash changes 
31.03.2021 Financing 

cash flows 
Other non 

cash changes 
31.03.2022 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
On balance sheet PFI liabilities 8,035 (679) 424 7,780 (679) 410 7,511 
Total liabilities from financing activities 8,035 (679) 424 7,780 (679) 410 7,511 

 
Note 25 – Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value of assets acquired under PFI contracts), together 
with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by 
the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by 
the Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note.  Having been negative in 2020-21 (when the PFI scheme is taken 
into account), the Council’s CFR is now positive which means that there is an underlying requirement to borrow. The Council was able to use its cash balances 
to fund its capital programme in 2021-22, so did not borrow externally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

204



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

71 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000   £'000   
Opening Capital Financing Requirement 7,557 5,465 
Capital Investment:   
  Non-current assets additions and subsequent expenditure 4,106 4,327 
  Capital Loans (155) (248) 
  Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 2,424 2,555 
Sources of Finance:   
  Capital receipts (1,165) (660) 
  Government grants and other contributions (2,917) (2,794) 
  PFI capital prepayment (153) (628) 
  Direct revenue contributions (1,175) (205) 
  Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (809) (255) 
Closing Capital financing Requirement 7,713 7,557 
Explanation of movements in year   
Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by Government financial assistance) 156 2,092 
Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 156 2,092 

 
Note 26 – Financial Instruments 
Financial Instruments 
The following categories of financial instruments are carried in the Balance Sheet: 

 
 Non-Current Current Total 
 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 31.03.2022 31.03.2021 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Financial Assets       
Investments held at amortised cost - - 41,491 28,268 41,491 28,268 
Debtors held at contract amounts 534 633 3,882 6,519 4,416 7,152 
Total Financial Assets 534 633 45,373 34,787 45,907 35,420 

 
Financial Liabilities       
Creditors held at contract amounts - - (6,553) (6,030) (6,553) (6,030) 
Total Financial Liabilities - - (6,553) (6,030) (6,553) (6,030) 

 

205



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

72 
 

Details on the PFI scheme outstanding amounts payable within 1 year and after 1 year are detailed in the PFI Note 24.  Details on finance leases are detailed 
in the leases note 23. 
 
Financial Instruments Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
Interest paid relating to the PFI scheme is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, details relating to this scheme and the payments 
made during the year can be found at Note 24.  Interest payable and receivable is detailed in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 
 
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
Financial liabilities and financial assets are carried in the Balance sheet at amortised cost.  As at 31 March 2022, the fair values of the items in the table above 
are equal to the carrying amount shown in the table.   
 
Nature and extent of risk arising from Financial Instruments 
 
Key Risks 
The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: 

• Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council; 
• Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments;  
• Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates movements. 

 
 
Overall Procedures for Managing Risk 
The Council has adopted CIPFA's Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code and has set 
Treasury Management indictors and Prudential indicators to control key financial instrument risks. 
 
The Council sets an annual Treasury Management Strategy & Policy and Investment Strategy which was recommended to Full Council for approval by the 
Governance and Audit Committee on 17 December 2020 (approved by Full Council 20 January 2021) and is available to view on the Councils website.  The 
Treasury Management Policy includes principles for risk management as well as Treasury Management Practices (TMP's) which cover specific areas including 
risks. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Council’s customers.   
This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified 
minimum credit criteria, in accordance with the Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors Credit Ratings Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also considers 
maximum amounts and time limits in respect of each financial institution.  Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the 
minimum requirements of the investment criteria outlined above.   Additional selection criteria are also applied after this initial criteria is applied.  The key areas 
of the Investment Strategy are that the minimum criteria for investment counterparties include: 

206



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

73 
 

• The Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services (our Treasury Management advisors).  This service employs a 
sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors).  In keeping 
with the rating agencies new methodologies, the rating element of the Link credit assessment process now focusses solely on the short and long-term 
ratings of an institution.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with over lays from credit watches and credit outlooks from credit ratings 
agencies, CDS spreads and sovereign ratings. 

• Typically, the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a short term of F1, long term of A-, viability of A- and a support rating of 1. 
 
Customers for goods and services are assessed (where material), taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors. 
 
The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building societies cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any 
institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution.  Recent experience has shown that it is rare 
for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments.  A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the Council’s deposits, but there was no evidence at the 31 
March 2022 that this was likely to crystallize. 

No breaches of the Council’s counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Council does not expect any losses from non-performance by 
any of its counterparties in relation to deposits. 

Liquidity risk 
The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures above (the setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval 
of the treasury and investment strategy reports), as well as through a comprehensive cash flow management system, as required by the CIPFA Code of 
Practice.  This seeks to ensure that cash is available when it is needed. 
 
The Council has ready access to borrowings from the Money Markets to cover any day-to-day cash flow need, and the PWLB and Money Markets for access 
to longer term funds.  The Council is also required to provide a balanced budget through the Local Government Finance Act 1992, which ensures sufficient 
monies are raised to cover annual expenditure.  There is therefore no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.   
 
Market risk 
The Council would be exposed to interest rate movements on any variable rate investments, however currently the Council only has fixed rate cash investments 
and therefore the market risk is not considered material. 
 
Note 27 – Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
In applying the accounting policies set out in note 1, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty 
about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statements of Accounts are: 

• Assets held for sale – The Code gives strict criteria which have to be met before assets can be classified as ‘held for sale’.  At 31 March 2022 there is 
one asset which meets these criteria and are classified as ‘Assets held for Sale’; which is one piece of land at Two Mile Bottom. 

207



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

74 
 

• PFI scheme – Based on the scope of the Code and IFRIC 12, the Council has concluded that the leisure PFI scheme falls under the scope of IFRIC 12 
and the PFI scheme and assets are therefore accounted for on an on-balance sheet basis.  The Accounting Policy for PFI (note 1) details judgements 
made in applying capital spend to the assets held on the Balance Sheet. 

• Categorisation of assets – The Code gives strict criteria for assets held as Investment Properties.  For the Council, those assets which are held for 
rental by the commercial property department and those assets which are held purely to gain capital appreciation (with a formal plan/policy detailing 
this) are classified as investment properties.  Surplus land held by the Council which may be subject to capital appreciation, but is not part of a formal 
plan/policy is held as Surplus property plant & equipment.  Assets are classified as Heritage Assets if the primary purpose for holding the asset is 
principally contribution to knowledge/culture rather than a provision of service.  If the asset is primarily providing a service, then this will not be classified 
as a Heritage Asset. 

• Provisions – Provisions made for legal cases and compensation claims are prudent estimates made for ‘live’ cases and are expected to be resolved 
within the next 12 months.  Provisions made for NNDR appeals are estimates made for the expected loss in NNDR income as a result of successful 
appeals based on currently outstanding appeals dated back to 01.04.2010 and outstanding and expected appeals dated back 01.04.2017. 

• Classification of Leases – The Council may make certain judgements when classifying leases as finance or operating.  During 2021-22 there were no 
new lease renewals which were classified as finance leases. 

 
Note 28 – Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and 
liabilities as at the Balance Sheet date and the amounts reported for the revenues and expenses during the year.  However, the nature of estimation means 
that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. 
The key judgements and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are as follows: 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions 
Pensions liability 
 

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number 
of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate 
at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement 
ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets.  
A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged by the Council to provide 
expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. 

The pensions note (note 7) provides full details of the assumptions 
made and also a table showing a sensitivity analysis. 

Non Current 
Assets 

Estimated values and useful lives of non-current assets (i.e. 
property and land) are produced by professional external Valuers in 
accordance with established practices as detailed in the Accounting 
Policies at note 1. 

The values held in the Balance Sheet reflect the estimated values 
and useful lives provided by the Valuer.  The difference in values 
held in the Balance Sheet if estimates were higher/lower are: 
 1% change in non-current asset values = £773k 
 1 year less useful lives on all assets = £161k 
 1 year more useful lives on all assets = (£117k) 
 

208



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

75 
 

NNDR Provisions Estimates are made within the accounts for the likely reduction in 
NNDR income receivable by the Council from successful appeals 
on rateable values by companies.  At 31.03.2022 the level of 
provisions for NNDR appeals is £2,172k (1.5% of the rateable value 
appealed on the 2010 list and 3% per year of the net rates payable 
at 31.03.2021 on the 2017 list).  The methodology used to estimate 
these values are detailed in the Accounting Policies for the 
Collection Fund in note 1. 

At 31 March 2022 there were 5 outstanding appeals against a total 
appealed rateable value of £534k dating back to 01-04-2010.  The 
financial effect on the Council’s share of the NNDR provisions if 
estimates were higher or lower are: 
  1% higher/lower = £7k 
The provision based on the 2017 list is 3% per year of the net rates 
payable at 31 March 2022 of £29,191k.  The financial effect on the 
Council’s share of the NNDR provisions if estimates were higher 
or lower are: 
  1% higher/lower = £720k 

 

Note 29 – Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
The unaudited financial accounts were authorised for issue by the Assistant Director Finance on 30 June 2022.  Events taking place after this date are not 
reflected in the financial statement or notes.  Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2022, the 
figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information. 
 
Note 30 – Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2021-22 (“the Code”) has introduced the following changes in accounting policy, which will need 
to be adopted fully by the Council in the 2022-23 financial statements from 1 April 2022. 
 
The Council is required to disclose information relating to the impact of the accounting changes on the financial statements as a result of the adoption by the 
Code of a new standard that has been issued, but is not yet required to be adopted by the Council.  The Council is required to make disclosure of the estimated 
effect of the new standard in these financial statements. 
 
The following accounting standards have changes next year, but these are either not relevant to the Council or the changes are expected to be minor and are 
not expected to make any change to the reported information in the accounts and will therefore not have a material effect: 

• Foreign operations of acquired subsidiaries: Amendment to IFRS 1 (First-time adoption)  
• Clarification of intention of standard IAS 37 (Onerous contracts) 
• Amendments to IAS 41 (Agriculture) 
• Amendments to IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment) for Proceeds before Intended Use 

 
IFRS16 (Leases) 
As permitted by the Code, the Council has chosen not to adopt this standard from 1 April 2022 and therefore no disclosures are required in these financial 
statements. 
 
 

209



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

76 
 

Note 31 – Material / Unusual items of income and expense 
Collection Fund 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic the Government announced new 100% NNDR reliefs for the Retail, Hospitality, Leisure and Nursery sectors for 2020-21 
which totalled around £14m more than anticipated at budget time for Breckland.  The Government provided 100% compensation for these new reliefs to local 
authorities.  These reliefs were announced after the budget had been set and therefore caused a deficit on the Collection Fund due to reduced NNDR income, 
which was shared between Breckland, Central Government and Norfolk County Council. This position was corrected in 2021-22, resulting in an in-year surplus 
on the Collection Fund, which reduced the deficit from previous years. The Council’s share of this deficit is £1,822k. 
 
As the billing authority, Breckland saw reduced cashflows from this new relief, but we continued to pay across the precept amounts in full to Norfolk County 
Council and Central Government throughout the year.  To compensate for these cashflow implications the Government paid the compensation grant to 
Breckland in full, even though only 40% of it was due to Breckland.  At the end of 2020-21, we accrued the 60% value owed back to Government and this was 
shown in short term creditors.  As a result, Breckland held £5,748k in the Revenues & Benefits reserve which is to offset the deficit value in future years, 
meaning this deficit is almost wholly funded. The compensation grant was repaid to central government in 2021-22, resulting in a reduction in this reserve from 
a balance of £8,883k on 31 March 2021 to £4,844k on 31 March 2022. 
 
Earmarked General Fund Reserve 
Additional grant funding relating to the pandemic was received throughout 2020-21, however some grants were to cover both the current year and 2021-22.  As 
a result of this our earmarked general fund reserve balances were around £9m more than usual as at 31 March 2021.  These grants were largely paid out in 
2021-22, resulting in a reduction in earmarked reserves down to more usual levels. This can be seen in the Movement in Reserves Statement where earmarked 
general fund reserves have decreased from £25,234k to £18,812k and also in Usable reserves in the Balance Sheet and in note 6 (Council Tax and Business 
Rates reserve and the Revenue Grants received in Advance reserve). 
 
Grant Income 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic a significant amount of additional Government grants were provided to local authorities. The Council also received a grant 
to give Council Tax payers a rebate of £150 to help offset the increased cost of energy. The accounting requirements differ dependent on whether the Council 
is acting as either a principal or an agent or whether they are non-ringfenced grants.  In general terms if the Council has discretion on grant scheme criteria 
they are acting as a principal and the transactions will be included in the CIES, where there is no discretion the Council acts as an intermediary agent and 
transactions will not be shown in the CIES.   
The table below details the most significant grants received and how they have been shown in the financial statements. 
 

Grant Name Transaction Type Received 
£’000 

Spent 
£’000 

Balance Balance Held In 

Council Tax Rebate Scheme Agent (8,088) 0 (8,088) Short Term Creditors 
Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) Principal (Revenue Grant 

Received in Advance) 
(2,058) 830 (1,228) Short Term Creditors 

Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) Principal (1,136) 1,083 (53) Earmarked reserve 
 

210



NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

77 
 

Note 32 – Going Concern 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-22, which is based upon 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector. The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.   
 
In carrying out its assessment that this basis is appropriate, made for the going concern period to 29 February 2024, management of the Council have 
undertaken forecasting of both income and expenditure, the expected impact on reserves, and cashflow forecasting. 
 
Our most recent year end balances as reported in these statements are shown in the table below along with our predicted balances for next year: 

Date General Fund Earmarked Reserves Note 
31 March 2022 £2.8m £18.8m See note 31 for explanation of higher balance 
31 March 2023 (estimated & unaudited) £2.6m £17.0m  
31 March 2024 (estimated & unaudited) £2.6m £16.4m  

This remains above our minimum level of General Fund balances as set by our S151 Officer of £2.5m. 
 
The Council had cash and short-term investment balances of £36.16m at 31 May 2022. The Council has undertaken an assessment of our liquidity position 
and cash flow forecasting through to February 2024 which demonstrates a positive cash position across the whole period without the need for external 
borrowing.  
 
Our budget and medium term plan was set in the context of additional Covid-19 cost and income pressures continuing into 2021-22 and beyond.  The 2022-
23 budget includes an efficiency requirement of £484k, with £222k (46%) already achieved as of 30 June 2022.  The liquidity position would not be 
significantly affected if the target was not fully achieved, with minimum levels of liquidity remaining throughout the period. 
 
On this basis, the Council concludes that it will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence throughout the going concern period maintaining 
the provision of its services. For this reason, alongside the statutory guidance, we continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial 
statements. 

211



THE COLLECTION FUND 

78 
 

This account reflects the statutory requirements for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing Authority 
in relation to National Non-Domestic Rates and the Council Tax, and illustrates the way in which these have been distributed to preceptors (i.e. local authorities 
and the Government) and the General Fund. 
 

Collection Fund Revenue Account 
 
 2021-22  2020-21 
 Council Tax NNDR Total  Council Tax NNDR Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
Income        
Income Receivable:        
 Council Tax receivable (87,687) - (87,687)  (82,777) - (82,777) 
 National Non-Domestic Rates receivable - (29,191) (29,191)  - (20,562) (20,562) 
 Transitional Protection receivable - 39 39  - 247 247 
Repayment of previous years deficit:        
 Breckland Council (45)  (5,969) (6,014)  - - - 
 Central Government - (7,445) (7,445)  - (15) (15) 
 Norfolk County Council (329) (1,505) (1,834)  - - - 
 Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner (61) - (61)  - - - 
Total Income (88,122) (44,071) (132,193)  (82,777) (20,330) (103,107) 
 
Expenditure 

       

Apportionment of previous years surplus: - - -     
 Breckland Council - - -  28 209 237 
 Central Government - - -  - - - 
 Norfolk County Council - - -  208 267 475 
 Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner - - -  38 - 38 
 - - -  274 476 750 
Precepts:        
 Breckland Council 8,785 12,078 20,863  8,460 12,856 21,316 
 Central Government - 15,097 15,097  - 16,071 16,071 
 Norfolk County Council 65,467 3,020 68,487  62,345 3,214 65,559 
 Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner 12,356 - 12,356  11,579 - 11,579 
 86,608  30,195  116,803   82,384 32,141 114,525 
        
        
        

212



THE COLLECTION FUND 

79 
 

 2021-22  2020-21 
 Council Tax NNDR Total  Council Tax NNDR Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
Charges to the Collection Fund:        
 Write offs of uncollectable amounts 633 171 804  178 324 502 
 Appeals charged to the Provision - (1,630) (1,630)  - (705) (705) 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Bad Debts Provision (232) (75) (307)  189 13 202 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Appeals Provision - 1,204 1,204  - 1,909 1,909 
 Cost of Collection - 167 167  - 166 166 
 Renewable Energy Income retained by Breckland - 2,522 2,522  - 2,480 2,480 
 401 2,359 2,760  367 4,187 4,554 
        
(Surplus)/Deficit for the Year (1,113) (11,517) (12,630)  248 16,474 16,722 
        
Fund Balance at 1st April 400 16,073 16,473  152 (401) (249) 
        
(Surplus)/Deficit Carried Forward at 31st March (713) 4,556 3,843  400 16,073 16,473 

 
Note 31 provides information of the impact on these accounts of the pandemic and where there are exceptional or unusual items, particularly in respect of the 
large surplus on the NNDR collection fund.

213



THE COLLECTION FUND 

80 
 

Notes to the Collection Fund 
 

1. Income from Non-Domestic Rates 
The total non-domestic rateable value at 31 March 2022 was £91,136,869 and the national non-domestic multiplier for the year was £0.512 (£0.499 for 
small businesses). 

2. Council Tax 
The Council Tax base for 2021-22 was as follows: 

 Band A  Band B  Band C  Band D  Band E  Band F  Band G Band H Total   
No. of chargeable dwellings 15,268 17,258 13,728 7,703 4,426 1,660 754 51 60,848 

Band D equivalent 10,179 13,423 12,203 7,703 5,410 2,398 1,257 102 52,675 
Net effect of premiums, discounts and collection allowance (8,229) 
Tax Base for Council Tax Purposes 44,446 

 
2021-22 figures as approved January and February 2021. 
 

3. Precepts and Demands on the Collection Fund 
The major precepting authorities, their precepts and share of the fund balance are shown in the table below. 
 

Council Tax 2021-22 Share of Balance 2021-22 2020-21 
 Precept/Demand 31.03.2022 Total Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Norfolk County Council 65,467 538 66,005 62,042 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner 12,356 102 12,458 11,523 
Breckland Council 8,785 73 8,858 8,419 
Total 86,608 713 87,321 81,984 

 
 

NNDR 2021-22 Share of Balance 2021-22 2020-21 
 Precept/Demand 31.03.2022 Total Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Norfolk County Council 3,020 (456) 2,564 1,593 
Central Government 15,097 (2,278) 12,819 8,050 
Breckland Council 12,078 (1,822) 10,256 6,425 
Total 30,195 (4,556) 25,639 16,068 

214



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

81 
 

Introduction 
The Code sets out a requirement to prepare group accounts where the authority has interests in subsidiaries, associates and/or joint ventures, subject to the 
consideration of materiality.  A review of the Council’s relationships with other bodies is carried out each year to consider whether it is appropriate to prepare 
group accounts. 
 
Breckland Bridge Ltd 
Breckland Council have formed a Local Asset Backed Company (LABV) with The Land Group (Breckland) Ltd.  The objective of Breckland Bridge Ltd is to 
achieve accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth through projects in the Council area, with a view to securing the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the Council area whilst also delivering a financial return for the shareholders. 
Note 1 to these Group Accounts provides more details on the Council’s relationship with Breckland Bridge Ltd. 
 
  

215



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

82 
 

Group Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 Net 

Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2021-22 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2021-22 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2021-22 

Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 
 2020-21 

 
Adjustments 

Between 
Funding & 

Accounting 
Basis 

2020-21 

 
 
 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2020-21 
    Restated Restated Restated 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost of Services       
Place & Delivery Directorate 5,170  4,253  9,423  3,169  3,585  6,754  
Strategy & Resources Directorate 9,582  392  9,974  8,571  727  9,298  
Housing Benefit 987  (20)  967  544 (144) 400 
Net Cost of Services 15,739  4,625  20,364  12,284 4,168 16,452 
       
Other Income & Expenditure (9,289)  (9,979)  (19,268)  (23,170) 4,549 (18,621) 
       
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 6,450  (5,354)  1,096  (10,886) 8,717 (2,169) 
       

 
Opening General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.21 28,083 
  
Adjust for Surplus/Deficit on Provision of Services (6,450) 
  
Closing General Fund & Earmarked Reserves Balance @ 31.03.22 21,633 

 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is a note to the Financial Statements, however, it is positioned here as it provides a link from the figures reported in 
the Financial Performance Report at Cabinet to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). Figures for 2020-21 have been restated to 
reflect the change from 3 Directorates to 2 Directorates in 2021/22, to allow like-for-like comparison. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

216



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

83 
 

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 Gross 

Expenditure 
2021-22 

Gross 
Income 
2021-22 

Net 
Expenditure 

2021-22 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2020-21 

Gross 
Income 
2020-21 

Net 
Expenditure 

2020-21 
    Restated Restated Restated 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Expenditure on Services       
Place & Delivery Directorate 21,554  (12,131)  9,423  21,349  (14,595)  6,754  
Strategy & Resources Directorate 20,842  (10,868)  9,974  18,404  (9,106)  9,298  
Housing Benefit 22,547  (21,580)  967  23,496  (23,096) 400  
Cost of Services 64,943  (44,579) 20,364  63,249 (46,797) 16,452 
Other operating expenditure       
  Parish Council Precepts and Drainage Board Levies 4,396 - 4,396 4,334 - 4,334 
  (Gain)/Loss on disposal of non-current assets - (314) (314) - (556) (556) 
Financing and investment income and expenditure       
  Interest receivable & payable & similar income & expenditure 547 (696) (149) 554 (687) (133) 
  Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 2,904 (1,688) 1,216 2,597 (1,565) 1,032 
  (Surplus)/Deficit on trading undertakings (1,530) (2,963) (4,493) 1,320 (2,709) (1,389) 
  Other 913 - 913 - (386) (386) 
Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure       
  Council Tax income (including collection fund) - (8,861) (8,861) - (8,471) (8,471) 
  NDR income & expenditure (including collection fund) 11,089 (14,601) (3,512) 15,789 (15,336) 453 
  Revenue Support Grant - (660) (660) - (657) (657) 
  Covid-19 Government Grants - (731) (731) - (6,610) (6,610) 
  Other non-ring fenced Government grants - (7,073) (7,073) - (6,238) (6,238) 
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 83,262 (82,166) 1,096 87,843 (90,012) (2,169) 
Adjust for change in shareholding in August 2020      (222) 
Share of (surplus)/deficit on the Provision of Services for Joint 
Ventures   (78)   (60) 
Group (Surplus) /Deficit   1,018   (2,451) 
(Surplus) /Deficit on revaluation of PPE assets   (2,340)   1,522 
Actuarial (gains) /losses on pension assets/liabilities   (15,055)   14,014 
Share of other Comprehensive Expenditure & Income for Joint Ventures   153   - 
Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure   (17,242)   15,536 

Total Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure   (16,224)   13,085 
Figures for 2020-21 have been restated to reflect the change from 3 Directorates to 2 Directorates in 2021-22, to allow like-for-like comparison. 

217



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

84 
 

Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

  
General 

Fund 
Balance 

Ear-
marked 

GF 
Reserves 

 
Capital 

Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Un-
applied 

 
Total 

Usable 
Reserves 

 
Un-

usable 
Reserves 

 
 

Total 
Reserves 

Council’s 
share of 
Joint 
Venture 

Total 
Group 

Reserves 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance as at 1 April 2020 2,501 14,696 - 1,408 18,605 32,671 51,276 (482) 50,794 
Movement in Reserves during 2020-21          
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 2,169 - - - 2,169 (15,536) (13,367) 282 (13,085) 
Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis 

 
 

8,717 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

108 

 
 

8,825 

 
 

(8,825) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (10,538) 10,538 - - - - - - - 
Increase/(decrease) for year 348 10,538 - 108 10,994 (24,361) (13,367) 282 (13,085) 
          
Balance as at 31 March 2021 2,849 25,234 - 1,516 29,599 8,310 37,909 (200) 37,709 
 
 

         

Balance as at 1 April 2021 2,849 25,234 - 1,516 29,599 8,310 37,909 (200) 37,709 
Movement in Reserves during 2021-22          
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (1,096)  - - - (1,096) 17,395  16,299  78 16,377 
Share of other Comprehensive Expenditure & 
Income for Joint Ventures - - - - - - - 

 
(153) 

 
(153) 

Adjustments from income & expenditure 
charged under the accounting basis to funding 
basis (5,354) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 76  (5,278)  5,278  

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 6,422 (6,422) - - - - - - - 
Increase/(decrease) for year (28) (6,422) -  76 (6,374) 22,673 16,299 (75) 16,224 
          
Balance as at 31 March 2022 2,821 18,812 -  1,592 23,225 30,983 54,208 (275) 53,933 

 
 
 

218



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

85 
 

 
Group Balance Sheet 

 31 March 2022 31 March 2021 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Non Current Assets     
Property Plant and Equipment 42,837   38,767  
Heritage Assets 337   310  
Investment Property 34,099   31,701  
Intangible Assets 51   76  
Total Non Current Assets  77,324  70,854 
Long term debtors  12,411  12,431 
Total long-term assets  89,735  83,285 

Current Assets     
Short-term investments 33,015   20,001  
Short-term debtors 7,922   16,554  
Cash and cash equivalents 8,860   8,589  
Assets Held for Sale 18   787  
Total Current Assets  49,815  45,931 
Total Assets     
Current Liabilities     
Short-term creditors (26,838)  (19,878)  
Provisions (2,272)  (2,462)  
Total Current Liabilities  (29,110)  (22,340) 
Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities 

 110,440  106,876 

Long Term Liabilities     
PFI Lease Liability > 1 year (7,227)  (7,511)  
Pensions Liability (47,843)  (60,008)  
Capital grants receipts in advance (1,162)  (1,448)  
Investments in Joint Ventures (275)  (200)  
Total Long-term Liabilities  (56,507)   (69,167) 
Net Assets  53,933   37,709 

Financed By:-     
Usable reserves  (23,225)  (29,599) 
Un-usable reserves  (30,983)  (8,310) 
Usable reserves of Joint Ventures  275  200 
Total Net Worth  (53,933)  (37,709) 

219



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

86 
 

I certify that the group statements of accounts on pages 81 to 91 present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended. 
 
 
    
Assistant Director Finance: 
 
A Chubbock 

 
Date:        30th June 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

220



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

87 
 

Group Cash Flow Statement 
 2021-22 2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services 1,096  (2,169)  
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements     
  Depreciation and amortisation (1,493)  (1,154)  
  Impairments and valuations (673)  (958)  
  (Increase)/Decrease in creditors (2,742)  (11,650)  
  Increase/(Decrease) in debtors (including interest debtors) (2,336)  1,053  
  Pension liability (2,890)  (1,120)  
  Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (870)  -  
  Other 2,480  (779)  
Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
that are investing and financing activities 

    

  Capital grants credited to the surplus/deficit on the provision of service 2,993  2,902  
  Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 1,316  556  
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  (3,119)  (13,319) 
Investing Activities     
  Purchase of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  3,678  4,327 
  Purchase of short and long term investments  13,000  2,601 
  Proceeds from the sale of PPE, Investment property and intangible assets  (1,184)  (657) 
  Proceeds from short and long term investments  -  (2,601) 
  Other receipts and payments for investing activities  (4,262)  (3,095) 
Financing Activities     
  Cash payments for the reduction of liabilities relating to PFI contracts  269  255 
  Other receipts/payments for financing activities  (8,653)  8,863 
Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (271)  (3,626) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  8,589  4,963 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  8,860  8,589 

 
The cash flows from operating activities includes interest received of £686k in 2021-22 (£764k in 2020-21) and interest paid of £547k in 2021-22 (£554k in 
2020-21). A dividend of £170,000 was paid to Breckland Council this year (Nil in 2020-21). 
 
 
 
 

221



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

88 
 

Notes to the Group Accounts 
 
Note 1 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
The financial statements within this group accounts section show the group accounts for Breckland Council incorporating Breckland Bridge Ltd.  These have 
been consolidated using the equity method as Breckland Bridge is classified as a Joint Venture.  The equity method means only the Council’s share of the net 
assets or liabilities of the company are included in the group accounts. 
 
Breckland Bridge has one main area of work currently; building houses on Council owned land and selling these houses at market levels (with the option for 
the Council to purchase these houses if a business case supports it).   
 
Prior to August 2020, the Council was a 90% shareholder in Breckland Bridge and The Land Group were the remaining 10% shareholder.  Whilst Breckland 
Council was the majority shareholder, the decisions of the company were made equally (50/50) by each shareholder.  At the end of the initial business plan 
period the shareholders agreed to move to the planned 50/50 shareholding and this took effect from August 2020, the decisions of the company are still made 
on the equal 50/50 basis and therefore joint control of the company still exists as a unanimous decision between the two shareholders is required.  As a result 
of the change in shareholding, the group CIES includes an adjusting line to reflect the new shareholding. 
Breckland Bridge is the parent company and consolidated into their accounts are various subsidiary companies all owned 100% by Breckland Bridge Ltd.  As 
at 31 March 2022 these subsidiaries were: Breckland Homes (Mileham) Ltd, Breckland Homes (Attleborough) Ltd, Breckland Homes (Colkirk) Ltd. 
 
One of the Directors of Breckland Bridge Ltd is an Executive Director of Breckland Council and one Director of Breckland Bridge is a Member of Breckland 
Council.   
 
Note 2 – Accounting Policies 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Breckland Bridge Ltd have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and the Companies Act 2006 and have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  This is therefore a different basis to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which the Council’s accounts are produced on.   
Based on the 2021-22 transactions, there are no significant differences in the accounting policies of Breckland Council and Breckland Bridge Ltd that would 
cause a material adjustment in the consolidation of the Group Accounts.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

222



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

89 
 

Note 3 – Summarised Financial Information 
Below is the consolidated income statement and Balance Sheet of Breckland Bridge Ltd. 
 
Income Statement 
 Breckland 

Bridge Ltd 
2021-22 

Breckland 
Council Share 

2021-22 

Breckland 
Bridge Ltd 

 2020-21 

Breckland 
Council Share 

2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Turnover (557)  (466)  (1,845) (1,632) 
Cost of Sales 378  340  1,619 1,457 
Gross (Profit)/Loss (179)  (126)  (226) (175) 
Administrative Expenses 146  88  150 77 
Operating (Profit)/Loss (33)  (38)  (76) (98) 
Interest Payable and Similar Charges (80)  (40)  76 38 
(Profit)/Loss on Ordinary Activities Before Taxation (113)  (78)  - (60) 
Tax on Ordinary Activities - - - - 
(Profit)/Loss for the Financial Period for the Group (113)  (78)  - (60) 

 
The Breckland Council share does not equate to 90% or 50% in all lines due to the percentage shares for areas prior to August 2020 being shared at 90% 
and after this date at 50%.  From 2022-23 when all the prior August 2020 balances are zero, this table will show the 50% share against all lines. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

223



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

90 
 

Balance Sheet 
 Breckland 

Bridge Ltd 
2021-22 

Breckland 
Council Share 

2021-22 

Breckland 
Bridge Ltd 

 2020-21 

Breckland 
Council Share 

2020-21 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Current Assets     
Work in progress 234 117 401 361 
Debtors 89 61 309 160 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 127 90 105 82 
 450 268 815 603 
Short Term Creditors     
Amounts falling due within one year (107) (75) (633) (444) 
 (107) (75) (633) (444) 
     
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 343 193 182 159 
Long Term Creditors     
Amounts falling due after more than one year (936) (468) (718) (359) 
 (936) (468) (718) (359) 
     
Net Assets/(Liabilities) (593) (275) (536) (200) 
     
Capital and Reserves     
Retained Earnings (593) (275) (536) (200) 
Shareholders’ Funds (593) (275) (536) (200) 

 
The Breckland Council share does not equate to 90% or 50% in all lines due to the percentage shares for areas prior to August 2020 being shared at 90% 
and after this date at 50%.  From 2022-23 when all the prior August 2020 balances are zero, this table will show the 50% share against all lines. 
 
Note 4 – Related Party Transactions 
 
The following loans have been provided to Breckland Bridge Ltd by the Council: 

• Working capital of £117k at an interest rate of 12.5% leaving £464k owed at 31 March 2022 (£555k at 31 March 2021) 
• Attleborough shareholder loan of £198k was repaid during the year leaving £nil owed at 31 March 2022 (£239k at 31 March 2021) 
• Colkirk shareholder loan of £109k at an interest rate of 10% leaving £118k owed at 31 March 2022 (£51k at 31 March 2021) 
• Litcham shareholder loan of £25k at an interest rate of 10% leaving £27k owed at 31 March 2022 (£nil at 31 March 2021) 

 
 

224



GROUP ACCOUNTS 

91 
 

The following loans have been committed to Breckland Bridge but have not yet been drawn down at the reporting date: 
• Litcham shareholder loan £20k 

 
Amounts are paid to Breckland Bridge & subsidiary companies for services (such as review of vacant land).   
The Council paid Breckland Bridge Ltd £55k for other services in 2021-22 (such as planning costs, design and study fees, etc) (£84k in 2020-21).   
The Council also paid the Land Group £4k for other services in 2020-21 (such as design and survey fees) (£nil in 2020-21).   
Breckland Bridge pays the Council for some services (such as directors fees) and the total paid to the Council was £6k in 2021-22 (£10k in 2020-21) 
(excluding the loan values shown above).   
 
At the end of the year £nil was owed to the Council by Breckland Bridge (£nil in 2020-21) and £nil was owed by Breckland Homes Attleborough Ltd (£nil in 
2020-21).  The Council owed £nil to all related companies (£nil in 2020-21). 
 
Note 5 – Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2022 the company had entered into contracts for the construction of Property in future years, the major commitments are: 
 
 Expenditure Approved 

and Contracted 
Expenditure Approved 

not Contracted 
 £’000 £’000 
At 31 March 2022 46 5,341 
At 31 March 2021 50 73 

 
 

225



APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

92 
 

Chairman’s Declaration 
 
I confirm that these 2021-22 accounts were approved by the Governance and Audit Committee at the meeting held on 9th February 2023. 
 
Signed on behalf of Breckland Council: 
 
To be signed following the audit of these draft accounts 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee 
 
Date:  TBC 
 
 
 
 226



GLOSSARY 

93 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Those principles, conventions, rules and practices applied by the Council that specify how the effects of transactions and other 
events are to be reflected in the financial statements through: 

• Recognising 

• Selecting measurement bases for, and 

• Presenting assets, liabilities, gains and losses and changes to reserves 

ACCRUALS - The concept that income and expenditure are included in the records as they are earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. 

ACTUARY – An expert on pension scheme assets and liabilities. 

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES (RELATES TO IAS 19 - PENSIONS) – For a defined benefit scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that 
arise because: 

• Events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (experience gains and losses) 

• The actuarial assumptions have changed 

AMORTISATION – The writing down in value of intangible assets, which is charged to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of such assets, used in the 
provision of those services.  This is the equivalent of depreciation for non-current assets. 

ASSET – Something that the Council owns that has monetary value.  Assets are either “current” or “non-current (fixed)” 

AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS – An independent examination of the Council’s accounts to ensure that they comply with the necessary legislation and follow best 
accounting practice.  The Council’s accounts are audited by EY. 

BUDGET - A statement of a Council’s plans for revenue and capital expenditure over a specified period of time. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE - Expenditure on buying or developing major assets, which will be used by the Council for more than a year. For example, buildings, 
computer hardware and significant pieces of equipment. 

CAPITAL GRANT - A grant received towards the capital expenditure incurred on a particular service or project. A local authority can also make capital grants. 

CAPITAL RECEIPTS - Proceeds from the sale of assets, e.g. land and buildings. 

CARRYING VALUE – An accounting measure of value, where the asset is based on the figure in the Balance Sheet.  For assets, the value is based on the 
original cost of the asset less any depreciation, amortisation or impairment costs made against the asset. 

CIES – Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 

CIPFA – The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, who are the leading professional accountancy body for public services. 

227



GLOSSARY 

94 
 

CODE OF PRACTICE – Sets out proper accounting principles and practices required for the statements of accounts, in accordance with the statutory framework 
for accounts, as established for England and Wales.  The aim is to produce financial statements which “present a true and fair view” of the financial position of 
the Council. 

CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES – A condition which exists at the Balance Sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events. 

COUNCIL TAX – This is a banded property tax set by local authorities in order to meet their budget requirements.  There are eight bands (Band A to Band H), 
set by the District Valuer according to the value of the property.  The amount each household pays depends on the value of their property. 

CREDITOR - An amount owed by us to someone else for which payment has not been made. 

CURRENT ASSET - An asset where the value may change on a daily basis, e.g. cash balances and debtors. 

CURRENT LIABILITY - An amount which will become payable or could be called in within the next year, e.g. creditor, cash overdrawn. 

DCMS – Department for Culture, Media & Sport. 

DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. The central government department responsible for local government. 

DEBT IMPAIRMENT – Outstanding amounts owed to the Council which are highly unlikely to be collected. 

DEBTOR - An amount due to us but not received at the balance sheet date. 

DEPRECIATION - The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of an asset, whether arising from use, flow of 
time or obsolescence through technological or other changes. 

EFA – Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 

FAIR VALUE – The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an “arms-length” transaction, less where applicable, any grants receivable 
towards the purchase or use of that asset. 

FINANCE LEASE – A lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset (even though title to the asset may not be 
transferred). 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another, such as 
trade payables and receivables, borrowings, bank deposits and investments. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD (FRS) – Accounting standards developed by the Accounting Standards Board that are primarily applicable to general 
purpose company accounts. These standards are adopted by the CIPFA Statement of Recommended Practice except where the standards conflict with specific 
statutory requirements. 

GENERAL FUND - The main revenue account of a local authority which summarises the cost of all services provided by the council which are paid for from 
council tax, government grants and other income. 

228



GLOSSARY 

95 
 

GOING CONCERN – The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue to provide operational services for the foreseeable 
future. 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Grants by government towards either the revenue or capital cost of local authority services. These may be either in respect of 
particular services or purposes, called specific and supplementary grants, or in aid of local services generally, e.g. revenue support grant. 

HOUSING BENEFITS – A national system for giving financial assistance to individuals towards certain housing costs.  The cost of the service is subsidised by 
central government. 

IMPAIRMENT - Impairment of non-current assets relates to downward revaluation of assets during the year caused by clear consumption of economic benefit 
and is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
IMPROVEMENT GRANTS - Statutory or discretionary payments that local authorities make to tenants or homeowners to enable them to bring dwellings up to 
modern standards. Also known as Renovation Grants. Disabled Facilities Grants are statutory, and these attract subsidy from the government. 

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS – Non-current assets that cannot be transferred to another, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued use of the 
asset created. Examples of infrastructure assets are highways and footpaths. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - An item in a balance sheet where there is no tangible asset but the asset has continuing value to the Council at the Balance Sheet 
date, e.g. computer software licences. 

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARD (IAS) - Accounting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards Board that are primarily 
applicable to general purpose company accounts. These standards are adopted by the CIPFA Code of Practice except where the standards conflict with specific 
statutory requirements. 

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) – Financial reporting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

LOCAL ASSET BACKED VEHICLE (LABV) – An entity created with a public sector body and a private sector partner to trade as a separate entity. 

LIABILITY – A liability arises when the Council owes money to others and it must be included in the financial statements. 

MATERIALITY – In using its professional judgment the Council has considered the size and nature of any transaction, or set of transactions.  An item is 
considered to be material where its omission or misstatement would reasonably change the substance of the information presented in the accounts. 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) - Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 there is a requirement to set aside an amount from revenue, 
the MRP, for the repayment of external loans.   

NATIONAL NON DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) – The rates, payable by businesses on their properties, are calculated by applying a nationally determined 
multiplier to the rateable value of the property. This is collected by the Council and nationally determined proportionate shares are paid to the Government and 
Norfolk County Council with a share retained by Breckland Council. 

NET BOOK VALUE – The value of non-current assets less the accumulated amount of depreciation/amortization. 

NON-CURRENT ASSET - An asset that has value beyond one financial year. 

229



GLOSSARY 

96 
 

OPERATING LEASES - Leases under which the ownership of the asset remains with the lessor and consequently are outside the Government's system of 
capital controls. 

PRECEPT - The method by which a local authority obtains the income it requires from the Collection Fund to meet its net expenditure requirements. 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS – Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, which occur between the Balance Sheet date and the date on which 
the Statements of Accounts is signed by the responsible person. 

PPE – Property Plant & Equipment 

PRECEPT – The amount that the Council is required to collect from council tax payers to fund another, non tax collecting Authority’s expenditure.  Precepts are 
issued by Norfolk County Council, Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner, Breckland Council and Parish and Town Councils. 

PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE (PFI) – This is a procurement route established in 1995 and it is an important route for government spending on assets, as it 
transfers significant risks to the private sector.   

PROVISION - An amount set aside in the accounts and charged to individual services for liabilities that are likely to be incurred in the future but cannot be 
accurately quantified. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – Two or more parties are related when at any time during the financial period: 

• One party has direct or indirect control of the other party 

• The parties are subject to common control from the same source 

• One party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other party to an extent that the other party may be inhibited from pursuing its 
own interests 

The parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same source to such an extent that one of the parties to the transaction has subordinated 
its own interests. 

RELEVANCE – The information in the accounts is useful in assessing the Council’s stewardship of public funds and performance. 

RELIABILITY – The information in the accounts is complete, prudently prepared, reflects the substance of transactions and is free from deliberate or systematic 
bias or material error. 

RESERVE - An amount set aside in the accounts for defraying particular expenditure in the future. Unlike provisions, transfers to and from reserves are not 
shown as part of the individual service costs. 

REVENUE EXPENDITURE - The day-to-day running costs than an authority incurs in providing services (as opposed to capital expenditure). 

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT (RSG) - A general grant paid by the government and credited to the General fund to help finance local authority revenue 
expenditure. 

SERVICE REPORTING CODE OF PRACTICE (SeRCOP) – CIPFA guidance to establish proper practices with regard to consistent financial reporting for 
services. 

230



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

97 
 

Scope of Responsibilities 
Breckland Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. Breckland Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 
1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. In discharging this overall responsibility, Breckland Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the 
governance of its affairs, which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and include arrangements for the management of risk. 
Breckland Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. A copy of the code is on our website at: 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies- 
 
The CIPFA Financial Management Code requirements apply in full from April 2021, this Code sets out the standards of financial management for local authorities 
and is designed to support good practice in financial management and assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability.  The Council has 
reviewed the principles within this Code and demonstrated a good level of financial management in 2020-21, with 8 actions identified to help improve financial 
management throughout the organisation.  There is currently one action remaining outstanding which will be carried into 2022-23 for completion.  The 
assessment has been updated for 2021-22 and one further action has been identified. 
The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer 
in Local Government.  This statement explains how Breckland Council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 in relation to consideration of the findings of a review of the system of internal control and approval and publication of an annual governance 
statement.  
 
The purpose of the governance framework 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the authority is directed and controlled and its activities 
through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to 
consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure 
to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control 
is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Breckland’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  The governance 
framework has been in place at Breckland Council for the year ended 31st March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the statements of accounts. 
 
The governance framework 
Vision and Priorities - Our Vision - “Breckland: a place where people & business can thrive”.  To help us deliver this vision we have consulted widely with local 
people and our partners and listened carefully to what was said. The Corporate Plan 2021-25 reflects the priorities and high level outcomes for the Breckland 
area over a four year period and there is an annual cycle of review of the delivery plan which supports the corporate plan. The corporate plan was reviewed in 
2021 following the ending of our shared management arrangement and reflects the changing environment we operate in.  
 

231

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3461/Strategies-Plans-and-Policies-


ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

98 
 

Quality of Services - The Council has a Performance Management Framework which sets out how it monitors both performance and the delivery of objectives 
and risks. The framework was completely reviewed in 2021-22, underpinned by a new set of Key Performance Indicators.  
 
Operational Governance - The Council has produced an operational governance document whose purpose is to ensure that senior officers effectively manage 
the business of the Council; this document is reviewed regularly and was updated in 2021-22 to reflect the new Corporate Management Team (CMT) structure 
which took effect on 1 May 2021. It covers the role of CMT in managing the business of the Council and corporate level issues risks and decisions. There are 
four officer-led programme boards which report to the Corporate Management Team (CMT) as required, with each board reflecting one of the core themes and 
priorities of the Corporate Plan. A further Assurance Board requires Statutory Officers (Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer) to provide 
due diligence and ensure corporate performance, risk, HR and finance have appropriate and regular oversight.  For audit purposes this Board will ensure that 
the Council is operating in a legal and statutorily compliant manner. 
 
Constitution and Responsibilities - A comprehensive document setting out the Council’s constitution exists which sets out the clearly defined structure for 
the Council’s organisational and decision-making arrangements based upon a Cabinet/Executive model. In essence the different roles can be summarised as 
follows: 

o Council decides upon certain policies and other specialist functions that cannot be delegated elsewhere including the setting of the council tax. 
o A limited number of policies are reserved to the Council, either by the Council’s own choice or because they are allocated by law (together these are 

known as the Policy Framework). Subject to any specific legislative requirements, the Cabinet is responsible for all policies which are outside of the 
Policy Framework. 

o For its most significant decisions, the Cabinet works to a Key Decision Plan of forthcoming decisions for up to twelve months ahead. 
o All decisions, along with formal minutes of all committee meetings are published on the Council’s website. 
o The work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole is supported by an Overview and Scrutiny Commission and its task and finish groups. 
o The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has developed its own work programme for the review of Council services in addition to scrutinising the work 

of the Cabinet. It can ‘call-in’ a decision which has been made by the Executive but not yet implemented. 
o The Governance and Audit Committee is well established, and is responsible for the review of the work of the Internal and External Audit functions and 

provides independent assurance of the effectiveness of governance arrangements, risk management and financial management processes. It also has 
the responsibility for the approval of the Statements of Accounts and review of treasury policy and outturn and to deal with Standards (of elected 
member conduct). 

o Separate committees exist for Planning and Licensing. 
o Delegation arrangements to committees, the Executive and officers are set out in detail within the constitution. 
o Regular meetings take place between relevant senior officers and members of the Council to discuss and propose policy. 
o The General purposes Committee was re-established in January 2022, with a view to dealing with the majority of non-Executive decisions that are not 

either reserved for full Council or currently delegated to the Regulatory Committees, this includes decisions relating to staffing matters, training, health 
and safety, electoral matters plus other non- executive matters 

 
The constitution also includes sections on standing orders, financial regulations and conduct of meetings. The constitution as a whole is reviewed periodically 
with interim updates as and when appropriate. A complete review of the constitution was carried out in 2015-16 to ensure that it remains relevant and effective. 
Formal adoption of the revised constitution was made at Full Council in January 2016 and there is a standing item at Full Council for any minor updates to be 
made, to ensure it remains up to date and relevant. 

232



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

99 
 

Regulations to allow virtual meeting were introduced in early April 2020, following which all Council Meetings were held virtually via Zoom, these regulations 
ended on 6th May 2021 after which all meetings must continue on a face-to-face basis.  
 
During this period, a number of temporary amendments were made to the Council’s Constitution as well as additional temporary delegations to allow the Council 
to continue with its day-to-day business in a Covid compliant environment. 
 
Codes of Conduct - The Council’s constitution contains codes of conduct applying to members as well as a protocol for councillor/officer relationships. Officers 
are also subject to a separate Code of conduct. These have enabled the authority to develop an inclusive culture over the years, whereby members and officers 
work together to deliver the Council’s vision and quality services to its residents. The codes include reference to the need to declare any interests which may 
conflict with the individual’s role at the Council and such registers for councillors and officers are maintained by the Council. The Members Code of Conduct 
was last fully reviewed during 2016-17, and is currently being reviewed with a view to any amendments to the current code being in place in time for the local 
elections in May 2023. The Officers’ Code of Conduct was last reviewed in November 2021. 
 
Complaints - The Council has in place a whistle-blowing policy (reviewed February 2022) as well as a compliments and complaints procedure that ensure that 
any referrals are fully investigated, properly resolved and learning applied to service delivery. Systems and procedures have been enhanced to ensure that 
complaints/service requests are the cornerstone of the Council’s management approach.  
 
Policies, Procedures, Laws and Regulations - The Council’s statutory officers are the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer. They are responsible for ensuring that the Council acts within the law and in accordance with established policies and procedures. 
  

Head of Paid 
Service 

has responsibility for the discharge by the council of their functions and the appointment, proper management and organisation of the 
Council’s staff. 

Section 151 
Officer 

is specifically responsible for the proper discharge of financial arrangements and must advise the Council where any proposal might be 
unlawful or where expenditure is likely to exceed resources, and to ensure that the authority’s financial management arrangements 
conform to the governance requirements as set out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy statement on the Role 
of the Chief Financial Officer (2010). 

Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Council if any proposal, decision or omission is likely to give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration as 
well as investigating allegations that a member may have breached the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 
The statutory officers are also members of the authority’s Corporate Management Team and attend Corporate Management Team meetings on a regular basis. 
Service Managers are responsible for ensuring that legislation and policy relating to service delivery and health and safety are implemented in practice. 
 
The Council has in place a Counter Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy, a Whistleblowing Policy and a Money Laundering Policy (updated and approved by 
Governance and Audit Committee in February 2022) to protect against these risk areas.  The aim of these policies is to increase staff and Member awareness, 
create an environment which encourages and supports the prompt raising of suspicions or concerns, helps to minimise the likelihood of money laundering and 
corruption, supports our open and honest culture and fulfils our statutory, legal and regulatory duties.   
 

233



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

100 
 

Development and training needs – Breckland is a learning organisation, both in terms of members and officers. The training budget for staff is centralised 
under Human Resources and continues to deliver a programme to develop the skills of its workforce. Breckland is committed to investing in the staff and ensures 
that staff are valued and given the opportunities to develop and achieve their full potential.  
 
Breckland continue to deliver a training and development programme to provide members with the support and skills necessary to assist them in carrying out 
their duties. Personal development plans have been developed, setting out personalised training programmes to meet individual needs for members and 
officers.  
 
Risk Management – The Council’s risk management arrangements are embedded in its Corporate Risk Management Strategy and risk registers and a new 
Risk Policy was adopted during 2018 and the policy was extended in 2020 pending a further review in September 2021. Breckland has developed its 
performance system to maintain a register of the key strategic risks it considers it faces along with the actions planned or taken to mitigate these risks, which 
have been monitored by Performance, Risk and Audit Board, Corporate Management Team and the Governance and Audit Committee on a regular basis. Risk 
logs are also being used to manage the risks for key projects and partnerships, along with other project management techniques, and all key decisions are 
required to be assessed for risks. All committee reports contain a mandatory risk section to ensure that members can consider the risks and opportunities of 
any recommendations or options, so that the consideration of risk forms an integral part of all decision making.  
 
Data Protection – Following the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 and Data Protection Act 2018 our policies, 
practices and procedures have been updated and continue to be updated to reflect changes and guidance as it is issued.  Data Protection continues to be a 
priority and is being overseen by the Data Protection Officer, (the Information Governance Officer) and a corporate governance group; the Statutory Information 
Group.    
 
Business Continuity – The Council has developed business continuity plans to ensure that critical service delivery can be maintained or recovered during an 
emergency. 
 
Communication – The Council believes public understanding of its work, achievements and services, coupled with consultation with residents is key to 
maintaining high satisfaction levels. This is achieved through regular communications and consultation activity and upholding the Council's values of 
transparency and openness.  
Breckland regularly publishes information on its website and via a variety of social media channels. Various stakeholder groups are also reached through public 
meetings. The Communications Team also works with the local media to provide information to ensure residents are kept informed.  
 
Partnerships – The Council is involved with a variety of partnerships that have developed over the years and a partnership register is held on the Council’s 
performance system which includes public partners and organisations we work with. To ensure that governance and risk management arrangements are 
effective significant partnerships are continually reviewed through the performance system and risks are included within this review. A partnership framework 
has been adopted to ensure that we maintain a consistent approach when entering into any new partnerships.   
 
 
 
 

234



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

101 
 

Some examples of our public partners and organisations we work with are: 
o Norfolk Climate Change Partnership is a Norfolk wide partnership to help develop Norfolk into an exemplar in tackling climate change and protecting 

and enhancing its natural environment. 
o The Greater Thetford Development Partnership and the Attleborough Development Partnership are bodies which influence growth in and around the 

respective towns ensuring that houses, roads, schools, healthcare and other resources are available at the right time. 
o The New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership (NALEP) is intended to build growth and skills to the workforce through training and gives support to new 

businesses through providing infrastructure for growth. 
 
Some examples of our operational partnership arrangements for service delivery are: 

o The Norfolk Waste Partnership works to encourage more people to reduce reuse recycle and compost rubbish, working together to move away from 
the dependence on landfill towards more sustainable waste management.  

o The Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership (ARP) is governed by a Joint Committee and is underpinned by a formal legal agreement. The 
partnership consists of Breckland, East Cambridgeshire, East Suffolk, Fenland and West Suffolk district councils. The partnership delivers council tax, 
business rates, housing benefit, fraud and enforcement services for the five councils. 

o The Norfolk Internal Audit Consortium co-ordinates internal audit provision across 6 local authorities with a shared Head of Internal Audit, aiming to 
provide an efficient and cost effective service. 

o Our procurement partnership shares procurement services with South Norfolk, Broadland, South Holland and Great Yarmouth Councils, building a 
knowledgeable and resilient procurement team and aggregating spend to achieve savings. 

 
Group Companies – The Council has joint ownership of a company, Anglia Revenues Partnership Limited, which was formed in 2006 to deliver revenue and 
benefits and enforcement services to local authorities or housing associations and is under the joint ownership of the seven ARP partnership authorities in equal 
shareholdings and voting rights.  The company is currently dormant. 
In April 2015 the Council formed a company, Breckland Bridge Limited, with a private sector partner, Land Group LLP.  The vision of the Company is to “use 
Breckland Council’s property and land assets to make a positive contribution to the regeneration and economic development of the Breckland District”. The 
authority has a 50% shareholding in this company and control is shared on a 50/50 basis.   
  
Transparency – As a Council we want to be publicly accountable and present our work with openness and transparency. As such, the authority routinely 
publishes data on its website in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.  In addition Committee reports, minutes 
and decision records are all available on the website. The Council also applies the principle that everything is publicly available unless there is a substantial 
reason for not doing so. 
 
Review of effectiveness 
Breckland Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal 
control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment, the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review 
agencies and inspectorates.  
 

235



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

102 
 

Corporate 
Management  

CMT review corporate responsibility, direction and delivery of corporate plan, direction and delivery of resources, horizon scanning 
and key controls. CMT receives regular reports from a variety of governance boards (Assurance Board, Thriving Places Board, 
Breckland 2035 Board, Working Smarter Board and the Inspiring Communities Board). These boards cover performance and risk, 
employee relations, safeguarding, health and safety, emergency planning, and finance. There are a number of other groups covering 
cross cutting themes and specific services. 

Managers Carry out assessments of the processes and controls they have in place to allow them to achieve their service objectives, as part 
of their roles as managers.  

External Auditors review the Council’s arrangements for: 
o Preparing accounts in compliance with statutory and other relevant requirements 
o Ensuring the proper conduct of financial affairs and monitoring their adequacy and effectiveness in practice 
o Managing performance to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

Following the annual audit the external auditor issues an Audit Results Report to the Governance and Audit Committee covering 
the opinion on the financial statements and value for money. The Council takes appropriate action where improvements need to 
be made.  
The external auditors work closely with Internal Audit to allow them to place reliance on the work of Internal Audit. The external 
auditors are also able to undertake independent fraud reviews and will act on any reports to them from the public in the public 
interest. 

The Head of Internal 
Audit 

provides an independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, which is incorporated in the 
Annual Report and Opinion. 
Internal audit acts as an independent assurance function, providing both management and the Governance & Audit Committee with 
opinions on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, control and governance processes, supporting fraud 
prevention at the Council.  Internal audit also has a close working relationship with the Council’s external auditor to ensure they can 
place reliance on the work of Internal Audit.  Upon request and in the event of any irregularities Internal Audit can carry out special 
investigations or reviews as part of the Council’s counter fraud and corruption arrangements. 

ARP Fraud Team The Anglian Revenues Partnership (ARP) has safeguards and checks in place to prevent fraud entering the Benefits and 
Revenues systems. This comprises, for example, a Benefit Verification policy agreed by Members to utilise data share to achieve 
the dual aims of eliminating fraud and to improve the customer experience. 
The ARP Fraud and Compliance team work with County Council partners, DWP & DLUHC to perform checks to detect and where 
appropriate, sanction or prosecute fraudulent applications for Benefit, Council Tax discounts, Business Rates reliefs and tenancy 
applications, to ensure public money is correctly spent. In particular, the team have prevented significant abuse of Single Person 
Discount through regular data matching to identify discrepancies and tenancy fraud for subletting, right to buy and tenancy 
succession, thereby ensuring residents are correctly entitled to discounts and accommodation provided to those most in need. 

The Leader Executive powers vest in the Leader and the Leader has approved delegations to the Cabinet and Executive Members (Portfolio 
Holders).  The Leader exercises executive functions which have not been expressly delegated to Cabinet or the other Executive 
Members. 

The Executive consists of the Leader and Executive Members (Portfolio Holders), who together are the Cabinet and most day to day ‘executive’ 
decisions fall to the Executive under the law. 

236



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

103 
 

The Cabinet is appointed by the Leader and carries out the executive 
functions of the Council as required by legislation and the Council’s 
constitution and accordingly: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Commission may undertake any work 
relating to the four key principles of scrutiny as follows: 

o Hold the Executive to Account (Call-In) 
o Takes executive decisions o Performance Management 
o Approves policies other than those reserved for Council o Assist Policy Development and Review 
o Recommends to Council policies and budgetary decisions o Internal/External Scrutiny 

  
The Council approves and keeps under regular review all the strategic 
policies which it reserves for its own consideration, including: 

The Governance and Audit Committee 
o Considers and approves audit plans 

o The Constitution o Considers audit reports 
o The Corporate Plan  
o The Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy 

o Comments on the work of audit in addressing the authorities 
significant risks 

o The Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
o The Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
o The Treasury Management and Investment Strategies 

o Satisfies itself that the control and governance arrangements have 
operated effectively by considering audit and risk reports and 
undertaking ad hoc reviews 

o The Gambling Policy 
o Development Plan Documents 

o Annually self-assess themselves against best practice guidance to 
check their effectiveness 

 o Approves the Statements of Accounts 
 o Reviews treasury policy and performance 
 o Considers standards issues 

 
Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 
This report was presented to Governance and Audit Committee at the June 2022 meeting.  The report has concluded that, based on the work undertaken, the 
overall opinion in relation to the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and controls for the year ended 31st March 2022 is considered to be 
reasonable assurance (positive).   
 
Overall, in 2021-22 a total of 15 Internal Audit assurance audits have been carried out including those provided by the ARP audit arrangement.  A total of 14 
of these have resulted in a positive assurance grading.  No urgent priority recommendations have been raised in 2021-22 or remain overdue from historical 
limited assurance reports.  It is encouraging to note that of the 15 assurance audits completed within the year, 14 resulted in a positive assurance grading.  
Substantial assurance was concluded in the following five areas: Key controls & assurance, Income, Accountancy Services, Licensing and ARP Enforcement.   
A total of one assurance report, Private Sector Housing, has received a Limited assurance grading. A total of nine important and three needs attention 
recommendations have been raised for management consideration.  These recommendations include areas such as ensuring procedures and policies are in 
place, system set up changes to help prevent claims progressing until all fields are completed, recording and uploading evidence of eligibility for grants and 
the costs of works, clear budget management against the finance system and determining the best way of collating performance information. 
 
In providing the opinion the Council’s risk management framework and supporting processes, the relative materiality of the issues arising from the internal audit 
work during the year and management’s progress in addressing any control weaknesses identified therefrom have been taken into account.  The opinion has 
been discussed with the Section 151 Officer and members of the Corporate Management Team prior to publication. 

237



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

104 
 

 
We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework by the Governance and Audit 
Committee and that the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance framework.  Any areas to be specifically 
addressed with new actions are detailed within the Annual Report and Opinion which can be found on our website at  
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=4862&Ver=4 

The Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion (which can be viewed at the link above) provides full details relating to risks and control weaknesses that were 
identified during 2021-22 internal audit reports.  

Significant governance issues 
Covid-19 
Throughout 2021-22 senior staff have continued to meet regularly as CMT and as Gold when required, adapting and responding quickly to ensure critical 
services were maintained.  Key members of the management team continued to attend Norfolk groups such as SCG, TCG, Outbreak boards, Engagement 
boards and resilience and recovery groups.  The Gold group and sub cells work at both a Norfolk level and at a local level with the regularity of meetings 
adapted as required depending on the issues faced at the time.  By the end of the financial year Gold meetings were not being held as we moved into the next 
phase of ‘living with Covid’. 
 
Additional resources through our Covid support officers continued through to the end of March 2022 to support Covid related work such as; track & trace, 
general compliance in our towns, vaccination up take support, welfare calls, supporting the vulnerable to receive food and medicines whilst unable to leave their 
homes, domestic abuse support and support to food banks.   
 
We have adopted a permanent agile working approach for staff, although working from home was undertaken when mandated by the Government and our 
reception is open for face to face visits where required.  All Council services were delivered throughout the year without impact to our residents, we did not 
cease any services as a result of the pandemic.   
 
Shared Management 
In October 2020 a strategic review of the shared management structure between Breckland and South Holland Councils was commissioned.  Both councils 
have successfully developed and operated a shared management model for over 10 years which has been replicated across the Local Government sector, 
however during the Covid-19 pandemic there was a ‘temporary uncoupling’ of shared managers to enable each council to focus on their own ‘places’. 
 
As a result of this successful place-based working and the evolving needs to provide service to our residents to meet the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
Full Council approved in February 2021 that the existing shared management arrangements with South Holland would end with effect from May 2021.  Staff 
have been ‘landed’ in their new roles at either Breckland or South Holland Councils, there were no redundancies.  Some sharing of other services is continuing 
(such as legal and procurement) in the same manner as prior to May 2021.   
 
As a result of these changes, the internal governance arrangements were reviewed during the year and changes are reflected in this document. 
 

238

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=468&MId=4862&Ver=4


ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

105 
 

Certification 
We are satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place to address improvements identified in our review of effectiveness.  
 
 
To be signed following the audit      To be signed following the audit 
                   
                               
 
Chief Executive         Leader of the Council 
                                    
Dated:           Dated:  
 

239



Meeting Date Agenda Item Officer Responsible

28 July 2022

Planning Register & General Data Protection Regulations Director of Planning & Building Control, Simon Wood

Internal Audit Plan External Auditor

Annual Report on Write-offs over £10,000 Executive Director

Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2022-23 Executive Director

Un-audited Statement of Accounts 2021-22 Executive Director 

29 September 2022

Quarter 2 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

External audit plan for 2021/22 audit External Audit

15 December 2022

Quarter 3 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2022-23 Executive Director

09 February 2023

Accounting Policies 2022-23 Executive Director

Quarter 4 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Strategic & Annual Internal Audit Plans 2021/22 Head of Internal Audit

Self-Assessment of Governance & Audit Committee Head of Internal Audit

Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2023-24 Executive Director

Audited Statement of Accounts 2021/22 Executive Director

date tbc Standards Review - Code of Conduct Monitoring Officer

BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

240

A
genda Item

 13



date tbc Definition of Key Decision Figure Review Executive Director 

date tbc Standards update Monitoring Officer

241


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Internal Audit Plan - Year Ended 31 March 2022
	9 The Planning Register and Planning Website and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
	10 Annual report on write off's over £10,000
	11 Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix A for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix B for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix B1 for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix B2 for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix C for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix D for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23
	Appendix E for Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-23

	12 Un-audited statement of accounts 2021-22
	Appendix A for Un-audited statement of accounts 2021-22
	Our District
	Council Priorities, Corporate Plan and Performance
	Annual Governance Statement
	Revenue expenditure and income and the services provided
	Where the money came from
	How the money was spent
	The Government’s transparency agenda encourages local authorities to make public data openly available.  Details of transparency items such as the Council’s spend on items over £500, contracts and pay and benefits for senior officers can be found on o...
	And the services it provides
	Collection Fund financial performance
	o Pensions reserve               12,165
	o Revaluation reserve                 1,137
	o Collection Fund Adjustment Account               4,765
	o Other un-usable reserves    4,606
	o Usable reserves               (6,374)
	Pension Fund
	Achievements and Targets
	Current Economic Climate, Outlook and Risk
	The Statement of Accounts
	This narrative report provides a brief explanation of the Council’s overall financial position and some key messages and aims to assist the readers in the interpretation of the accounting statements.
	The Council’s Responsibilities
	The Assistant Director Finance’s Responsibilities
	Note 1 – Accounting Policies
	Note 2 – Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
	Note 5 – Movement in Reserves Statement - Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations
	Note 7 – Pensions
	Note 8 – Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
	Note 9 – Investment Property
	Note 10 – Long Term Debtors
	Note 11 – Short Term Investments
	These are surplus funds invested in approved investment instruments that mature within the coming twelve months. The figures below include accrued interest.
	Note 16 – Grant Income
	Note 17 – Usable Reserves
	Note 18 – Unusable Reserves
	Note 19 - Members’ Allowances
	Note 20 – Officers’ Remuneration
	Note 22 – Related Party Transactions
	Precepts paid to other authorities from Council Tax collected and other authorities retained share of National Non-Domestic Rates are detailed in the Collection Fund note.  The precept value paid to parish and town councils is included in the Brecklan...
	Note 23 – Leases
	Note 27 – Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
	In applying the accounting policies set out in note 1, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statements of Accounts are:
	Note 28 – Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
	Note 1 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
	Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) - Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 there is a requirement to set aside an amount from revenue, the MRP, for the repayment of external loans.


	13 Work Programme



